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CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ON THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ANNUAL REPORT
ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH

To the Board of Directors of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.

Auditor’s Report on the Board of Directors’ Annual Report

1. We have audited the annual report of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırim Ortakliği A.Ş. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 
to as the “Group”) for the period ended 31 December 2014.

Board of Directors’ responsibility for the Annual Report
2. Group’s management is responsible for the fair preparation of the annual report and its consistency with the stand-alone and 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Article 514 of Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) No. 6102 and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the annual report.

Independent Auditor’s Responsibility
3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırim Ortakliği A.Ş. and its subsidiaries’ annual report based on the 
independent audit conducted pursuant to Article 397 of TCC, whether or not the financial information included in this annual reports is 
consistent with Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırim Ortakliği A.Ş.’s stand-alone and consolidated financial statements that are subject to independent 
auditor’s report dated 20 February 2015 and presented fairly.

Our independent audit was conducted in accordance with Independent Auditing Standards that are part of the Turkish Standards on 
Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority. Those standards require that ethical requirements 
are complied with and that the independent audit is planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
information in the annual report is fairly presented and consistent with the stand-alone and consolidated financial statements.

An independent audit requires applying audit procedures to obtain audit evidence on the historical financial information. The procedures 
selected depend on the professional judgement of the independent auditor.

We believe that the independent audit evidences we have obtained during our independent audit, are sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Opinion

4. Based on our opinion, the financial information in the annual report of Board of Directors of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırim Ortakliği A.Ş. is 
consistent with the audited stand-alone and consolidated financial statements and presented fairly, in all material respects.

Other Responsibilities Arising From Regulatory Requirements

5. Pursuant to subparagraph 3 of Article 402 of the TCC No. 6102, within the context of ISA 570 “Going Concern”, we have not encountered 
any significant issue which we are required to be reported with regard to the inability of the Group to continue its operations for the 
foreseeable future. 

Başaran Nas Bağimsiz Denetim ve 
Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 
a member of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Engin Çubukçu, SMMM
Partner

Istanbul, 6 March 2015
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2014 ORDINARY GENERAL ASSEMBLY MEETING AGENDA 

2014 Ordinary General Assembly Meeting Agenda
 
1. Opening of the meeting and election of the Presidential Board of the General Assembly,
2. Reading and discussion of the Board of Directors’ Annual Report for 2014,
3. Reading of the 2014 Independent Auditors’ Report,
4. Reading, discussion and ratification of the 2014 Financial Statements,
5. Release of the Board Members with regard to the Company’s activities in 2014,
6. Determination of the dividend distribution policy and dividend payments,
7. Determination of remuneration for the Board Members and Independent Directors,
8. Selection and approval of the Independent Auditor selected by the Board of Directors, in accordance with the 

‘Communiqué Regarding Independent Auditing Standards in Capital Markets’, issued by the Capital Markets Board 
of Turkey and the Turkish Commercial Code; and in accordance with the ‘Communiqué Regarding Independent 
Auditing in Capital Markets’ issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey,

9. In accordance with the Corporate Governance Principles of the Capital Markets Board, informing shareholders 
with regard to such transactions in the event that shareholders who control the management, Board Members, 
executive managers, and their first and second degree relatives by blood or by marriage have carried out 
transactions that may result in conflict of interest, either with the Company or its subsidiaries, and/or have carried 
out transactions in the same line of business as the Company or its subsidiaries, by themselves or on behalf 
of others, or have become partners without limits of liability in a company that is engaged in the same line of 
business,

10. Granting permission and authority to the Board Members in accordance with articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code,

11. Informing shareholders about the charitable donations and social welfare made by our Company in 2014 as per 
Capital Markets legislation,

12. Presenting Company Disclosure Policy to the shareholders as per Capital Markets Board regulations,
13. Informing shareholders about warranties, pledges, mortgages and indemnities provided by the Company for the 

benefit of third parties, and about revenues and benefits generated in 2014, in accordance with article 12 of the 
Corporate Governance Principles,

14. Informing shareholders about the transactions made in 2014, in accordance with Article 37 of the ‘Communiqué 
on Principles Regarding Real Estate Investment Companies’ (Series III, No. 48.1) of the Capital Markets Board,

15. Presenting for the general assembly’s approval the amendment draft pertaining to amending Article 8, titled 
‘Capital and Shares’, to raise the Registered Capital Ceiling of the Company, subject to the Registered Capital 
System, and also amending Article 5 titled ‘Purpose and Scope of Activity of the Company’, Article 9 titled 
‘Privileged Securities’, Article 10 titled ‘Portfolio Management and Portfolio Restrictions’, Article 16 titled ‘Material 
Decisions’, Article 18 titled ‘Binding and Management of the Company’, Article 21 titled ‘Prohibitions Concerning 
Executives’, Article 23 titled ‘Auditor’, Article 25 titled ‘General Assembly Meetings’ and Article 28 ‘Appointment of 
Representative’.

Company Information
This Annual Report (‘Report’) herein is issued in accordance with the provision of Article 516 of the Turkish Code of 
Commerce, the provisions of ‘The Regulation Related to the Determination of the Minimum Content of Companies’ 
Annual Reports’, published by the Ministry of Customs and Trade in the Official Gazette dated 28.08.2012 and 
numbered 28395, provision of Article 8 of the ‘Communiqué on the Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital 
Markets’ numbered (II-14.1), and published by the Capital Markets Board, provisions of the related article of 
‘Corporate Governance Communiqué’ numbered (II-17.1), and provision of Article 39 of the ‘Communiqué on the 
Principles of Real Estate Investment Funds’ numbered (III-48.1), and the purpose of this Report is to evaluate the 
Company’s operating activities in the period 01.01.2014 – 12.31.2014, and to inform our investors.

Company Information

Company Information : Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.
Stock Exchange Traded : BIST
Ticker Symbol  : AKSGY
HQ Address  : Miralay Şefik Bey Sok. No: 11 Kat :5-6 34437 Gümüşsuyu, Beyoğlu, İstanbul/Türkiye
Web Site  : www.akisgyo.com
E-mail   : info@akisgyo.com
Trade Registry Date : 22.11.2005
Trade Registry Number : 570679
Tax Office and Number : Beyoğlu Vergi Dairesi, 028 041 4690
Phone No  : (212) 393 01 00 
Fax No   : (212) 393 01 02 
Mersis (Central 
Registration System) No : 0028041469000015
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2014

0.46

Current Ratio

Current Ratio (%)

Ratio for the Net Income of the Period (%)

Ratios 31 December 2014      31 December 2013

Current Ratio 0.46 0.21

Ratio of Shareholder’s Equity - Asset Total 61% 58%

Return on Equity (ROE) 52% 59%

Current Ratio 39% 25%

Ratio for the Net Income of the Period 64% 35%

2013

0.21

2013

25

2014

64

2013

35

39

2014

KEY FINANCIALSVISION, MISSION AND OBJECTIVES

Vision
Implementing distinguished projects in the real estate industry 
following the principle: “Each square meter of your life deserves 
more.”

Mission
Making real estate investments in keeping with the changing 
industry landscape and socio-economic developments.

Objectives
To undertake innovative, prestigious projects that add value to 
their environment and to strengthen the Company’s position in the 
real estate industry.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET SUMMARY 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

CURRENT ASSETS 89,789,799 88,678,431

Cash and Cash Equivalents 47,141,892 38,996,938
Trade Receivables  21,095,379 4,078,989
Other Receivables 1,794,588 2,087,752
Inventories  6,314,353 27,394,323
Prepaid Expenses 4,521,989 8,610,884
Assets Related to Current Income Tax - 55,274
Other Current Assets 8,921,598 7,454,271

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,262,169,535 1,166,112,872

Financial Investments 58,491,466 64,859,013
Trade Receivables 916,368 1,314,101
Inventories 240,726,573 244,632,159
Investment Properties 931,103,550 806,482,104
Tangible Assets 3,181,600 3,672,037
Intangible Assets 48,308 80,930
Prepaid Expenses 1,659,626 4,000,712
Other Non-current Assets 26,042,044 41,071,816

TOTAL ASSETS 1,351,959,334 1,254,791,303

LIABILITIES
SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES 196,098,942 430,054,239

Financial Liabilities 113,693,265 352,881,183
Short-term part of Long-term Liabilities 60,255,469 41,986,230
Trade Payables 15,610,231 16,389,321
Employee Benefit Related Liabilities 462,119 430,901
Other Payables 641,463 526,380
Deferred Taxation Liabilities 4,757,394 17,131,591
Short Term Provisions 662,111 631,559
Tax Liabilities for the current year profit 16,890 77,074

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 327,185,202 98,347,564
Long-term Payables 326,811,659 98,059,135
Long-term Provisions 373,543 288,429

EQUITY CAPITAL 828,675,190 726,389,500

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,351,959,334 1,254,791,303

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
“In spite of political and economic fluctuations across 
the world, we completed the year having attained our 
goals and consolidated our balance sheet. We draw 
our strength from our balanced management concept 
and financial approach, minimizing risks.”

Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu
Deputy General Manager for Finance

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT  31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Net Sales  91,584,244 70,957,837
Cost of Sales (-)  (44,051,449) (29,235,630)

Gross Profit from Commercial Activities  47,532,795 41,722,207

Operating Expenses  (12,213,452) (23,819,075)

MAIN ACTIVITY PROFIT  35,319,343 17,903,132

Income from Investment Activities  66,896,252 88,902,339
Expenses from Investment Activities (-)  (1,801,450) (14,143,472)

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES  100,414,145 92,661,999

Financial Income  56,303,606 21,823,515
Finance Expenses (-)  (97,998,457) (88,439,178)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS  58,719,294 26,046,336

Current Tax Expense  (85,278) (77,074)
Deferred Tax (Expense)/Income  - (929,684)

CURRENT PROFIT  58,634,016 25,039,578

2014

2013

91,584,244

70,957,837

Net Sales

2014

2013

58,634,016

25,039,578

Net Profit
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Capital Info

Registered Capital Ceiling TL 200,000,000.00 
Paid-in Capital                TL 200,000,000.00 

Shareholding Structure Number
Shareholder of Shares ( TL) Share Percentage

AKKÖK HOLDİNG A.Ş. 63,065,857.26 31.53%
ALİ RAİF DİNÇKÖK 40,910,343.60 20.45%
NİLÜFER DİNÇKÖK ÇİFTÇİ 25,741,468.71 12.87%
RAİF ALİ DİNÇKÖK 12,430,496.69 6.22%
OTHER 57,851,833.74 28.93%
TOTAL 200,000,000.00 100.00%

As of December 31, 2014, the paid-in capital amount is TL 200,000,000, and composed of 200,000,000 shares 
with a nominal value of TL 1 per share.

The share group representing the paid-in capital consists of Group A (Ali Raif Dinçkök and Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi), 
amounting to TL 19,422,649 in return for 19,422,649 shares, and Group B amounting to TL 180,577,351 in return 
for 180,577,351 shares. Group A shares are registered shares, and Group B shares are bearer shares. Transfer 
of registered shares cannot be restricted. Group A shares are entitled to nominate candidates in the election of 
members of the board of directors. Five members of the board of directors are elected by General Assembly, pro-
vided that such members are from among the candidates nominated by Group A shareholders by majority. 

CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDING 
STRUCTURE

“Not simply achieving, but achieving the best… As 
Akiş REIT, our goal is to redefine the standards in the 
industry and make a difference with our approach to 
quality. As we wrap up a year full of awards, we are 
happy to come one step closer to our goal.”
Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu
Member of the Board of Directors
Deputy General Manager of Sales and Marketing
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AKKÖK HOLDING IN BRIEF
Founded in 1952 by the late Raif Dinçkök, and with deep know-
how spanning 62 years, Akkök Holding ranks among the most 
well established industrial groups in Turkey. The Group conducts 
operations in the fields of chemicals, energy and real estate, 
with 17 commercial and industrial enterprises, one of which is 
overseas, and with 18 production plants. By closely following 
the trends in the world’s markets and in its operating industries, 
Akkök Holding aims to catch up with the global competition, and 
achieve world-class standards together with all the companies 
under its roof.

With an annual installed production capacity of 308,000 tons, 
Aksa is the only domestic acrylic fiber manufacturer in Turkey. 
The Company holds a 17% global market share in acrylic fiber 
production, and supplies the textile and industrial textile 
industries in more than 50 countries across five continents. 
In 2009, after improving its technology infrastructure, Aksa 
commenced production of carbon fiber, which is considered one 
of the most vital raw materials of the 21st century.

As of 2012, the Company started to carry out carbon fiber 
production under the roof of DowAksa İleri Kompozit 
Malzemeler Sanayi Limited, which was established as a 50:50 
joint venture with the Dow Chemical Company. With this joint 
venture, collaboration was initiated for the production and 
worldwide marketing of carbon fiber and carbon fiber based 
products. DowAksa mainly focuses on areas such as providing 
solutions for infrastructure development, reinforcing buildings 
for sturdiness and durability, boosting the energy generation of 
wind turbines, and reducing automobile fuel consumption. With 
its technical expertise and advanced production capabilities, the 
Company aims to provide innovative solutions to some of the 
most challenging problems, both in Turkey and the rest of the 
world.

Ak-Kim stands out as a model company in the chemicals industry 
with its world-class manufacturing facilities and an annual 
production capacity of 600,000 tons.

The Company’s product portfolio caters to diverse industrial 
groups, including textiles, metals, food, cleaning, water 
treatment, and the prevention of corrosion and crusting, as well 
as the paper, pharmaceutical and construction industries. Thanks 
to a rich product portfolio of more than 500 assorted chemicals, 
Ak-Kim continuously consolidates its competitive strength 
in international markets. The Company exports to about 55 
countries across five continents, and aims to reach a minimum 
turnover of USD 1 billion in 2023. It acquired Gizem Frit, one 
of the world’s biggest enamel and ceramic frit producers, 
opening upto a new market.With this acquisitionAk-Kim adds 
enamel and ceramic frit production, used in the coating of many 
products in our daily life such as white goods, kitchenware, 
ceramic, aluminum and glass bottles, to its product portfolio. 
Ak-Kim achieved another inorganic expansion in 2013 within the 
structure of Akferal, established along with Feralco, and acquired 
the water refining chemicals division of Dostel Group.

Akiș REIT, the real estate investment company operating under 
Akkök Group, continues to develop projects that help improve 
quality of life in the regions where it operates. The projects 
successfully managed by the Company include Akbatı Shopping 

and Lifestyle Centre, as well as Akasya Acıbadem, in which Akiş 
holds shares at a rate of 6.56%, and which was developed by SAF 
REIT. Moreover, street merchandising projects are developed on 
Bağdat Street as a new business model.

With their steadily improving structures, and activities that add 
value to society as a whole, SAF REIT and Akmerkez shopping 
mall also help reinforce Akkök Group’s reputation in the real 
estate industry. Akasya Acıbadem, opened in the first quarter of 
2014, bringing a breath of fresh air to the Anatolian Side, and 
the KidZania Children’s Republic is a vital social platform to teach 
children, while also entertaining them. 
One of the leading power generation companies in Turkey, 
Akenerji is a model for the sector, with 25 years of know-

how and leading investments. Akenerji, the 50/50 joint venture 
between one of Turkey’s leading industrial groups, the Akkök 
Group, and Europe’s leading power company, the ČEZ Group, is 
one of the biggest private sector power generation companies in 
Turkey, with a total installed capacity of 1292 MW. Standing out 
with its energy-related investments,particularly in renewables, 
Akenerji’s renewable energy capacity of 388 MW accounts for 
30% of its total installed capacity.

Project design works for Kemah Hydroelectric Power Plant, 
with an installed capacity of 198 MW, established in Erzincan, 
have beenfinalized. Erzin Natural Gas Combined Cycle Power 
Plant, with an installed capacity of 904 MW established in Hatay 
Erzin, was completed and activated during Q3 2014. The largest 
one-off investment by Akenerji, Erzin Natural Gas Combined 
Cycle Power Plant doubled Akenerji’s total generation capacity. 
Today, Akenerji efficiently manages an energy portfolio way 
above its generation capacity. In 2011, Akenerji headed for the 
global market, and commenced import and export activities. The 
company expands and maintains its operations in this area.

Sepaş Enerji, which develops and grows by the day as a new 
player in the electricity sales sector, serves under the AkCez joint 
venture established by Akkök Holding and ČEZ Group. Sakarya 
Elektrik Dağıtım A.Ş. (SEDAŞ) has been rendering its power 
distribution services successfully in Sakarya, Kocaeli, Bolu and 
Düzce, covering a total area of 19,421 square kilometers across 
4 provinces, 45 districts, 66 municipalities, 1,441 villages, and a 
population of 3,228,580. 

Akkök Group signed the United Nations Global Compact in 2007, 
and thus further strengthened the principles of openness and 
accountability that are adopted by all Group companies. In the 
Group’s relationships with all social stakeholders, particularly 
employees, customers, suppliers and shareholders, Akkök Group 
adheres to these two fundamental principles. In addition to 
fulfilling their financial obligations, all Group companies act as 
good corporate citizens, and strive to add value to society, the 
natural environment, and the economy as a whole in all their 
operations.

Akkök Group achieved a combined turnover amounting to USD 3 
billion in 2014, with its sterling employees numbering more than 
4,600. USD 407 million of this amount came from exports to 
more than 50 countries.

AKİŞ REIT IN BRIEF

Established within the structure of Akkök Group in 2005, 
Akiş REIT maintains its works to utilize the experience 
and expertise it has accumulated in the real estate sector, 
and which it has positioned among the group’s strategic 
business areas, in various projects.

Akiş REIT assumed the title of Real Estate Investment 
Trust on May 18, 2012 upon application to the Capital 
Markets Board. Subsequently Akiş REIT was listed on 
Borsa Istanbul on January 9, 2013. Akiş REIT aims to 
implement prestigious projects in the real estate industry, 
with the abiding principle that ‘Each square meter of 
your life deserves more.’

Following its significant achievement with Akbatı 
Shopping Mall and Residences opened in 2011, Akiş REIT 
signed off on another major project upon the completion 
of Akasya Acıbadem in 2014, in which it holds shares.

Bringing a new approach towards the real estate trusts 
in Turkey, Akiş REIT tended towards the street retail 
industry, with an alternative approach to shopping mall 
investments, and aims to bring about regular dividend 
income for its partners by means of leasing incomes, 
which it will scale up with these investments.

Within the scope of this strategy, Akiş REIT focuses on 
projects oriented towards street retail in Istanbul Bağdat 
Street, and it will soon develop sustainable projects 
reflecting its vision. Akiş REIT adopts a project approach 
with high quality standards, which will make its users 
feel special thanks to the living areas it offers, in line with 
the city’s texture. Akiş REIT supports this perspective by 
means of international standard architectural approaches 
to street retail.

Akiş REIT offers investors the opportunity to invest in 
the diverse areas of real estate via one company’s stock 
with an extensive and productive portfolio, comprised of 
shopping centers, residential units, land, and factories. 
Today, Akiş REIT has become one of the most influential 
players in the industry, with projects built at the right 
locations, at the right time, promoting new trends. The 
Company further aims to follow the trends of the ever-
evolving industry to make a name for itself in projects 
that will stand out in the real estate sector.

Akiş REIT aims to implement prestigious projects 
in the real estate industry, with the abiding 
principle that “Each square meter of your life 
deserves more.”
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MILESTONES

2005 
u Akkök Holding founded Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırımı  
 A.Ş. with the goal of developing and managing real  
 estate investments.

2007
u Garanti Koza Akiş Adi Ortaklığı was established and  
 the Akkoza Project was launched.
u The Company’s share capital was increased to TL 3  
 million.
u Akiş participated in SAF Gayrimenkul Geliştirme   
 İnşaat ve Ticaret A.Ş. with a share of 7%.

2008
u Shares of Akfil Holding A.Ş. were purchased.

2009
u Shares of Garanti Koza and Corio were acquired   
 in the Akkoza Project. The Company started the   
 construction of Akbatı Shopping Mall as the 100%  
 owner.

2011
u The Company’s share capital was increased by TL  
 80 million to TL 83 million.
u Akbatı Shopping Mall was opened.

2012
u Akbatı Residences were delivered to owners. The  
 title “Real Estate Investment Trust” was acquired 
 as a result of the application made to the Capital  
 Markets Board.
u The merger of Akiş REIT with Ak-Al by acquiring
 Ak-Al with all its assets and liabilities was approved
 by the two companies’ general assemblies.(The   
 Company became entitled to obtain Energy Identity  
 Certificate (Class B) with the Akbatı Project.)

2013
u Akiş REIT was listed on the Collective Products Market  
 at Borsa İstanbul on January 9, 2013. 
u All shares of Akfil Holding were sold on March 11,  
 2013.
u All shares in the Garanti Koza-Akiş Ordinary   
 Partnership were sold on March 11, 2013.
u Akbatı Shopping Mall and Akbatı Residences were  
 certified as “Good” according to BREEAM (Building  
 Research Establishment Environmental Assessment  
 Methodology).
u To expand its commercial real estate portfolio, Akiş  
 REIT has purchased 4 properties on Bağdat Street, one  
 of İstanbul’s most prominent retail areas, and entered  
 the high street retail industry.

2014
u Our street retail operations were accelerated. Project  
 design works were conducted for the old buildings  
 acquired in Bagdat Street and the commercial real  
 estates began to be developed. The project is   
 expected to be completed in early 2016. 
u The shopping center, with a rentable area of 80,000 
 square meters belonging to Akasya Acıbadem project, 
 which was developed by SAF REIT, a participation of  
 Akiş REIT, was put into operation on March 6, 2014.
u In 2014, Akbatı Shopping Mall won a total of 12 
 awards in national and international contests.
u Akiş REIT’s Corporate Governance Rating was 
 determined as 9.16.
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OUR AWARDS

2011
u The first project of Akiş REIT, 
Akbatı Residences was recognized 
by both the general public and the
competition jury, and won two 
awards in the “Smart Homes” 
category in “Turkey’s Most 
Successful Real Estate Investments” 
Contest.

2012
u Akbatı Shopping Mall 
was named the “Best Retail 
Development” and “Highly 
Commended in Mixed-Use Project” 
by the “European Property
Awards 2012.”

2012
u Akbatı Shopping Mall received 
the “Cleanest Shopping Center” 
award from “Cleaner Magazine’s 
Industrial Cleanliness Awards.”

2012
u The Akbatı Shopping Mall was a
finalist in the “Best Retail & Leisure
Development” category at the
“MAPIC Awards 2012.”

2012
u The corporate website of Akbatı
Shopping Mall was awarded the
Bronze Award in the “Consumer
Information” category at the
International “Horizon Interactive
Awards.”

2013
u The Akbatı Shopping Mall 
was awarded a Platinum Award 
in the “Community Relations” 
category at the “Hermes Creative 
Awards.”

2013
u The Akbatı Shopping Mall was awarded two 
Bronze Awards in the categories of “Communication/ 
PR Campaign of the Year-Social Media Focused-
Europe” and “Communication/PR Campaign of the
Year-Community Relations-Europe” at the “Stevie 
Awards.”

2013
u The Akbatı Shopping Mall was
awarded the First Place Award
in the “Retail-Built” category
at the “Cityscape Awards for 
Emerging Markets 2013.”

2013
u Akbatı Shopping Mall and Akbatı 
Residences, were certified as “Good” 
according to the environmental 
sustainability assessment method 
BREEAM (Building Research 
Establishment Environmental 
Assessment Methodology), the leading 
sustainability assessment method.

2013
u The Akbatı Shopping Mall was awarded three Platinum 
Awards in the categories of “Community/PR/Special
Event,” “Community/PR/Public Relations Program” and 
“Community/PR/Corporate Social Responsibility”;
and a Gold Award in the “Community/PR/Special Event” 
category at the “Marcom Awards 2013.”

2014
u Akbatı Shopping Mall won the Platinum award in 
the “Special Event” and “PR Campaign” categories in the 
Hermes Creative Awards.

2014
u Akbatı Shopping Mall won an award in the IPRA 
Golden Awards in the “Community Relations” category.

2014
u Akbatı Shopping Mall won two Bronze awards in the 
Stevie Awards, in the “Communications or PR Campaign 
of the Year” category.

2014
u Akbatı Shopping Mall won three Platinum awards in 
the “Corporate Social Responsibility”, “Communication 
Program” and “Public Relations” categories. It won 
one Gold award in the “Special Event” category. It also 
received an Honorable Mention award in the “Social 
Responsibility”, “Social Media” and “Public Relations” 
categories.
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“We have passed a year when we closely evaluated the 
risks and opportunities in the economy and the sector, 
and continued to grow. We will continue to stand out in 
the sector in the next year with the same determination 
and energy.”
Mehmet Ali Berkman
Chairman of the Board of Directors

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

While closing a year in which growth and employment 
difficulties emerged in the world economy, the main 
international corporations are maintaining their cautious 
attitude in 2015 as well, due to financial risks and 
regional conflicts. The Eurozone, which missed out on 
its targeted recovery in 2014, and the USA, which closed 
the year with “positive” growth and unemployment data, 
will be the determinant factors for the global economy in 
2015.

The FED’s interest rate hike decision, which may start in 
the second half of 2015, will affect the Turkish economy 
acutely, just like all other developing countries. In spite 
of the ongoing uncertainties related to the normalization 
process of global fiscal policies, we must keep relying on 
the robust dynamics of the Turkish economy.

Turkish Economy In 2015

We expect no change in fundamental economic policies, 
due to the fact that 2015 is an election year in Turkey. 
However, we expect significant recovery in the economy 
in the post-election period. Moreover, we see that 
ensuring permanent recovery in inflation, and attaining 
the growth targets announced in the medium term plan, 
are priorities for the economy.

Real estate sector builds the future  

The Real Estate sector, which is sensitive to global 
financial markets and domestic economic policies, may 
occasionally experience ups and downs, in parallel with 
the internal and external conjuncture. However the hike 
in average household income, and shining out of the 
real estate sector as a key investment instrument, will 
continue to provide a positive contribution to the sector’s 
growth figures.

Upon the approval of the urban renewal law in 2012, 
and partial elimination of the uncertainties pertaining 
to the VAT rate applicable on house sales, a significant 
leap was observed in the sector in 2013. While the 
real estate sector held a relatively moderate course 
in 2014, it is expected that the sector will accelerate 
growth, especially after the second half of 2015, once 
implementation problems are eliminated in urban 
renewal law, and with the new zoning plan on the 
agenda.

The foreign exchange fluctuations throughout the year 
greatly pressured Shopping Mall leases collected in 
foreign exchange. On the other hand, according to the 
Shopping Mall index announced by the Shopping Malls 
and Investors Union, the turnover index achieved an 
annual rise of 8.1% in 2014, and expenditure per capita 
reached its highest value, at TL 39, since 2009, the 
commencement of the index. Strong demand towards 
retail eases the pressure exerted by exchange rates. 

New strategic moves in line with the growth 
strategy 

Akkök Group consistently maintains its investments in 
the real estate sector, which it has positioned among the 
strategic business areas through Akiş REIT. Becoming one 
of Borsa Istanbul’s most privileged real estate trusts, Akiş 
REIT rapidly reached an asset size of TL 1.35 billion, and 
equity size of TL 828 million. In addition to 14% growth 
in equities in 2014, Akiş REIT left a successful year behind 
with a profit of TL 58 million.

As observed in the world’s successful real estate trust 
models, providing regular and sustainable dividends 
for the partners is a significant goal for Akiş REIT. It is of 
crucial importance to invest in areas that create regular 
revenue in the real estate market, and thus sustain 
growth in line with this goal. Akiş REIT will determine its 
investment strategy accordingly in the upcoming period.

Growing and developing, Akiş REIT registered its 
investor friendly professional management notion by 
means of the corporate governance rating obtained in 
2014. The Company’s corporate governance rating was 
determined as 9.16 out of 10 by an independent rating 
institution. With this rating, Akiş REIT once again signaled 
its difference in corporate structure and transparency 
among the companies operating in the real estate sector 
in Turkey.

Hoping to sign off on greater achievements with Akiş 
REIT…

Mehmet Ali Berkman
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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“Opting to specialize in ‘Creating New Living Areas’, 
Akiş REIT signed off on investments that would 
standout in 2014 as well, thanks to its high brand 
value and sustainable projects.”

İ. Gökşin Durusoy
Member of the Board of Directors and General Manager

MESSAGE FROM THE GENERAL MANAGER

Akiş REIT kept making strong leaps in 2014 through its 
expertise in developing “living centers”, and completed 
the year by signing off on sustainable projects, even in 
the face of global economic stagnation, as well as the 
volatility in the Turkish market.

Standing out in the real estate sector with its corporate 
structure, Akiş REIT’s corporate governance concept was 
registered with the corporate governance rating work in 
2014, and the Company’s Corporate Governance rating 
was determined as 9.16 out of 10.

In 2014, Akiş REIT raised its capital from TL 128 million to 
TL 200 million, strengthened its equities, and converted 
its debts to long term project financing by restructuring. 
Closing 2014 with a more robust balance sheet structure, 
Akiş REIT has passed a significant year for the company’s 
strategy, based on profitable growth in the upcoming 
periods.

Akbatı Shopping Mall, which holds a key place in Akiş 
REIT’s portfolio, and has closed its third year, has 
crowned its successful performance with 12 awards won 
in the sector’s prominent national and international 
contests. Akbatı Shopping Mall has posted total retail 
turnover growth of over 20% each year since its opening, 
and it strengthened its position further in 2014 as a 
regional center of attraction. Despite the fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates, the synergy it captured with its 
lessees helped Akbatı Shopping Mall to enter 2015 with 
hope and high achievements.

Akiş REIT signed off on another significant project with 
the opening of Akasya Acıbadem, in which it participated 
as a partner, and the Company continued investments 
that it commenced for portfolio diversity, covering major 
ground in street retail investment.

Akiş REIT’s signature on Bağdat Street

Akiş REIT developed four different projects on Bağdat 
Street, covering a construction area of almost 30,000 
square meters, and it also provided project financing for 
these investments in 2014. While the total investment 
amount for the projects was expected to reach USD 190 
million, after the sales of the houses within the project, 
an annual lease income of USD 15 million is targeted as 
of 2017 from the commercial units.

Right timing, right location

Akiş REIT will maximize the right opportunities at the 
right time in 2015, and will focus on the upper segment 
in line with its target market, especially in Istanbul where 
urban renewal is accelerated. In 2015, Akiş REIT will 
continue to effectuate projects which add value to our 
country and real estate sector, through Akkök Holding 
and business partners’ synergy.

On this occasion, I extend my gratitude to all our 
employees and shareholders who have contributed to 
our achievements. I believe that Akiş REIT’s successful 
performance will continue to be a model for the sector in 
the upcoming period.

İ. Gökşin Durusoy
Member of the Board of Directors and General Manager
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While foreign investments were limited in 2014, it 
was seen that local investors were active in project 
development and purchasing.

2014 house sales were above expectations, and new 
house sales grew by 2.3%. (Source: 2014 Turkish 
Construction Sector Report)

The hot topic of the year was whether or not there is 
a housing bubble. As an active player in the sector, we 
believe that there has been no over pricing in the housing 
sector in Turkey, and that price dynamics progress in 
parallel with macro-economic factors such as inflation and 
interest rates.

Turkey’s growth performance and Shopping Mall Index 
results displayed a positive outlook in terms of retail 
demand. Many foreign brands entered the Turkish 
market. While there is no major development on the 
Shopping Mall side in terms of mergers and acquisitions, 
street retail became more active. We expect that Turkey’s 
strong population structure and the projected hike in 
purchasing power will boost retail demand expectations 
in the medium and long term.

Moreover, it is seen that the Turkish real estate sector has 
started to deal with new investment channels. Dormitory 
investments and large hospital projects are the latest 
focus of interest of the real estate sector.

Developments in the Real Estate Sector 
2014 ACTIVITIES
Developments in the Real Estate Sector 

2014 house sales were above expectations, and new house 
sales grew by 2.3%.
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The focal point of 2014 was the completion of the 
purchases made in high street retail and development of 
real estates. The financial indicators also show positive 
developments.

One of the major developments of 2014 was the 
capital increase from TL 128 million to TL 200 million. 
Shareholder equity was consolidated with the capital 
increase through rights issues amounting to TL 50 million, 
and through bonus issues worth TL 22 million.

Short-term debts used for the financing of the 
investments made in Bağdat Street were converted into 
long-term loans with project financing, and they made 
a huge contribution to the enhancement of the current 
ratio.

A site covering an area of 47,000 square meters, and the 
buildings on the site, located in Yalova province, Çiftlikköy 
district, was sold to Akkim Kimya Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.

Works were maintained in 2014 to ensure compliance 
with legal regulations, and to strengthen the corporate 
governance structure. The Corporate Governance 
Rating was conducted in November, and the Company’s 
Corporate Governance Rating was determined as 9.16 
out of 10 by an independent rating corporation. With 
this rating, Akiş REIT once again set forth its difference 
in corporate structure and transparency among the 
companies operating in the Turkish real estate sector.

As of its opening in September 2011, the number of 
visitors and retail turnover of Akbatı Shopping Mall 
climbed steadily, and it reached a key position within 
the region it operates in. Akbatı Shopping Mall had a 
very successful year owing to its proactive management 
concept and lessees’ contributions. In 2014, Akbatı 
Shopping Mall attained significant retail turnover growth 
of over 20%, way above the Shopping Center Investors 
Association Index. It continued to win various awards in 
the domestic and international arena.

Attaining a different position among real estate 
investment trusts, Akiş REIT will continue to make 
investments in alternative areas such as high street retail, 
and to be innovative in the sector.

Developments Pertaining to Akiş REIT 

2014 ACTIVITIES
Developments Pertaining to Akiş REIT 

In 2014, Akbatı Shopping Mall attained significant 
retail turnover growth of over 20%, way above 
the Shopping Center Investors Association Index. It 
has been continuing to win various awards in the 
Domestic and International arena.
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With its shares wholly owned by Akiş REIT, the Akbatı 
Project was developed in Esenyurt, İstanbul with an 
investment of approximately USD 250 million.

Akbatı is designed as a lifestyle center comprised of a 
shopping center and residences that carry the concepts 
of quality and comfort to the highest levels. Spread on a 
total construction area of 242,000 square meters, Akbatı 
Shopping Mall accommodates about 200 stores, nine 
movie theaters, restaurants offering cuisines from around 
the world, playgrounds and sports fields, and a Festival 
Park with a 5,000 person capacity on a net leasable area 
of 65,496 square meters. One of the main transit points 
in Akbatı Shopping Mall, Restaurants Avenue is a major 
meeting point with its elegant cafés and restaurants 
selected among the top brands. The project which 
accommodates the Shopping Mall on four levels, and 
offers 350 residential units ranging from 1+1 to 4.5+1, as 
well as lofts, apartments with terraces, penthouses and 
duplex units in the 21-story Blue Tower and the 11-story 
Green Tower. Investments totaling more than USD 250 
million were made within the Akbatı Project. Life at 

Akbatı Residences began in 2012. Akbatı Shopping Mall 
has welcomed visitors since its opening in September 
2011.

In the past three years, Akbatı Shopping Mall organized 
435 children’s festivals, 193 cookery workshops, 276 yoga 
and Pilates courses, 78 special interviews, 12 autograph 
sessions, 7 exhibitions, 14 concerts, 4 theater plays, 5 
foreign licensed special activities, and 15 large concerts 
and countless music concerts, all free of charge. The 20% 
hike in turnover and the international awards it received 
demonstrate that Akbatı Shopping Mall has attained the 
targeted success. 

An international jury described Akbatı Shopping Mall as 
a, “Perfectly designed and implemented project, which 
meets the market competition and expectations”, during 
the Cityscape Awards ceremony, where the prominent 
players of the sector came together.

With environmentally friendly applications that prioritize 
energy efficiency, the Akbatı Shopping Mall and Akbatı 
Residences have been certified as “good” according to 
the environmental sustainability assessment method 
BREEAM (Building Research Establishment Environmental 
Assessment Methodology). At the conclusion of the 
process, where buildings are assessed according to 
criteria such as correct use of resources, internal design 
and health and safety standards, Akbatı’s sustainable
applications were once again certified.

Akbatı Shopping Mall and Residences

PROJECTS AND PORTFOLIO
Investment Properties

“We bring to Bağdat Street the synergy that we have 
generated with our lessees in the Akbatı and Akasya 
projects, with major brands. We take to the road to 
add value to Bağdat Street with Akiş GYO’s signature.”

Hakan Biçen
Deputy General Manager - Leasing

Akbatı Shopping Mall retail 
turnovers grew by 20% in 
2014.20%
growth 
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Çerkezköy

With 90,965 square meters of closed construction area 
on a 377,004 square meter tract in Çerkezköy, Tekirdağ, 
the factory comprises an administrative building and 
social facilities. The majority of the facility is currently 
being rented by Altınyıldız and is being used as a textiles 
and ready-made clothing factory.

The property is located in the Çerkezköy Organized 
Industrial Zone, one of the country’s largest and
most developed industrial zones, and has great potential 
due to its location, completed infrastructure and
accessibility.

construction area

90,965m2

Bozüyük

Located in the town of Bozüyük in the city of Bilecik, 
on a 63,812 square meter tract, of which 22,426 square
meters are closed construction space, the property 
consists of a factory and empty city block. The
facilities are currently being used by Ersur Tekstil San. 
ve Tic. Ltd. Şti.

construction area

22,426m2

Tekstilkent

This is a three-story complex located on the first floor, 
number 31 of the A-3 Block of the Tekstilkent Trade 
Center in the Esenler district of İstanbul.

Üsküdar/Çamlıca Site

The tract is located in the Kısıklı neighborhood of 
Üsküdar, Istanbul. City block no. 2,773 Parcel 2 of 19,340 
square meters, city block no. 2,774 Parcel 2 of 9,653 
square meters, and city block no. 804 Parcel 57 of 525 
square meters are zoned land that belong to Akiş REIT.

Bağdat Street City Block no. 3206 Parcel 14 

The Uşaklıgil building with city block no. 3,206 Parcel 14, 
located in Bağdat Street, was demolished and converted 
into a site, and a leasing agreement was executed with 
Beymen Mağazacılık A.Ş. for commercial real estate to be 
developed in this location.

Yalova

Located in an area with medium and large-scale 
industrial plants, this property overlooks the Yalova-İzmit 
highway.

The property consists of a building complex with 48,673 
square meters of closed construction space, on a 99,416 
square meters tract in the town of Çiftlikköy, in the city 
of Yalova. Additional structures like water treatment 
facilities, and waste and ordinary use water tanks are 
also located on the property. Currently, the company 
Ersur rents this property. 

construction area

48,673m2
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Making strategic investment decisions based on projected
industry demand, the Company has invested in a number
of properties on Bağdat Street, one of İstanbul’s most
prominent streets, in the districts of Şaşkınbakkal, 
Caddebostan, Suadiye and Çatalçeşme, to expand its 
commercial real estate portfolio.

Akiş REIT plans to be actively involved in commercial
property development; both because shopping center
investments have reached higher levels and for strategic
reasons such as portfolio diversification. The Company
expects to generate regular rental income from the
commercial units and sales income from the limited
number of residential units to be developed.

Commercial real estates will be developed in sizes 
ranging between 900 and 2,800 square meters. The 
total construction area of our 4 investments located in 
Bağdat Street is expected to be 29,000 square meters. It 
is estimated that the total rentable area of these projects 
will be approximately 15,000 square meters. While 
the real estates will be designed according to the retail 
sector’s needs, they will also contribute to Bağdat Street’s 
prestige.

Subsequent to signing an agreement with Beymen 
Mağazacılık A.Ş. for the real estate located in Bağdat 
Street, with city block no. 3206 Parcel 14, the said real 
estate was removed from the stock and transferred to 
commercial real estates.

High Street Retail
STOCK REAL ESTATES
High Street Retail
Akbatı Residences
Akbatı White Tower
Akkoza Residences

Commercial real estates will be developed in sizes ranging 
between 900 and 2,800 square meters.
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Akbatı Residences

There are 350 residential units ranging from 1+1 to 4.5+1, as well as lofts, apartments with terraces, penthouses and
duplex units at the 21-story Blue Tower and the 11-story Green Tower, both above the Akbatı Shopping Mall. Life at
Akbatı Residences began in 2012. The Akbatı Residences project is comprised of the remaining 6 apartments.

Akbatı White Tower

The sale of all residential units belonging to Akiş REIT is
complete at the Akbatı White Tower, which is located on a
3,000 square meter tract in close proximity to the Akbatı
Shopping Mall in Esenyurt. The deeds for the apartments 
began to be handed over in 2014 as planned.

Akkoza Residences

These comprise the remaining ten residential units within 
the scope of the Akkoza Project.

Akbatı Shopping Mall and Residences offer 350 residential units, 
ranging from 1+1 to 4.5+1, as well as lofts, apartments with 
terraces, penthouses and duplex units in the 21-story Blue Tower 
and the 11-story Green Tower.

The Akasya Project was developed on a tract of 121,000 square 
meters by SAF REIT A.Ş., a participation of Akiş REIT.

Akasya New Generation Life Complex
Akasya Acıbadem

The Akasya Project was developed on a tract of 
121,000 square meters by SAF REIT A.Ş. in Acıbadem, a 
participation of Akiş REIT. Comprising 1,357 residences 
and a shopping center, with a rentable area of 80,000 
square meters, the project has three phases; the Grove, 
Lake and Urban. The Grove and Lake Phases were 
opened in 2012, and handovers for the Urban Phase 
were completed. Part of the Urban Phase, the Akasya 
Acıbadem Shopping Mall, will have around 250 stores, 
and began operating on March 6, 2014.

Providing an enjoyable shopping experience, a wide 
variety of social activities, and easy access, Akasya 
Acıbadem is the most remarkable living complex on the 
Asian side, as well as in Istanbul, with a harmonious blend 
of green space and lakes that encourage residents to 
enjoy nature, and open-air squares designed to promote 
quality of life.

Due to its use of resources, solutions provided for local 
issues, prioritization of air quality and health standards, 
and the systems used in the building to reduce long-
term effects on the environment, the Akasya Acıbadem 
Residence Project was certified in 2013, in accordance 
with the BREEAM (Building Research Establishment 
Environmental Assessment Methodology).

OTHER PROJECTS DEVELOPED UNDER PARTNERSHIPS
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INFORMATION ON PORTFOLIO ASSETS 
AND SUMMARY OF APPRAISAL REPORT

SUBSIDIARIES

Akış̇ Reit Summary List of Investment Propertie Akis REIT Subsidiaries list

AKİŞ REIT SUMMARY LIST OF INVENTORY

With a broad and diversified portfolio structure, 
Akiş REIT provides investors with opportunities to 
invest in varied areas of real estate.

Akiş REIT has three subsidiaries in which the
Company holds shares. The participation rates and
capital amounts for the subsidiaries are as follows:

Property  Current Value(TL)  Report Nr.  Valuation Company  Report Date

Akbatı AVYM 627,680,000 2014/3156  Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. 12.31.2014
Üsküdar Çamlıca Arsası 52,460,000 2014/3159  Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. 12.31.2014
Çerkezköy Arsa ve Tesis 90,500,000 2014/3164 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. 12.31.2014
Tekstilkent Dükkan 310,000 2014/3165 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. 12.31.2014
Bozüyük Parsel 110,000 2014/3163 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. 12.31.2014
Bozüyük Tesis 9,950,000 2014/3162 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. 12.31.2014
Yalova (1125 ve 1145) 16,200,000 2014/3161 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. 12.31.2014
Yalova (151/1) 21,650,000 2014/2825 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. 12.31.2014
Bulgaristan Arsaları 4,343,550 2014/3170 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. 12.31.2014
Bağdat Caddesi 
   No: 481 Uşaklıgil Apt. 107,900,000 2014/3168 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. 12.31.2014
Total 931,10,550

 Participation Participation
Name of  Amount of Rate of 
Participation Company (TL)  Company (TL) Area of Operations

SAF GYO A.Ş. 58,142,186 6.56% Real Estate Investment and Development
Ak Yön Yönetim ve 
   Bakım Hizmetleri A.Ş. 419,474 99.99% Maintenance, service and Management
Aksu Real Estate EAD.  4,359,753 100% Real Estate Investment
Total 62,921,413

Moreover, Akiş REIT holds total shares amounting to TL 349,280 in Türkiye Vakıflar Bankası A.Ş. and Türkiye Sınai 
Kalkınma Bankası A.Ş.

Property Inventory Value (TL) Report Nr. Report Date

Erenköy 175,240,443 Audited Financial Statements 12.31.2014
Çiftehavuzlar 41,165,076 Audited Financial Statements 12.31.2014
Ak Building 24,321,054 Audited Financial Statements 12.31.2014
White Tower Project 3,317,979 Audited Financial Statements 12.31.2014
Akkoza Project 2,108,547 Audited Financial Statements 12.31.2014
Akbatı Project 887,827 Audited Financial Statements 12.31.2014
Total 247,040,926
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Ak Yön was registered and founded on August 12, 2011 
in İstanbul. The company’s primary operating area
includes providing all kinds of services and support to
ensure the appropriate utilization of the properties, such
as residences, mass housing, modern housing units,
shopping centers, commercial and business centers;
hotels, motels, resorts, all types of tourism facilities, 

social facilities, tourism, sports, training and cultural 
facilities, movie and theater halls, hospitals and nursing 
homes in which it has undertaken the maintenance and 
utilities, as well as management responsibilities; and 
further taking the measures for preserving, and providing 
supervision and management services.

Akiş REIT holds a 6.56% stake in SAF Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.

The residences within the scope of the project were completed, and the shopping mall opened its doors as of 
March 2014.

Akiş REIT holds a 6.56% stake in SAF REIT, whose
paid-in capital reached TL 886,601,669 after the
merger.

SAF GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. AK YÖN YÖNETİM VE BAKIM HİZMETLERİ A.Ş.

R&D ACTIVITIES

As a result of being a real estate investment trust, Akiş REIT does not conduct R&D activities. Market research
and other required analyses are conducted through firms that provide professional consultancy.

Market research and other required analyses are conducted 
through firms that provide professional consultancy.
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Human Resources

Environment

At Akiş REIT, when we create and implement human 
resources practices, our starting point is to take 
Group HR Strategies, Business Ethics Principles, 
Applicable Laws, and the “Global Compact” into 
consideration.

Sustainable growth and social responsibility play 
significant roles in defining the roadmap of Akkök Group. 
In this respect, Akkök Group has taken the first step in 
bringing its social responsibility approach to universal 
standards by signing the Global Compact of the United 
Nations in 2007.

Akkök Group, the parent company of Akiş REIT, 
has published a Sustainability Report that includes 
information and data regarding undertakings in the 
areas of environment, human resources and social 
responsibility throughout 2012. Works still continue 
pertaining to the second report covering the period 2013 
– 2014, and will be published in 2015.

Our purpose

Our aim is to create and implement parallel approaches 
to those of the Akkök Group in human resources 
processes, in support of employees’ development and 
loyalty, to create sustainable value.

At Akiş REIT, when we create and implement human 
resources practices, our starting point is to take Group HR 
Strategies, Business Ethics Principles, Applicable Law, and 
the “Global Compact” into consideration.

The Akbatı Shopping Mall and Akbatı Residences, projects
of Akiş REIT, have been certified as “Good” according
to the environmental sustainability assessment method
BREEAM (Building Research Establishment Environmental
Assessment Methodology) in 2013. The method 
prioritizes energy efficiency and environmental impact. 
At the end of the process, which assesses buildings 
according to criteria such as best use of resources, 
internal design and health standards, Akbatı’s sustainable 
applications have been once again certified.
 
In addition, according to the “Energy Performance in
Buildings Regulations,” Akiş REIT, prioritizing energy
efficiency in every stage of its projects, has been awarded
a class-B “Energy License” for the Akbatı Shopping Mall
and the Akbatı Residences for its effective and efficient
use of energy and energy resources and for preventing
excessive energy consumption and protecting the
environment.

In order to reduce energy consumption, poorly efficient 
fluorescent lights used on the car park floor were 
changed for high-efficiency LED lights in 2014. It is 
targeted that this implementation will be expanded to all 
sections of the shopping center in the upcoming period.
 
Rainwater accumulating on the roofs is stored and used 
for watering in summer time, to save water.

Negative ion generators are used to enhance the air 
quality in the shopping center.

Many projects are under evaluation, to be implemented 
in the upcoming periods to reduce energy and water 
consumption and carbon emissions.

FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES

We adopt the applicable legislation, regulatory 
requirements, principles and business ethics principles in 
our human resources practices, and we act accordingly.

All our human resources policies are in line with and 
support the business strategies of Akiş REIT. In designing 
human resources systems, we not only take the current 
organizational needs into account, but also future needs 
in accordance with the Company’s strategies.

All human resources processes are in accordance with 
human rights and should promote human rights. These 
principles require non-discriminatory practices, and 
provision of equal opportunities within the Company.

The fundamental principles of all our human resources 
practices are fairness, consistency and reliability.

We focus on creating a ‘win-win’ situation between 
the Company and employees in all human resources 
applications.

In order to enhance our human resources standards, we 
systematically and periodically review these applications 

with various tools, including self-assessment, and we 
adjust our human resources practices in accordance with 
developments in the field and the feedback we receive.

Our approach to employees’ personal information values 
personal dignity, and thus our priority is to protect 
personal information and maintain confidentiality. In the 
recruitment process, the employee accepts that their 
personal information may be shared with Akkök Group. 
Employee information is not shared with any parties 
other than the judicial authorities or public institutions, 
if demanded by them, pursuant to the related articles of 
the applicable laws.

Implementation and healthy conduct of the HR policies 
and practices are the responsibility of all Company 
executives, with HR’s support. According to our 
leadership perspective, Executives should be aware of 
their positions in HR processes, and assume responsibility 
for employees.

Our HR system and practices are in line with Akkök Group 
HR policies and practices.

SUSTAINABILITY

The Akbatı Shopping Mall and Akbatı Residences
have been certified as “Good” according to the
sustainability assessment method BREEAM.
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY OF AKKÖK HOLDING 

Occupational Health and Safety (OHS)

As of 2014 year-end, Akiş REIT’s headcount stood at 
24. The Company’s workforce is composed of qualified 
employees with the know-how, skills and experience 
required by the respective positions. 

The Company employees are responsible and result-
oriented individuals, who serve the main business 

targets of the Company, and who believe in teamwork, 
cooperation and value-creation, with a high sense of 
belonging and loyalty.

As of 2014 year-end, the average age of AKİŞ REIT 
employees is 39, and the average seniority is 9 years.

In order to provide a safe work environment by following
the ‘people first’ approach in those industries we 
operate, namely chemicals, energy, real estate, textile 
and services:

u In all our business processes and activities, we
 determine, evaluate and control risks regarding
 occupational health and safety. 

u We evaluate possible emergencies and provide for
 the safety of our stakeholders by preparing   
 necessary action plans. 
 
 

u We follow legal protocol and other related   
 procedures, and contribute to their development.

u We organize training activities on occupational   
 health and safety in order to improve the knowledge  
 of our employees and business partners.

u By encouraging our employees to participate, we
 continuously improve and monitor occupational  
 health and safety management and performance.

Our top priority is to integrate all practices stipulated by 
our country’s legislation into all business processes, in 
order to provide a happy, peaceful, healthy and secure 
environment for our employees. We carry out all of our 
activities with human values, and thus with the aim 
of steadily raising our Occupational Health and Safety 
performance. At the same time, we commit to adhere to 
regulatory standards by excelling in doing our part.

Keeping the work environment safe requires constant 
co-operation from all employees. All employees are 
responsible for taking the necessary precautions 
regarding health and safety, both for themselves and 
for those who might be affected by their actions. 
Akiş REIT continuously works to create awareness of 
occupational health and safety among employees, and 
provides an environment that enables employees to take 
responsibility on all aspects of safety.

Demography and Work Force

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

Akiş REIT offers an environment which facilitates 
informing and raising awareness among the 
employees in occupational safety and health 
matters.
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Mehmet Ali Berkman
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Born in Malatya in 1943, Mehmet Ali Berkman graduated from 
Middle East Technical University, Faculty of Administrative 
Sciences, Department of Industrial Management. Afterwards, 
Mr. Berkman continued his educational career in the USA 
and obtained an MBA in Operations Research from Syracuse 
University (USA). Mr. Berkman joined Koç Group in 1972, and 
assumed the roles of General Manager in MAKO, Uniroyal, 
DÖKTAŞ and Arçelik respectively. Subsequently he worked as 
Head of Strategic Planning, Human Resources and Industrial 
Relations, and left the Group on December 31, 2003 due to the 
Group’s retirement policy. In September 2005, he assumed the 
position of Member of the Board of Directors and Chairman 
of the Executive Board of Akkök Holding A.Ş. He also served 
as Member and Chairman of the Boards of Directors of other 
Group companies. On January 1, 2013, Mr. Berkman stepped 
down from his position as Chairman of the Executive Board, 
and he continues to serve as Advisor to the Executive Board of 
Akkök Group. Mr. Berkman is also a Member and Chairman of 
the Boards of Directors of other Group companies.

Raif Ali Dinçkök
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors
Born in Istanbul in 1971, Raif Ali Dinçkök graduated from Boston 
University (USA), Department of Business Administration in 
1993, and subsequently started to work at Akkök Group. He 
worked in the Purchasing Department of Ak-Al Tekstil San. A.Ş. 
between 1994 and 2000, and later served as Coordinator at 
Akenerji Elektrik Üretim A.Ş. from 2000 to 2003. Mr. Dinçkök 
is currently a Member on both the Board of Directors and the 
Executive Board of Akkök Holding A.Ş. He also serves on the 
Boards of Directors at various Akkök Group companies.

Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi
Member of the Board of Directors
Born in İstanbul in 1956, Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi graduated
from Lycée Français Sainte Pulchérie in İstanbul in 1970. She
continued her education in Switzerland, where she graduated
from St. Georges School in 1976. Dinçkök Çiftçi currently
serves on the Board of Directors of Akkök Sanayi Yatırım ve
Geliştirme A.Ş., and on the Boards of Directors of other Group
companies.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

COMPANY MANAGEMENT

  Commencement Term
Name and Surname  Title  of Duties  of Office

Mehmet Ali BERKMAN Chairman of the Board of Directors 05.17.2013 3 Year
Raif Ali DİNÇKÖK Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors 05.17.2013 3 Year
Nilüfer DİNÇKÖK ÇİFTÇİ Member of the Board of Directors 05.17.2013 3 Year
Ahmet Cemal DÖRDÜNCÜ Member of the Board of Directors 05.17.2013 3 Year
İhsan Gökşin DURUSOY Member of the Board of Directors-General Manager 05.17.2013 3 Year
Alize Dinçkök EYÜBOĞLU Member of the Board of Directors 05.17.2013 3 Year
Uzay KOZAK Independent Member of the Board of Directors 05.17.2013 3 Year
Hüseyin Ersin TAKLA Independent Member of the Board of Directors 05.17.2013 3 Year

Name and Surname  Title

İhsan Gökşin Durusoy General Manager
Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu Deputy General Manager for Sales and Marketing
Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu Deputy General Manager for Finance
Hakan Biçen Deputy General Manager for Leasing

Ahmet Cemal Dördüncü 
Member of the Board of Directors
Born in İstanbul in 1953, Ahmet Cemal Dördüncü graduated
from the Department of Business Administration at Çukurova
University. He furthered his postgraduate studies at the
Universities of Mannheim and Hannover. Dördüncü started
his professional career at Claas OHG in Germany and worked
at Mercedes Benz A.Ş. in Turkey between 1984 and 1987.
In 1987, he joined the Sabancı Group and assumed several
positions at Kordsa A.Ş. until 1998. In 1998, he transferred
to DUSA, also part of the Sabancı Group, and worked as
General Manager/President first responsible for South America
and then North America. Following his Strategic Planning and
Business Development Group Presidency at H. Ö. Sabancı
Holding A.Ş. in 2004, he worked as the President of the
Executive Board of H. Ö. Sabancı Holding A.Ş. between 2005
and 2010. Mr. Dördüncü has served as Chairman of the 
Executive Board of Akkök Group since January 2013. He also 
serves on the Boards of Directors at various Group companies, 
as well as at Anadolu Isuzu Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş., 
Coca-Cola İçecek A.Ş., Anadolu Efes Biracılık ve Malt Sanayii A.Ş. 
and International Paper Co.

İhsan Gökşin Durusoy 
Member of the Board of Directors (General Manager)
Born in Denizli in 1964, İhsan Gökşin Durusoy received
his master’s degree in Industrial Engineering from Boğaziçi
University in 1987 and started his career as Production
Engineer in Arçelik. Working as Finance and IT Executive at
Izmir Demir Çelik A.Ş. from 1988 to 1989, Durusoy joined
Akkök Group in 1989 as Chief Budget Planner at Ak-Al Tekstil
Sanayii A.Ş. Here, he later served first as Budget Planning
Manager and then as Strategic Planning Director. In 2007, 
he became Deputy General Manager at Akiş REIT, which was 
founded with the aim of developing unique and large-scale 
real estate projects. Since 2009, Mr. Durusoy has been serving 
as General Manager and Member of the Board of Directors at 
Akiş REIT, as well as serving on the Boards of Directors of other 
companies.

Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu
Member of the Board of Directors
Born in İstanbul in 1983, Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu graduated
from the Department of Business Administration and
Economics at the Sawyer School of Management of Suffolk
University in 2004. She started her career in 2005 as a
Strategic Planning Expert at Ak-Al Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş. She
joined Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırımı A.Ş., when the Company
was setup in 2005. Here she worked as Project Coordinator,
Sales and Marketing Manager, and Assistant General Manager
for Sales and Marketing respectively. Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu
presently serves on the Boards of Directors of Akkök Group
Companies.

Uzay Kozak 
Independent Member of the Board of Directors- Chairman of 
the Early Determination of Risk Committee, and Member of the 
Audit Committee
Born in Istanbul in 1967, Uzay Kozak graduated from the 
Department of Economics at Istanbul University in 1988. He 
completed his Masters studies at the University of Nottingham 
(UK). He started his career at İnterbank A.Ş, and then worked 
in executive positions at Lehman Brothers, Inquam LTD, Bali 
Ruzgar Elektrik Üretim San. Tic. A.Ş., and Fokus Yatırım Holding 
A.Ş. respectively. He worked as Chairman of the Board of 
Directors at Fokus Finansal Hizmetler ve Danışmanlık A.Ş., and is 
the founding member of Innova Termal Geri Dönüşüm Limited 
Company (Thermal Recycling Company). Mr. Kozak serves as 
an Independent Member of the Board of Directors at Akiş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.

Hüseyin Ersin Takla
Independent Member of the Board of Directors - Chairman of 
the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee 
Born in Istanbul in 1944, Hüseyin Ersin Takla graduated from the 
Department of Civil Engineering at Istanbul Technical University 
in 1968. He started his career at STFA İnşaat A.Ş. Presently, he 
serves as Chairman of the Foreign Economic Relations Board 
Turkey-Libya Business Council, and Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of TML. 

Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu
Deputy General Manager for Finance
Born in Istanbul in 1964, Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu graduated 
from the Faculty of Business Administration at Istanbul 
University in 1986. She started her career at Egebank as a 
“management trainee”. Subsequently she worked as Marketing 
officer at Egebank Elmadağ Branch. In 1989 she joined Ak-Al 
Tekstil Sanayii A.Ş as Finance Assistant Manager, and afterwards 
she assumed the role of Deputy General Manager for Finance. 
She currently serves as Deputy General Manager for Finance at 
Akiş REIT, a position she has held since 2008. Married with one 
child, Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu is fluent in English.

Hakan Biçen 
Deputy General Manager for Leasing
Born in Istanbul in 1963, Hakan Biçen graduated from the 
Department of Economics at Istanbul University. He started 
his career at Profilo Holding in the Purchasing department. 
Subsequently, he worked as Export Manager at Edpa Pazarlama 
A.Ş., a subsidiary of Akın Holding, then as Real Estate 
Development Manager at McDonalds Turkey, Leasing Director 
at ECE Turkey, and then served as Leasing Director at AVM Mfi 
Partners. He joined AKİŞ REIT in 2009, and currently works as 
Deputy General Manager for Leasing. Fluent in English, Hakan 
Biçen is married and has one daughter. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENT MEMBERSHIP OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

To Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. Board of 
Directors, Corporate Governance Committee,

Pursuant to the Communiqué Regarding the Determination
and Application of Corporate Governance Principles (II-
17.1) and the Communiqué on Principles Regarding Real 
Estate Investment Companies (Series III, No. 48.1) issued 
by the Capital Markets Board, the Articles of Association, 
and the criteria set forth in the related legislation, as a 
candidate for independent membership of the Board 
of Directors of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., I 
declare that:

u Neither I, nor my spouse or anyone among my relatives
to the third degree, by blood or by marriage, have 
established relations, directly or indirectly, with Akiş
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. or its subsidiaries, or 
its affiliates or the companies within the Group within the 
last five years in the form of employment, or by means of 
capital or commerce;

u I have not been elected to represent a certain share
group at the Board of Directors;

u I have not worked for those companies that audit,
provide consulting services to, or manage activities or
organizations, in part or in full, for Akiş Gayrimenkul
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. or assumed any executive position at 
these companies within the last five years;

u I have not been employed by those companies that
independently audit Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı 
A.Ş. or been part of the independent audit process within 
the last five years;

u I have not worked for those companies that provide
significant products and services to Akiş Gayrimenkul
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. or assumed any executive position at 
these companies within the last five years;

u My spouse or anyone among my relatives to the third
degree, by blood or by marriage, is neither an executive
at Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. nor a shareholder 
or in an executive position, who holds more than 5% of 

the total capital or control over management in any case, 
or has any influence in the control of Akiş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.;

u I do not earn any other income from Akiş Gayrimenkul
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. other than the fee for membership of 
the Board of Directors and the benefits that are provided 
in accordance with the Articles of Association, and that if I 
am a shareholder due to my membership of the Board of 
Directors, I do not have more than 1% of the shares and 
that these shares are not privileged;

u I am considered a resident in Turkey in accordance 
with the Income Tax Law;

u I do not work full time for any public institution or
organization at the time of my candidature, and that in the 
case of my election, I will not work for the said institutions 
for the duration of my duty;

u I have strong, ethical standards as well as occupational
reputation and experience that will enable me to make
positive contributions to the operations of the Company;
that will enable me to maintain impartiality in any conflict
of interest among the company partners; to decide
independently by taking the rights of the stakeholders
into consideration; and therefore will be acting as an
independent member as a Member of the Board of
Directors of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.

Pursuant to the related legislation, I also declare that 
should a situation arise that removes my independence, 
I will communicate this to the Board of Directors in order 
for it to be announced to the public, and that I will resign 
as a principal.

Sincerely, 

Uzay KOZAK

To Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. Board of 
Directors, Corporate Governance Committee,

Pursuant to the Communiqué Regarding the Determination
and Application of Corporate Governance Principles (II-
17.1) and the Communiqué on Principles Regarding Real 
Estate Investment Companies (Series III, No. 48.1) issued 
by the Capital Markets Board, the Articles of Association, 
and the criteria set forth in the related legislation, as a 
candidate for independent membership of the Board 
of Directors of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., I 
declare that:

u Neither I, nor my spouse or anyone among my relatives
to the third degree, by blood or by marriage, have 
established relations, directly or indirectly, with Akiş
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. or its subsidiaries, or 
its affiliates or the companies within the Group within the 
last five years in the form of employment, or by means of 
capital or commerce;

u I have not been elected to represent a certain share
group at the Board of Directors;

u I have not worked for those companies that audit,
provide consulting services to, or manage activities or
organizations, in part or in full, for Akiş Gayrimenkul
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. or assumed any executive position at 
these companies within the last five years;

u I have not been employed by those companies that
independently audit Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı 
A.Ş. or been part of the independent audit process within 
the last five years;

u I have not worked for those companies that provide
significant products and services to Akiş Gayrimenkul
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. or assumed any executive position at 
these companies within the last five years;

u My spouse or anyone among my relatives to the third
degree, by blood or by marriage, is neither an executive
at Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. nor a shareholder 
or in an executive position, who holds more than 5% of 

the total capital or control over management in any case, 
or has any influence in the control of Akiş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.;

u I do not earn any other income from Akiş Gayrimenkul
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. other than the fee for membership of 
the Board of Directors and the benefits that are provided 
in accordance with the Articles of Association, and that if I 
am a shareholder due to my membership of the Board of 
Directors, I do not have more than 1% of the shares and 
that these shares are not privileged;

u I am considered a resident in Turkey in accordance 
with the Income Tax Law;

u I do not work full time for any public institution or
organization at the time of my candidature, and that in the 
case of my election, I will not work for the said institutions 
for the duration of my duty;

u I have strong, ethical standards as well as occupational
reputation and experience that will enable me to make
positive contributions to the operations of the Company;
that will enable me to maintain impartiality in any conflict
of interest among the company partners; to decide
independently by taking the rights of the stakeholders
into consideration; and therefore will be acting as an
independent member as a Member of the Board of
Directors of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.

Pursuant to the related legislation, I also declare that 
should a situation arise that removes my independence, 
I will communicate this to the Board of Directors in order 
for it to be announced to the public, and that I will resign 
as a principal.

Sincerely, 

Hüseyin Ersin TAKLA 
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INVESTOR RELATIONS BOARD OF DIRECTORS COMMITTEE EVALUATION 

To Akiş Gayrimenkul Ortaklığı A.Ş. Board of Directors

Our annual report, which is prepared as per the provision 
of Article 11 of the Corporate Governance Communiqué 
(II-17.1) published by the Capital Markets Board, is 
hereby presented for your consideration, and it will be 
covered in the Board of Directors’ annual report for 2014.

Sincerely,

Banuhan Yürükoğlu Mustafa Ozan Hançer
Deputy General Manager  Business Development and Investor   
Finance Relations Manager - Member of the   
 Corporate Governance Committee
 
INVESTOR RELATIONS ANNUAL REPORT 

The fundamental duty of Akiş Real Estate Investment 
Fund Investor Relations Department is to keep in line 
with legal regulations and transparency for stakeholders, 
and it adopts an accountable, fair and responsible 
management model. In order to attain this goal, Akiş 
REIT uses and manages an investor relations tool for the 
purpose of providing comprehensive and fully accurate 
information to stakeholders about the course of Akiş 
shares. 

The basic working principles of the Investor Relations 
unit can be listed as: availability, providing swift 
feedback to stakeholders, transparent, consistent and 
prompt informing, and maintaining an updated website. 
Strict attention is paid so that the unit is composed of 
competent individuals, who have a good command 
of legal regulations, know the company and sector 
dynamics very well, and have the ability to transfer the 
same. Accordingly, the Investor Relations department 
knows well and analyses the company, has an excellent 
command of company strategies, and thus aims to create 
a difference by communicating these strategies by the 
most efficient methods.

Major Developments in 2014
The areas in which the Investor Relations Unit took 
an active role in 2014 were the Capital Increase made 
in May 2014, Corporate Governance Rating Process, 
and preparations related to the Application for Capital 
Ceiling Increase. Furthermore, answering questions 
from the Capital Markets Board, providing the requested 
documents and information, and maintaining accurate 
and efficient communication with the Board are among 
the Investor Relations Department’s key responsibilities.

In 2014, Akiş REIT’s capital rose to TL 200 million from TL 
128 million.

The necessary feedbacks were provided to all questions 
coming from investors within the year, by adhering 
to the principle of providing the same answers to all 
shareholders. Questions received from investors can be 
set out under 2 main headings. 

These questions can be classified as timing of 
investments and performance of share certificates. Strict 
attention was paid to sharing the explanations given for 
the said questions in PDP (Public Disclosure Platform), 
as clearly and quickly as possible, and ensuring that all 
shareholders were informed about the developments.

Low volume trade of Akiş REIT share certificates on 
BIST was considered a significant problem in 2014, and 
solutions pertaining to the issue were shared with the 
senior management.

Information regarding the Corporate Governance Rating, 
deemed as the most important development of 2014, is 
provided below:

Corporate Governance Rating

A “Corporate Governance Rating Report” was issued 
for the first time by Saha Kurumsal Yönetim ve Kredi 
Derecelendirme Hizmetleri A.Ş., which holds an operating 
license to perform rating in accordance with the 
Corporate Governance Principles issued by the Capital 
Markets Board (CMB). 

This report pertains to the rating of our Company in 
terms of alignment with the Corporate Governance 
Principles. It is prepared within the scope of the existing 
methodology, by utilizing the results obtained from 
detailed reviews that Saha executed at the Company.

The Company’s Corporate Governance Rating was 
determined as 9.16 out of 10, and the ratings for the sub-
headings; Share Holders, Public Disclosure, Stakeholders 
and Board of Directors were determined as 90.91, 92.67, 
92.60 and 90.81 respectively out of 100.

2014 Share Stock Performance

Investor Relations Department Contact
Phone  : +90 212 393 0100
Fax  :+90 212 393 0107
E-mail: ozan@akisgyo.com
Address: Miralay Şefik Bey Sok. No:11 Beyoğlu/Istanbul

BOARD OF DIRECTORS EVALUATION RELATED TO BOARD COMMITTEES’ WORKING PRINCIPLES 
AND EFFICIENCY

Subsequent to the Chairman and member elections made in accordance with Corporate Governance Principles, it was 
resolved to make the following appointments as per Board Decisions:

u Independent Board Member, Hüseyin Ersin Takla, shall be appointed Chairman of the Audit Committee;   
 Independent Board Member, Uzay Kozak shall be appointed Audit Committee Member, 
u Independent Board Member, Hüseyin Ersin Takla shall be appointed Chairman of the Corporate Governance   
 Committee; Board Members Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi and Mustafa Ozan Hançer shall be appointed as members of  
 the Corporate Governance Committee.
u Independent Board Member, Uzay Kozak, shall be appointed Chairman of the Early Determination of Risk   
 Committee; Board Member, Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi shall be appointed as a Member of the Early Determination of  
 Risk Committee.

Regulations pertaining to the field of duty and working principles of these three Committees stated above were 
accepted by the Board of Directors, and presented to the public via the Company’s web site.

All Board Committees fulfilled the duties and responsibilities that they were required to perform during 2014, as per 
Corporate Governance Principles and their internal Regulations, and they operated efficiently.

In accordance with their annual meeting plans, which were deemed necessary for the efficiency of 2014 works, stated 
under their internal Regulations and created accordingly,

u The Audit Committee convened 5 (five)times,
u The Corporate Governance Committee convened twice,
u The Early Determination of Risk Committee convened 6 (six) times, and these Committees submitted their 
reports, covering information about their works and results of the meetings throughout the year, to the Board on 
December 25, 2014. Accordingly,
u The “Audit Committee”, which is responsible for taking all measures required for performing any sorts of internal 
and independent audits adequately and transparently, and ensuring the efficiency of the internal control system, 
submitted its recommendations pertaining to its area of activity, as well as its opinions and recommendations 
pertaining to internal audit and the internal control system, to the Board of Directors.
u The “Corporate Governance Committee” was established to monitor the Company’s alignment with Corporate 
Governance Principles, to perform enhancements in respect thereof, and to make recommendations to the Board 
of Directors. The Committee determined whether or not the Corporate Governance Principles are abided by, and if 
not, the Committee identified the reason and the conflict of interest occurring in the event of failure in fully adhering 
to these principles. The Committee made recommendations to the Board of Directors which enhance Corporate 
Governance implementations, and has overseen shareholders and investor relations unit’s works. The works 
concerning the rating of the Corporate Governance Committee and Investor Relations Department’s compliance with 
Corporate Governance Principles were reviewed in detail by Saha Kurumsal Yönetim ve Derecelendirme Hizmetleri 
A.Ş. (“Saha”), and the report containing the Rating on Compliance with Corporate Governance Principles (9.16) was 
announced to our investors via Material Disclosure on 11.21.2014.  
u The “Early Determination of Risk Committee” serves to identify any risks which may threaten the Company’s 
existence, development and continuity, to apply the necessary measures pertaining to the identified risks, and 
to manage the same throughout the year. The Committee revised the Company’s Risk management systems in 
accordance with the Corporate Governance Principles and Regulations of the Early Determination of Risk Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE REPORT

SECTION I - COMPLIANCE STATEMENT ON 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı Anonim Şirketi 
(“Akiş” or the “Company”) is aware of the fact that 
the quality of the corporate governance practices has 
gained importance in addition to financial performance 
in a period where rapid competition and change is 
experienced. In this regard, the Company has included 
creating sustainable value for its shareholders in its 
prioritized objectives. The characteristic of Akiş as a 
reputable, innovative, hardworking, creative and sharing 
organization and its corporate and reliable stance before 
its customers, employees and the society, particularly 
before its shareholders and investors, is sustained by
Corporate Governance Principles.

Pursuant to this objective, Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş. pays strict attention to implement the 
principles stipulated in the Corporate Governance 
Principles published by the Capital Markets Board (CMB). 

Justifications for the unimplemented advisory Corporate 
Governance Principles:

The Company’s Corporate Governance Committee 
continues its efforts to improve corporate governance 
practices. Apart from the currently implemented ones, 
the unimplemented principles haven’t caused any 
conflict of interest among the stakeholders so far, and the 
committee conducts meticulous studies on adaptation

u Referring to “Corporate Governance Principle” No. 
1.3.11, although there are no provisions in this regard in 
the Articles of Association, General Assembly meetings 
are held open to the public, as stated in the Company’s 
Internal Guidelines of the General Assembly. 

u Referring to “Corporate Governance Principle” No. 
1.5.2, utmost care is given to the utilization of minority 
rights, but there is no representative of minority rights on 
the Board. In addition, minority rights are not recognized 
for persons possessing less than one-twentieth of the 
share capital.

u Referring to “Corporate Governance Principle” No. 
4.2.5, although there are no provisions in this regard in 
the Articles of Association, the Company’s Chairman of 
the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer are 
different persons. No one in the company is entrusted 
with unlimited authority to decide on an individual basis.

u Referring to “Corporate Governance Principle” No. 
4.2.8, any possible damages in the Company caused 
by members of the Board of Directors due to their 
negligence during the fulfillment of their duties are not 
insured directly by the Company. However, the liability 
insurance for any possible damages in the Company 
caused by members of the Board of Directors due to 
their negligence during the fulfillment of their duties was 
underwritten by our main partner, Akkök Holding A.Ş., 
covering the executives of the company for an insured 
sum of USD 30 million.

u Referring to “Corporate Governance Principle” 
No. 4.4.5, since the format of the Board of Directors’ 
meetings has already been delineated in detail in the 
Company’s Articles of Association, this format hasn’t 
been put in writing with the Company’s internal 
regulations.

u Referring to “Corporate Governance Principle” No. 
4.4.7, Members of the Board of Directors spend sufficient 
time on their responsibilities in the Company. In the 
event that a member of the Board of Directors serves 
as a manager or a member of the Board of Directors in 
another company, the aforementioned situation doesn’t 
lead to a conflict of interest and hinder the responsibility 
of the member in the Company. Therefore, serving of 
the Members of the Board of Directors in some other 
duty or duties outside the Company is not regulated and 
restricted by certain rules. Duties fulfilled by Members of 
the Board of Directors outside the Company are recorded 
in the “Company General Information Form” through the 
PDP, and the curriculum vitae of the Board members to 
be elected are shared through the “General Assembly 
information document” on PDP and the Company 
website prior to the general assembly for election. The 
necessity of serving for duties which may not create a 
conflict of interest with the purpose and scope of the 
Company, and the rules describing the inappropriate 
conditions for assignment, are stated in the “Working
Procedures and Principles of the Board of Directors” of 
the Company. 

u Referring to “Corporate Governance Principle” No. 
4.6.5, wages paid and all other benefits provided to 
the Members of the Board of Directors and the senior 
executives are disclosed to the public through the annual 
report on the basis of expenses. However, statements are 
not made on an individual basis, and are provided with 
the distinction of Members of the Board of Directors and 
the senior executives. This issue will be revised in the 
coming periods.

SECTION II - SHAREHOLDERS

2.1 Shareholders Relations Department

In addition to the corporate functions, established
pursuant to the legislation, the “Investor Relations Unit”
functions under the Vice President of Financial Affairs,
and plays an active role in overseeing the rights of share
ownership, particularly the rights of access to information
and examination, and facilitating the exercise of such 
rights.

In this context, the questions directed to the unit shall be
answered either in writing or by phone upon discussing 
with the top responsible of the relevant matter, excluding 
the information deemed as confidential and trade 
secrets.

Business Development and Investor Relations Manager 
Mustafa Ozan Hançer works as a full time executive, 
reporting to the Deputy General Manager in charge of 
Financial Affairs, and holds a Capital Market Activities 
Advanced Level Licence.

Company employees in charge of Investor 
Relations:

Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu
Deputy General Manager for Finance
0 212 393 01 00/53506
banuhan@akisgyo.com  

Mustafa Ozan Hançer(*)

Business Development and Investor Relations Manager
0 212 393 01 00/53519
ozan@akisgyo.com
Fax: 0 212 393 01 02

Bengü Tutak 
Accounting Specialist
0 212 393 01 00/53544
bengu.tutak@akisgyo.com 
Fax: 0 212 393 01 02

(*) He holds the Capital Market Activities Level 3 (License 
number: 204279) license, and serves on a full-time basis 
as Investor Relations Department executive and member 
of the Corporate Governance Committee.

The Investor Relations Department operates to provide 
accurate, timely and consistent information to current 
and potential investors, analysts and 3rd parties on 
request, to enhance the Company’s recognition and 
credibility, to reduce the Company’s cost of capital 
through the implementation of Corporate Governance 
principles, and to ensure communications between the 
Board of Directors and the participants of the capital 
market.

The company created an accessible and transparent 
communication platform with all of its shareholders. 
Excluding information that was not declared to the public 
or that was confidential or trade secret, all inquiries, 
written or verbal, received from shareholders, potential 
shareholders, analysts assessing the Company, and 
academicians and students conducting research on the 
Company/sector, were promptly addressed via e-mail, 
phone or meetings. In 2014, 4 investors’ questions were 
answered. 
 
In the framework of the public disclosure and 
transparency principle, 93 “Material Event Disclosures” 
were made in 2014 to ensure that stakeholders, mainly 
shareholders, and other related parties were informed 
in a timely manner.  Since the Company is not a medium 
of quoted capital market in the international exchange 
markets, it has no obligation to make an extra Material 
Disclosure other than Borsa Istanbul. All Material 
Disclosures were performed within the period that the 
law required. Therefore, Turkey’s Capital Markets’ Board 
(CMB) did not apply any sanctions on the company during 
2014.

The report prepared by the Investor Relations 
department for activities that were held in 2014 was 
presented to the Board of Directors on January 30, 2015.

2.2. The Use of Right to Information by 
Shareholders

All shareholders are entitled to obtain and examine all
kinds of information in accordance with the regulations
in force and those not relating to trade secrets. Right
to access information and examination is not revoked
or restricted by the articles of association or one of the
company functions. 

Any type of information and explanation that may affect 
the use of the shareholder rights are regularly presented 
on the website (www.akisgyo.com.tr) of the Company for 
the use of the shareholders.
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The Disclosure Policy, found within “Investor Relations/
Policies” on the Company’s website, delineates the 
methods and tools Akiş uses for public disclosure, as well 
as the basis and procedures regarding communication 
with Akiş’s capital markets participants.

Company information to be disclosed to the public is 
presented on the “Public Disclosure Platform” (www.
kap.gov.tr) and on the Company’s website in a timely, 
accurate, complete, understandable and easily accessible 
manner, and in a cost effective way, and so as to assist 
persons and establishments that may benefit from the 
disclosure to decide. Additionally, the “e-GOVERNANCE: 
Corporate Governance and Investor Relations Portal” is 
used for direct and effective informing of the Company’s 
shareholders.

The Company avoids any operation that would make 
special auditing difficult. The Company’s Articles of 
Association contain no specific article regarding the right 
to demand the assignment of a Special Auditor, and there 
was no demand to assign a Special Auditor within the 
period.

2.3. General Assembly Meetings

The Company’s Ordinary General Meeting for 2013 
was held on 03.28.2014. Invitations to the meeting 
were announced on the Company’s corporate website 
(www.akisgyo.com), Public Disclosure Platform (PDP), 
electronic Board of Directors system, and Turkey’s Trade 
Registry Gazette, at least three weeks prior to the general 
meeting, excluding the announcement and meeting days. 
The documents required by article 437 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code were presented to the shareholders, 
along with the provisions numbered 1.3.1 stated in the 
Corporate Governance Principles.

In addition to the notifications and disclosures that the
company is required to make on the Company’s corporate 
website pursuant to the regulations along with the 
general assembly meeting announcement, the “General 
Assembly Information Document” prepared to include 
the points stipulated in clause 1.3.1 of the communiqué 
on Determination and Implementation of Corporate 
Governance Principles was also published on the website.

Each proposal was listed clearly and as a separate item
on the General Assembly agenda.

There were no subjects regarding the agenda of the 
Company’s 2013 Ordinary General Assembly meeting 
dated March 28, 2014 communicated in writing by 
the shareholders to the Company’s Investor Relations 
Department to be included in the agenda. 

In 2014, the Company held one Ordinary General 
Assembly meeting. 119,224,430.52 shares out of 
128,200,841.36 shares (92.998%), representing the 
capital of the Company, were represented in the Ordinary 
General Assembly meeting held on March 31, 2014.

In order to expand and facilitate the attendance of 
shareholders to the General Assembly, particular 
attention was paid to hold the meeting in a central 
location in Istanbul that would not create inequality 
among the shareholders, and that would enable the 
shareholders to attend the meetings at the lowest 
possible cost. The meeting location was selected based 
on the estimated number of attendees. No members of 
the media participated in the meeting.

During the General Assembly meeting, the Chairman 
of the Assembly ensured all topics on the agenda were 
conveyed in an impartial, detailed, and understandable 
manner, while questions not considered as trade secrets 
from general assembly attendees were answered. 
Since some of the questions raised were irrelevant to 
the agenda, or too broad to answer right away, the 
related investors received their answers in writing from 
the Investor Relations Department on April 24, 2014. 
Moreover, the questions asked and the answers given 
during the General Meeting, as well as the Material 
Disclosure by the Investor Relations Department dated 
April 24, 2014, were announced to the public on the 
Company’s Website.

No individuals or institutions were granted privileges for
accessing the company information.

Members of the board of directors, other relevant
parties, persons responsible for the preparation of 
financial statements, and auditors were present in the 
ordinary general assembly meeting of 2013 in order to 
provide the necessary information and respond to the 
questions regarding the items having a priority in the 
agenda.

There was no proceeding in which a decision was left 
to the Board of Directors due to dissenting votes by the 
independent board members.

During the General Meeting for 2013, held in 2014, the 
co-partners were informed of the charitable donations 
made by the Company within the period and their 
beneficiaries as a separate agenda topic, and information 
on the charitable donations paid during the year was also 
provided in the annual reports.

The shareholders approved the Company’s Charitable 
Donations and Welfare Policy during the General Meeting 
for 2013.

The official reports of the general meeting and the list of 
attendants were published on the Company’s website, 
www.akisgyo.com.tr, and on the Public Disclosure 
Platform (PDP).

The shareholders who held management control in 2014, 
the members of the Board of Directors, the executive 
managers, and their first and second degree relatives by 
blood or by marriage, haven’t carried out any significant 
transactions that may result in conflicts of interest, either 
with the Company or its subsidiaries. Furthermore, 
they haven’t carried out any transactions in the same 
line of business as the Company or its subsidiaries, by 
themselves or on behalf of others, and haven’t become 
partners without limits of liability in a company that is 
engaged in the same line of business. Likewise, there 
are no transactions carried out by people who also have 
access to Company information other than the aforesaid 
persons, on behalf of themselves, within the scope of the 
Company’s line of business.

Although there are no provisions pertaining to this matter 
in the Articles of Association, General Assembly meetings 
are held open to the public, as stated in the Company’s 
Internal Guidelines on Working Principles and Procedures 
of the General Assembly.

2.4. Right to Vote and Minority Rights

The Company avoids any activity that would obstruct 
using the right to vote and provides each shareholder
the opportunity to vote in the easiest and the most 
appropriate way possible, including cross border voting.
There are no privileges for voting right.

The Company does not have a mutual subsidiary
relationship with any companies.

Utmost attention is paid for using the minority rights. 
There is no representative of minority rights on the 

Board. The Company acts in accordance with the relevant 
legislation on the issue of minority rights.

Dissenters’ rights were not granted to anyone with 
less than 1/20 of the capital, in line with the Articles of 
Association.

2.5. Dividend Right

The dividend distribution policy adopted by the General 
Assembly of the Company has been announced to
the public on the corporate website and annual report.

Dividend distribution policy of the Company consists of
the minimum information clear enough to allow the 
investors to anticipate the procedures and principles 
intended for the distribution of the profit that the 
Company shall make in future periods. A balanced 
policy between the interests of the shareholders and 
the interest of the Company is pursued in the dividend 
distribution policy.

In the ordinary general meeting for 2013, held in 2014, it 
was decided not to distribute the profit, and to add it to 
the extraordinary reserves, considering last year’s losses 
stated in the legal records, investment expenses, and 
other funding needs.

There is no privilege regarding the issue of participating
in the profit of the Company.

2.6. Transfer of Shares

Group A shares of the Company are registered shares,
and group B shares are bearer shares. Group A shares 
have the privilege to nominate candidates for the election 
of the members of the Board of Directors. Transfer of the 
privileged group (A) registered shares is subject to the 
permission of the Capital Markets Board.

SECTION III - PUBLIC DISCLOSURE AND
TRANSPARENCY 

3.1. Corporate Website and Its Contents

The website www.akisgyo.com owned by the Company, is
actively used in disclosing information to the public. 
The Company’s website is designed and updated in 
accordance with Article 2.1.1 of the Capital Markets 
Board’s (CMB) Corporate Governance Communiqué 
Serial: II-17.1, the Turkish commercial Code, and relevant 
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secondary legislation.  Moreover, stakeholders requesting 
more information about the Company may reach contact 
persons by sending e-mail to info@akisgyo.com.
Company’s partnership structure is announced on the
Company’s corporate website showing the shareholder 
names, number of shares and rates.

The essential information announced on the website is
also available in English for the use of international 
investors. Moreover, international investors requesting 
more information about the Company may reach contact 
persons by sending e-mail to info@akisgyo.com.

3.2. Annual Report

The Board of Directors of the Company prepares the 
Annual Report based on the relevant regulations in
such a way that the public will have access to complete 
and accurate information regarding the operations of the
Company.

In addition to the topics mentioned in the legislation and 
other sections of the Corporate Governance Principles,
a) Information on the duties undertaken by 
the members and the executives of the Board of 
Directors outside of the Company, and statements of 
independence of the Board members,
b)  Operating principles of the committees formed 
within the Board of Directors, including committee 
members, meeting frequency, and the activities they 
carry out, as well as the Board of Directors’ assessment 
on the effectiveness of the committees,
c)  The number of meetings of the Board of Directors, 
and the attendance performance of the members of the
Board of Directors at the aforementioned meetings,
d)  Amendments to legislation which might materially 
affect the Company’s operations,
e)  Material lawsuits brought against the Company, and 
the possible results,
f)  Information on conflicts of interest between the 
Company and institutions which provide services 
concerning subjects such as investment consultancy 
and rating, and the measures taken by the Company to 
prevent such conflicts,
g)  Information on reciprocal shareholdings with a direct 
capital participation rate exceeding 5%,
h)  Information on corporate social responsibility 
activities regarding the activities of the Company which 
have social and environmental results, such as social 
rights and vocational training for employees.

SECTION IV - STAKEHOLDERS

4.1. Disclosure of Information to Stakeholders

Company’s stakeholders are, entities or interest groups
such as; employees, creditors, customers, suppliers and
various non-governmental organizations that are related 
to the Company achieving its objectives or the activities 
of the Company. In cases where the rights of the 
stakeholders are not protected by legislations and mutual 
agreements, the Company shall protect the interests of 
the stakeholders within the framework of the principles 
of good faith and within the company’s capabilities. 

The Company created its Stakeholder Policies and 
announced these to the public on the Company’s 
website. Moreover, the Company and the related 
stakeholders are informed via e-mail, phone or meeting 
regarding issues of interest. 

When the rights of the stakeholders, which are protected 
by legislation and mutual agreements, are violated,
an opportunity for effective and swift compensation 
is provided. The Company makes every effort towards 
the ease of use of mechanisms such as compensation 
provided to stakeholders in line with legislation. There 
is a special “compensation policy”, which has been 
established by considering the legislation for the 
employees of the Company, and this policy is published 
on the Company’s corporate website.

If the need arises, the stakeholders can communicate any 
proceeding that is contrary to the Company’s regulation 
or ethics to the Corporate Governance Committee, 
the Auditing Committee, or to the Business Ethnics 
committee through the ethics hotline or e-mail. No 
notification was received from stakeholders in this regard 
during 2014. When a conflict of interest arises between 
stakeholders, or in case a stakeholder is part of more 
than one interest group, a policy as balanced as possible 
in terms of the assertion of held rights is pursued, and 
efforts are made to protect each right individually from 
one other.

The Company pays special attention to customer
satisfaction in sales and marketing of goods and services,
and accordingly takes necessary measures.

The Company takes necessary measures, reviews and
renews its processes in order to: establish and maintain 

relationships with its customers and suppliers (in 
providing goods and services to/from) in line with the 
provisions stipulated in its Articles of Association and 
pursue the international and sector-specific standards
in providing goods and services.

It is essential that demands of the customer in respect 
of the goods or services purchased by the customer 
are immediately fulfilled, if any, in accordance with the 
agreement provisions, otherwise in accordance with 
the legislation provisions, and customers are informed 
regarding the delays without waiting for the deadline.

In compliance with the procedures, the Company takes 
measures to have and maintain relations that are in 
accordance with the contract provisions and the law with 
suppliers that sell supplies, raw materials, services or 
units/large equipment, and supervise the international 
and sector’s standards regarding the supply of materials 
and services, and additionally reviews and renews the 
buying processes. 

4.2. Participation of Stakeholders in Company
Management

While there are no models in the Articles of Association
supporting the participation of stakeholders, and 
company employees, in particular, in the company 
management, the Company is trying to improve the 
situation without disrupting the company activities.

Inclusion of the employees in the management is 
provided by means of annual performance review 
meetings, suggestion systems and annual meetings 
organized within the Company.

The Company takes the opinions and suggestions of other
stakeholders into consideration.

4.3. Human Resources Policy

The Company adopts a management system that values
people and thus encourages creativity, communication
and employee participation. The Company acknowledges
that creating an environment of open and streamlined
communication is the key to maintaining the motivation 
and efficiency of its employees.

The Company values utilizing human resources practices
that use internationally-accepted models and internally
integrated systems. It aims at using contemporary,

integrated and results-oriented systems in all human
resources processes, from recruitment to performance
management, development, remuneration, through to
severance.

The Company’s Human Resources Policy aims at gaining
candidates who are suitable to its corporate culture and
values, who have the knowledge, skills, experience and
competencies demanded by the job/position, and who
will move the Company forward, and thereby serve the
strategies and goals of the Company. Having adopted the
right person for the right job principle, the Company uses
modern evaluation systems to support the most objective
decisions in the recruitment and placement processes.

In line with its continuous learning, development and
results-orientation approach, Akiş REIT aims at organizing
employee development programs based on corporate
goals, for improving the knowledge, skills, expertise and
competencies of its employees; the Company allocates
resources for programs that support its employees’ social
and cultural development. Development planning offers
training and development solutions suitable for the 
current needs of both the Company and the employees.

The Performance Management System aims to encourage
individuals to adopt corporate goals, and strengthen a
shared corporate culture. The system enables employees
to transparently identify their individual contributions, as
well as the impact of their contributions at the corporate
level. Outputs of the Performance Management System
are used in the development planning, talent 
management, career planning and succession planning, 
remuneration and awarding processes by Human 
Resources, thereby creating an integrated structure 
where all processes support each other. The Company 
supports employees towards a common goal through 
incentives that serve to strengthen the high performance 
culture. The leadership and functional competencies 
of the Company are measured with a 360 degrees 
approach, and the ways that employees achieve results 
are evaluated.

The Company uses world class job evaluation and salary
models with proven reliability. This is an objective and
transparent salary and fringe benefits model that reflects 
the realities of the domestic and international business 
world and is based on the principles of equality and 
fairness, and position-based remuneration.
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As well as the job descriptions and distribution of the 
Company’s employees, performance and reward
criteria are also announced to the staff. Attention is paid 
to efficiency in the determination of wages and other
benefits paid to the employees.

Significant operational changes that may influence our
employees shall be notified to the employees in advance
taking into account the periods of notice and notification
stipulated by the laws. The stipulated periods of notice 
and notification shall be made to the employees in 
accordance with the method and period specified in 
personnel regulations. Our priority is to integrate all 
practices stipulated by our country’s laws and regulations 
in our business model in order to help our employees 
work in a happy and peaceful environment and commute 
healthily. We carry out our activities by valuing people 
and therefore with an objective to continuously improve 
our Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) performance.

Our Company encourages employees to participate 
in management with the help of annual goal setting, 
performance assessment meetings, suggestion systems, 
and meetings held within the Company. Since the number 
of employees is 24, there is no representative assigned 
to conduct relations with the employees. Instead, this 
function is fulfilled by the Human Resources department. 
Playing the role of a bridge between the employees and 
the management, Human Resources works with the 
company’s management by communicating any inquiry or 
request to the management, and creating solutions in line 
with needs. Human Resources shares its responsibility for 
healthily conducted processes with the management.

Akiş REIT affords employees an open door policy. 
According to this policy, each employee is given the 
opportunity to reach the General Manager and function 
top director easily about any topic regarding their job 
and the company. In 2014, no complaint regarding ethics, 
primarily discrimination, was communicated to the Ethics 
Hotline or Ethics Representative, which are administered 
by an independent company. The Ethics Hotline was 
established in order for anonymous complaints and policy 
violations to be communicated to the company. 

4.4. Code of Ethics and Social Responsibility

The Company’s activities are executed in line with the
Code of Ethics disclosed to the public on its corporate 
website.

Seeking, developing, adopting and implementing
innovative and environment friendly technologies is of 
vital importance in the company’s environmental policy 
and quality policy. Based on the responsibilities of being 
one of leading companies of the sector, Akiş REIT accepts
minimizing the environmental impact arising from
activities, protecting the health and safety of employees,
customers and local community, achieving maximum 
savings in using natural resources and energy for its 
processes and developed projects, and preserving 
the environment and ecological balance for future 
generations, as the focus of corporate social 
responsibility approach and sustainability. This approach 
was accomplished when “Akbatı Residences & Akbatı 
Shopping Mall” Project was awarded with BREEAM 
Certificate in 2013, a certificate given to eco-friendly 
green buildings.

Acting with social responsibility, Akiş REIT aims to
contribute to the social development with donations and
social benefits made primarily to education, culture-arts 
and sports activities. Donations were made to various 
entities as Akiş REIT acting collaboratively with sector-
specific associations as a part of social responsibility 
objectives.

SECTION V - THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

5.1. Structure and Composition of the Board of 
Directors

The Board of Directors is composed of a total of 8 
members, including 2 (two) independent, 3 (three) 
executive and 3 (three) non-executive members. The 
CVs (Curriculum Vitae) of the members of the Board of 
Directors are presented in the Company’s annual report. 

Board of Directors
    
   Executive/
   Non-Executive  Term of
 Name Surname Title  Independent Starting Date  Office

Mehmet Ali BERKMAN Chairman of the Board Non-Executive 05.17.2013 3 Years
Raif Ali DİNÇKÖK Vice Chairman of the Board Executive 05.17.2013 3 Years
Nilüfer DİNÇKÖK ÇİFTÇİ Board Member Non-Executive 05.17.2013 3 Years
Ahmet Cemal DÖRDÜNCÜ Board Member Non-Executive 05.17.2013 3 Years
İhsan Gökşin DURUSOY Board Member - General Manager Executive 05.17.2013 3 Years
Alize Dinçkök EYÜBOĞLU Board Member Executive 05.17.2013 3 Years
Uzay KOZAK Independent Board Member Non-Executive 05.17.2013 3 Years
Hüseyin Ersin TAKLA Independent Board Member Non-Executive 05.17.2013 3 Years

There are executive and non-executive members in the
Board of Directors. Non-executive Board members are
individuals who do not hold an administrative position in 
the Company other than his/her Board membership and 
thus who do not get involved in the daily workflow and 
regular activities of the Company. Majority of the Board 
members are non-executive members.

Assigning the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman, the 
work distribution among the Members of the Board of 
Directors was determined. The Chairman of the Board 
and the General Manager are different persons, and the 
General Manager is a Member of the Board of Directors.

The duties and power of the Chairman of the Board and 
the General Manager are defined and separated with a 
Company organisation chart.

Among the members of the Board of Directors, there 
are independent members who have the capability of 
performing their duties without being influenced under 
any circumstances. The term of office of the independent 
members of the Board of Directors is up to three years 
and it is possible that they can be elected by being re-
nominated.

The Independency Statements of our independent 
members of the Board of Directors are included in 
the Annual Report. In 2014, there was no condition 
terminating the independency of the Independent 
Members.

The Members of the Board of Directors spend sufficient 
time on their responsibilities in the Company. In the 
event that a member of the Board of Directors serves 

as a manager or a member of the Board of Directors in 
another company, the aforementioned situation doesn’t 
lead to a conflict of interest or hinder the responsibility 
of the member in the Company. Therefore, serving of the 
Members of the Board of Directors of some other duty or 
duties outside the Company is not regulated or restricted 
by certain rules. Duties fulfilled by the Members of the 
Board of Directors outside the Company are submitted 
for the information of the shareholders on the “Company 
General Information Form” page through the PDP, on the 
Company website, and in their CVs under the Corporate 
Governance section of the Annual Report.

The Company’s Board of Directors has two female 
members. With reference to principle 4.3.9 of “Corporate 
Governance Compliance”, the rate of 25% is observed for 
female members of the Board of Directors. 

5.2. Operating Principles of the Board of 
Directors

The Board of Directors is liable for reaching the 
operational and financial performance goals that the 
Company determines.

The Chairman of the Board determines the agenda of the
Board of Directors’ meetings by discussing with other 
Board members and Chief Executive Officer/General 
Manager, and other members can make proposals for 
making changes in the meeting agenda. Members pay 
attention to participate and express their opinions in 
every meeting by getting ready after examining the 
information and documentation related to the items on 
the agenda. 
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Each member of the Board of Directors has one right to
vote whilst the provisions of the Turkish Commercial 
Code are applicable in meeting and decision quorums as 
specified in the Articles of Association.

Company’s Articles of Association and related legislation 
provisions shall be applied about the issues regarding 
how to hold the meetings and make invitations for the 
meetings. 
 According to our Articles of Association, the Board of 
Directors gathers based on the majority of the total 
number of members, and decisions are made by a 
majority of the attendees. If the number of votes is equal, 
the topic in question is deferred, to be decided upon at 
the next meeting. 

In the Board of Directors meetings, the items on the 
agenda are discussed clearly and in all aspects. Chairman 
of the Board of Directors makes his/her best effort to 
ensure effective non-executive member participation to 
the Board of Directors meetings. In 2014 meetings, none 
of the Board members voted against any decisions.

During the 2014 operational year, the Board of Directors 
gathered 8 times, with average participation of 87.5%. 
A total of 53 board decisions were made during the 
year. The Board Members were not offered the right of 
weighted vote or veto.

The Board of Directors plays a part in the preservation 
of effective communication between shareholders and 
the company, and in settling and resolving any disputes 
that may arise among them. In this respect, the Board 
of Directors is in working together with the Corporate 
Governance Committee and the Investor Relations 
Department.

Any possible damages in the Company caused by 
the members of the Board of Directors due to their 
negligence during the fulfillment of their duties are not 
insured directly by the Company.Moreover, also covering 
our Company’s executives, liability insurance valued 
at USD thirty (30) million for damages caused to the 
company by mistakes of the Board Members on duty was 
taken out by our main partner, Akkök Group Companies, 
and no material disclosure was made.

5.3. Number, Structure and Independence of
Committees Established within the Board of 
Directors

The Company’s Board of Directors has reviewed the 
structures and activities of the existing committees 
in the framework of the provisions of the Corporate 
Governance Communiqué of the Capital Markets 
Board, and has established the Audit Committee, Early 
Detection of Risk Committee and Corporate Governance 
Committee. The duties and responsibilities of the 
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee 
are carried out by the Corporate Governance Committee. 

Assigned tasks, working principles and members of
the committees are determined by the Board of 
Directors, and disclosed to the public via Public Disclosure 
Platform and on the Company’s corporate website.

All members of the Audit Committee and the
Chairmen of the Corporate Governance Committee and
the Early Detection of Risk Committee were elected from
independent members of the Board of Directors.

The General Manager is not assigned in any committee.

For the Company, it is significant that a board member 
participates in only one committee. However, considering 
the related members’ knowledge and experience, some 
board members who already perform duties in one 
committee may also take on duties in other committees.  
All kinds of resources and support are provided to the
committees by the board of directors in order to fulfill 
their duties. Committees are allowed to invite the 
director that they deem as necessary to their meetings 
and get his/her opinions.

Committees make use of independent expert opinions
on the issues that they deem as necessary with regard to
their activities. The fees of the consultancy services 
required by the committees are covered by the company.

Committees keep written records of all operations
carried out. Committees convene with the necessary
regularity to work effectively as stipulated in the working
principles. Committees submit the reports to the Board
of Directors, that contain information about the tasks
performed and the outcomes of the meeting.  

The Audit Committee

Name Surname Title

Hüseyin Ersin TAKLA Chairman of the Audit Committee
Uzay KOZAK Member of Audit Committee

The committee in charge of auditing supervises the 
accounting system, declaration of financial information 
to the public, independent auditing, and the process and 
efficiency of internal control and internal auditing. The 
selection of an independent auditing firm, identification 
of the services to be received from this firm, preparation 
of independent audit contracts, initiation of the 
independent audit process, and the works of the 
independent auditing firm at every stage, are all carried 
out under the supervision of the audit committee.

The independent auditing firm that will provide services 
to the Company, and the services to be received from 
this firm, are determined by the Audit Committee and 
then submitted to the Board of Directors for approval. 
The methods and criteria to be applied in the issues of 
investigation and resolution of complaints received by 
the Company about the accounting and internal control 
system and independent auditing of the Company, 
and evaluation of the notifications of employees on 
accounting and independent auditing of the Company 
within the context of the confidentiality principle, are 
also determined by the Audit Committee.

Denetimden sorumlu komite, kamuya açıklanacak yıllık ve 
ara dönem finansal tabloların Şirket’in izlediği muhasebe 
ilkeleri ile gerçeğe uygunluğuna ve doğruluğuna ilişkin 
değerlendirmelerini, şirketin sorumlu yöneticileri 
ve bağımsız denetçilerinin görüşlerini alarak kendi 
değerlendirmeleriyle birlikte yönetim kuruluna yazılı 
olarak bildirmektedir.

The audit committee convened 5 (five) times in 2014, and 
the decisions taken were submitted to the Board of
Directors as the results of the meetings were written 
in the minutes. The audit committee immediately 
notifies its findings regarding the field of its duties 
and responsibilities, as well as its evaluations and 
recommendations on the issue, in writing to the Board of 
Directors.

The Corporate Governance Committee

Name Surname Title

Hüseyin Ersin TAKLA Committee Chairman 
  (independent member)
Nilüfer DİNÇKÖK ÇİFTÇİ Committee Member (not   
  independent members)
Mustafa Ozan HANÇER Committee Member (licensed staff)

The Company’s Corporate Governance Committee 
observes whether or not corporate governance principles 
are applied in the company and, if not, identifies the 
reasons and the conflicts of interests arising due to not 
fully complying with these principles. The committee 
offers recommendations on optimizing corporate 
governance practices, and monitors the works of the 
Investor Relations unit.  One of the members of the 
Corporate Governance Committee, Mustafa Ozan 
Hançer is the service manager of the Investor Relations 
department, holding the license required by regulation.

Apart from its duties set forth in legislation, the 
Corporate Governance Committee also carries out the
duties and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee, 
Early Risk Identification Committee and Compensation
Committee.

In compliance with the annual meeting plans, which were 
required for the efficiency of operations in 2014, and 
stated and created on the Regulations, the Corporate 
Governance Committee gathered twice.

Saha Corporate Governance and Credit Rating Services, 
Inc.,  (“Saha”) carefully examined our Company’s 
operations for the Corporate Governance Principles 
Compliance Rating of the Corporate Governance 
Committee and Investor Relations Department, and the 
report bearing our Corporate Governance Principles 
Compliance Rating grade (9.16) was announced to our 
investors by Material Disclosure dated 11.21.2014.
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5.4. Risk Management and Internal Control 
Mechanism

The Early Detection of Risk Committee, which is 
responsible for early detection of risks that jeopardize the
existence, development and continuity of the Company, 
applying the necessary measures and remedies in this
regard, and managing the related risks, has three 
members, each of whom are non-executive independent 
board members. The Committee reviews the risk 
management systems once a year.

The Early Detection of Risk Committee

Name Surname Title

Uzay KOZAK Chairman of the The Early 
  Detection of Risk Committee

Nilüfer DİNÇKÖK ÇİFTÇİ Member of the The Early 
  Detection of Risk Committee

The Early Detection of Risk Committee gathered six times, 
and presented information on its operations, as well as 
the reports stating the results of meetings held within the 
year, to the Board of Directors on December 25, 2014.

A Risk Management Committee was established on 
October 24, 2013 pursuant to Article 378 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code No. 6102, to ensure the effective 
functioning of the committees within the Board of 
Directors, for the purposes of early detection of risks that 
jeopardize the existence, development and continuity 
of the company, applying the necessary measures and 
remedies in this regard, and managing the related risks. 
The members of the Early Detection of Risk
Committee were determined by decision of the Board of 
Directors dated May 2013, after the distribution of duties
among the Board of Directors.

The Committee holds meetings every 2 (two) months 
and offers advice and recommendations to the Board of 
Directors upon early detection of any kind of strategic, 
financial, operational, etc. risks that may affect the 
Company, assessment of these risks, evaluation of their 
impact and probability, management and reporting of 
these risks in accordance with the Company’s corporate 

risk-taking profile, implementation of the necessary 
measures in relation to the risks identified, consideration 
of these risks in decision-making mechanisms, and 
establishment and integration of effective internal control 
systems in this regard.

The Company’s risk inventory is one of the most 
important follow-up tools used in Akiş’s risk management
activities. The risk inventory includes the company’s 
operational, financial, reputational and strategic 
risks. Risks with high or very high level risk scores are 
monitored at the level of the Board of Directors. Detailed 
action plans are created for such risks, and a risk owner 
is assigned for each of these risks. The risk owner is 
responsible for managing the related risk within the 
framework of the agreed action plan. Thus, the risk 
management philosophy has become a permanent item 
on the agenda of routine business of Akiş executives. 
Updated in line with sectoral and institutional 
developments, this philosophy has become an integral 
part of the Company’s applications.

The current internal control system, particularly 
increasing the efficiency and productivity of Company 
operations, maintaining reliability in financial reporting 
and compliance with applicable law and legislation, is 
being audited by the Audit Group established within the 
main partnership of the Company, Akkök Holding A.Ş., in 
accordance with the annual internal audit plan; and the 
outcome of the audit is reported to the Audit Committee. 
Those risks that prove to be critical within the framework 
of corporate risk management in the aforementioned 
annual internal audit plan are prioritized. The efficiency 
of internal audit operations has been reviewed by the 
Audit Committee at one (1) meetings held throughout the 
year. Opinions of the internal auditor, external auditor, 
or other Company executives have also been received as 
required at these meetings.

The Internal Audit team gets in touch with the 
independent auditors when necessary within the scope 
of audit activities, and occasionally performs common 
process controls with independent auditors.

5.5. The Strategic Goals of the Company 

The Board of Directors keeps the balance between risk, 
growth and return at an ideal level through the strategic 
decisions it makes, and manages and represents the 
Company by primarily looking after its long term interests 
through rational and cautious risk management.
The Board of Directors defines the strategic goals of the 
Company, determines the human and financial
resources it shall need, and inspects management 
performance.

The Board of Directors oversees the compliance of
the Company activities to legislation, Articles of 
Association, internal regulations and established policies.

The Company’s short and long-term performances and 
strategic objectives are evaluated, and the necessary 
action plans are carried out according to the results 
obtained in the Finance Board meetings held on a 
monthly basis, and the Industrial Evaluation meetings 
held on a quarterly basis, and headed by the executive 
board member/ general manager.

The Board of Directors reviews the degree to which the 
Company achieves its targets, as well as its activities and 
past performance.

5.6. Financial Rights

The Board of Directors is responsible for achieving the 
Company’s set targets. Evaluation on whether the
Company has achieved its publicly disclosed operational 
and financial performance targets and justifications in the
event of failure is described in the annual report. The 
Board of Directors conducts a performance evaluation 
and auto-critique on the basis of the Board, members and 
managers with administrative responsibility. The Board of 
Directors rewards or dismisses the Board members and 
managers with administrative responsibility considering
these evaluations. 

The principles of the remuneration of the board members 
and senior executives were written and submitted for 
the partners’ information as a separate topic during the 
ordinary general meeting for 2012, held in 2013, and 
partners were offered the opportunity to voice their 
opinions. The remuneration policy prepared for this very 
purpose is available on the company’s corporate website.

The Company has authorized the Corporate
Governance Committee to fulfill the duties of the
remuneration committee as stipulated in the legislation.

Stock options or payment plans based on Company’s
performance are not used in remuneration of 
independent Board members. We are making efforts to 
set the remuneration of independent Board members 
at a level allowing them to keep their independence 
and such remunerations are determined in the General 
Assembly meeting.

The Company will not lend money, make loan available
to and grant guarantees such as surety in own favor to 
any board member or senior executives.

Remuneration given to the Board Members and senior
executives and all other benefits provided are collectively
disclosed to the public in the annual report and financial
statement footnotes. Our statements are not made on an 
individual basis, and cover the Board of Directors and the 
senior executives.
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MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS OF THE CURRENT TERM

a) Amendments to the Articles of Association

Article 8, titled ‘Capital and Shares’, of our Company’s 
Articles of Association was amended due to the capital 
increase, as indicated below.

CAPITAL AND SHARES
ARTICLE 8: In compliance with the provisions of the 
Capital Markets Code, the Company has a registered 
capital ceiling amounting to TL 200,000,000, and its 
capital is composed of 200,000,000 shares with a nominal 
value of TL 1 per share.

The approval granted by the Capital Markets Board 
regarding the registered capital ceiling is valid from 2012-
2016 (5 years). If the approved registered capital ceiling 
has not been reached by the end of 2016, the Board of 
Directors is obliged to obtain authority guaranteeing a 
new period of time from the General Assembly, after 
having gained the permission of the Capital Markets 
Board. If said authority is not obtained, the Company 
is deemed to have been removed from the registered 
capital ceiling.

The issued and paid-in capital of the company is 
valued at TL 200,000,000.00 (two hundred million). TL 
19,422,648.65 of the total amount is registered Group A 
shares, while TL 180,577,351,35 is bearer Group B shares. 
The capital is composed of 200,000,000 shares with a 
nominal value of TL 1 per share. 

The previous capital, amounting to TL 128,200,841.36, 
was paid in full. By benefitting from the Positive 
Distinction from Share Capital account, an amount of 
TL 21,799,158.64 out of TL 71,799,158.64 was paid by 
internal source, while TL 50,000,000 of it was paid in 
cash.

Group A shares are registered shares, and Group B shares 
are bearer shares. Transfer of registered shares cannot be 
restricted.

Group A shares are entitled to nominate candidates in 
the election of members of the board of directors.

As one of the Company’s partners, Ali Raif DİNÇKÖK 
is also the leading investor. Apart from the leading 
investor’s 16,600,001 shares, representing an amount 
of TL 16,600,001, a privileged share that provides the 
Company of the leader investor with management 
dominance cannot be transferred to any other party 

during two years following the expiration date of sales 
of shares, which represent the minimum free float rate, 
offered to the public. Despite the transfer restriction 
in question, share transfers made by the leading 
investor within the period will not be registered in the 
shareholders’ stock register.

Prior to the public offering, regardless of any rates, 
transfers of the Company’s shares are obliged to obtain 
permission from the Capital Markets Board. As for the 
share transfers as part of this article, the same conditions 
as those for founders are required for new shareholders 
of the Company. 

Privileged shares represented by registered Group A 
shares are obliged to obtain permission from the Capital 
Markets Board.

In accordance with the Capital Markets Code and the 
provisions of the Capital Markets Legislation, the General 
Assembly has the authority to raise the issued capital by 
issuing new shares at the level of the registered capital 
ceiling, to issue shares below or above the nominal value, 
to restrict shareholders’ rights regarding new share 
buying, to make decisions that may limit the privileged 
shareholders’ rights, and to decide upon the premium 
share issue. The authority to limit the right to buy new 
shares cannot be used if it would lead to inequality 
among shareholders.
 
Regarding the capital increase, Group A shares will be 
issued in return for Group A shares, and Group B shares 
will be issued in return for Group B shares. However, if 
the General Assembly restricts shareholders’ right to buy 
new shares, new shares will be issued as written and 
registered in Group B.

In cases where there are remaining shares after the 
priority right for the capital increase has been used, and 
where the priority right has been limited, all newly issued 
shares are offered to public at market price.

Shares that represent the capital are recorded and 
followed up within the framework of dematerializing 
principles.

The decision on the real capital increase can be made 
only by the general assembly.
 
The current Articles of Association can be found on our 
company’s website, www.akisgyo.com.

b) Company Selection for Real Estate Assessment

In accordance with the general assembly decision, Akiş REIT decided to discharge Eva Gayrimenkul Değerleme 
Danışmanlık A.Ş. and Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. from the assessment services of assets that 
are available in the company portfolio in 2014.

c) Selection of Independent Auditor:

The selection of Başaran Nas Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik Anonim Şirketi was approved 
for auditing financial statements in the 2014 period at the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting dated 03.28.2014, 
in accordance with the ‘Communiqué Regarding Independent Auditing Standards in Capital Markets’, issued by the 
Capital Markets Board of Turkey and the Turkish Commercial Code; and in accordance with the report issued by the 
Audit Committee.

d) Capital Increase

Our capital was issued by our General Assembly’s decision numbered 8, and dated 03.04.2014, and a letter of approval 
numbered 12233903-325.04.01-511 and dated 06.26.2014, by the Capital Markets Board. Our transactions for the 
capital increase, initiated owing to the fact that the issued capital rose from TL 128,200,841.36 to TL 200,000,000 
after an amount of TL 21,799,158.64 of the capital was provided from internal sources by using the account titled 
‘Positive Distinction from Share Capital’, and by paying an amount of TL 50,000,000 in Cash, met by internal sources 
by benefitting from the account titled ‘Positive Distinction from Share Capital’ for shares representing capital valued 
at TL 21,799,158.64, whose amount of TL 49,763,227.596 of the issued shares representing the capital valued at TL 
50,000,000, grew in cash, was used in line with the right to buy new shares, and whose whole remaining amount of TL 
236,772.404 was sold in line with the conditions indicated by the registration statement regarding the public offering.

Capital Distribution among Partners Following the Capital Increase;

 Before the Capital Increase After the Capital Increase
Name / Title Capital Share (TL) Rate (%) Capital Share (TL) Rate (%)

AKKÖK HOLDİNG A.Ş. 40,264,934.84 31.41% 62,815,396.14 31.41%
ALİ RAİF DİNÇKÖK 25,057,354.56 19.55% 39,090,778.60 19.55%
NİLÜFER DİNÇKÖK ÇİFTÇİ 16,500,390.41 12.87% 25,741,468.71 12.87%
RAİF ALİ DİNÇKÖK 7,968,003.14 6.22% 12,430,496.69 6.22%
Diğer 38,410,158.41 29.95% 59,921,859.86 29.95%
TOTAL 128,200,841.36 100.00% 200,000,000.00 100.00%

Transactions conducted to raise our company’s issued capital to TL 200,000,000 from TL 128,200,841.36, were 
completed, and the new capital was registered at the Trade Registry Office as of August 20, 2014.

e) Use of Investment Trusts 

Regarding the investment trust, the company worked with Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş. and utilized a loan amounting 
to USD 62,500,000 (sixty two million five hundred thousand) with an 8-year term, a 2-year grace period and 6-year 
payment, and a loan amounting to EUR 50,000,000 (five million) with an 8-year term, a 2-year grace period and 6-year 
payment, so as to pay off the short-term loans that were used during the process of purchasing the independent parts 
of the projects for Bağdat Street, and convert them into long-term project finance loans, and to secure financing for 
future construction expenses.
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f) Corporate Governance Principles Compliance Rating

AKIŞ REIT’s Corporate Governance Rating was determined at 9.16.

The Company’s Corporate Governance Rating operations were completed on 11.21.2014 by Saha Kurumsal Yönetim 
ve Kredi Derecelendirme Hizmetleri A.Ş., which has official authorization to rate companies in accordance with 
the Capital Markets Board (CMB) Corporate Governance Principles. Being calculated upon the assessment of the 
Company’s shareholders, public disclosures and transparency, and stakeholders, as well as the main headings of the 
board of directors within the framework of the CMB Corporate Governance Principles, the Corporate Governance 
Rating was determined at 9.16.

Corporate Governance Rating 9.16
Main Parts Average 91.57

Sub Categories  Weight  Received Rate  Allocated Rate

Shareholders 0.25 90.91 9.09
Public Disclosure and Transparency 0.25 92.67 9.27
Stakeholders 0.15 92.60 9.26
Board of Directors 0.35 90.81 9.08

g) Sale of Tangible Assets 

As a result of a new land subdivision conducted in line with the demand by Ak-Kim Kimya Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., our 
leaseholder in Denizçalı Village Çiflikköy, Yalova, to buy the related piece of land and buildings, a 47,761.50 square-
meter plot of land belonging to the Company, and the buildings on it, situated in Parcel numbered 151/2 in Denizçalı 
Village Çiflikköy, Yalova, was sold to Ak-Kim Kimya Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. at a price of USD 12,000,000 + VAT. Half of the 
sale value will be received in advance, and the rest will be received within a 1-year term.

h) Street Retail

Closely following up the sector’s developments and trends, and making decisions in line with projected demand in the 
sector, our Company made an investment in 4 different parcels, located on one of the most popular streets in Istanbul, 
Bağdat Street, including Caddebostan, Erenköy and Bostancı, so as to expand its commercial real estate portfolio. Akiş 
REIT plans to play an active role in street retail, owing to several strategic reasons such as the high levels of street 
retail investments and leasable areas per person throughout Istanbul, as well as portfolio diversity. The Company aims 
to obtain steady rental income from commercial units to be developed on the parcels in question, and sales revenue 
from a limited number of residential buildings.

During 2014, the buying process of all independent parts, except for 1 independent part, of the parcels in question 
was completed, and Akiş REIT became the title holder. Development and renting activities continue for real estate 
properties in this scope. Uşakligil Apartment, located in Bağdat Street, 3206 Island 14 Parcel was demolished and 
converted into building land, and a lease contract was signed with Beymen Mağazacılık A.Ş. for the commercial real 
estate property to be built there.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION POLICY

Our Company’s profit distribution policy was amended as 
indicated below, and the amended policy was approved 
at the Ordinary General Assembly for 2013, held on 
03.28.2014.

Our Company’s ‘Profit Distribution Policy’ was 
determined as indicated below within the framework 
of the Turkish Commercial Code, the Capital Markets 
Board’s (‘CMB’) Corporate Governance Notice, and the 
Dividend Notice No. II-19.1, and other CMB Legislation, 
Tax Legislation and other related legislation provisions; 
and within the framework of Article 33 of our Articles of 
Association provision regarding profit distribution.

u Considering future investment expenses to be 
proposed by our Company and other funding needs, 
when there are no unfavorable economic conditions, and 
provided that there is no contradiction with the current 
arrangements of the Capital Markets Board, at least 20% 
of the total distributable profit, which will be available 
within the framework of Article 33 of the Articles of 
Association, will be distributed each year, in order for 
our partners to acquire steady dividends, as well as share 
yields.

u Within the framework of the provision of 
sub-paragraph (c) of Article 33 of the Articles of 
Association and the Company’s “Remuneration Policy 
for the Members of the Board of Directors and Senior 
Executives”, it will be possible to pay dividends to the 
Members of the Board of Directors depending on the 
General Assembly decision. The entire amount of the 
dividend planned to be distributed, may be distributed 
only if it can be met from net distributable profits and 
other resources existing in statutory records.

u In compliance with the provisions of the Articles 
of Association, there are no privileges for dividends. 
The dividends to be distributed to the shareholders are 
equally distributed to all of the available shares as of the 
distribution date, regardless of their issuing or acquisition 
dates.

u Dividend can be distributed in cash or by bonus 
shares or partially in cash and partially by bonus shares.

u The dividend distribution date is determined by the 
General Assembly in accordance with the proposal of the
Board of Directors provided that it is not contrary to the 
Capital Markets Board legislation, and starting no later
than the end of the fiscal year of the General Assembly in 
which the distribution decision was taken.

u Distributable dividend can be paid in equal or varying 
installments. The number of installments shall be
determined by the General Assembly or by the Board of 
Directors, provided that it is expressly authorized by the
General Assembly. In the event that the installment 
payment dates are determined by the Board of Directors, 
the payment dates shall be disclosed to the public, in the 
framework of the Capital Markets Board’s regulations on
material disclosures, within fifteen days following the 
date of the General Assembly. 

u Dividend advance payments may be distributed to 
the shareholders provided that such payments are in
compliance with the relevant Capital Markets Board 
Legislation.

u This “Dividend Distribution Policy” may be revised 
annually, taking into account the Company’s financial
performance, anticipated investment projects, and 
sectoral and economic conditions.
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DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION PROPOSAL

Dear Shareholders,

In accordance with the terms of the dividend distribution policy that we have previously shared with our shareholders, 
the Company has drawn up its proposal for the distribution of dividends concerning the profits of 2014 as follows, 
subject to ratification by the General Assembly.

The net period profit appearing on the consolidated financial statements drawn up within the framework of the 
provisions of Communiqué No. 14.1, Series II, of the Capital Markets Board is TL 58,634,016.00. The net profit for the 
period, based on the financial statements prepared in accordance with the provisions of Tax Procedure Law, stands at 
TL 53,803,663.42.

Out of the TL 58,634,016.00 net profit for the period included in the consolidated financial statements established 
within the framework of the provisions of the Capital Market Board’s Communiqué Serial: II, No: 14.1;

- To spare TL 2,483,257.97, corresponding to 5% of the remaining amount after the last year loss of TL 4,138,504.08 is 
taken away from the net profit for the year, valued at TL 53,803,663.42 in our legal records, as a Primary Legal Reserve 
within the framework of Article 519 of the Turkish Commercial Code, and Article 33 of our Company’s Articles of 
Association,

- The first dividend of TL 10,000,000.00 (the gross dividend amount corresponding to a nominal share of TL 1.00 
is TL 0.05 and the gross rate of dividend is 5%), which corresponds to 5% of the Company’s total paid capital of TL 
200,000,000.00, be distributed to our shareholders in cash within the framework of Article 33 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association,

- To pay the gross accumulated dividend amounting to TL 2,307,537.90, from the amount worth TL 46,150,758.03, 
remaining after the first accumulated dividend distributed to our partners, to the Board Members who are not 
independent board members, and who do not have an executive function, in accordance with Article 33 of our 
Company’s Articles of Association, and within the framework of the Remuneration Policy for Board Members and 
Senior Executives,

- Of the remaining TL  43,843,220.13, TL 12,692,462.10 (the gross dividend amount corresponding to a nominal share 
of TL 1.00 is TL 0.06346231 and the gross rate of dividend is 6.346231%) be distributed to shareholders as second 
dividend in accordance with Article 33 of the Company’s Articles of Association, 

- Setting the total of first and second dividends to be distributed to shareholders as TL 22.692.462.10 (the gross 
dividend amount corresponding to a nominal share of TL 1.00 is TL 0.11346231  and the gross rate of dividend is 
11.346231%),

We submit the Board of Directors’ above-mentioned proposal regarding the dividend distribution for the approval of 
the General Assembly.

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI ANONİM ŞİRKETİ BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board of Directors of Akiş carries out its activities in a transparent, accountable, fair and responsible manner.
The Board of Directors establishes internal control systems, including risk management and information systems
and processes that aim at minimizing the effects of risks that would affect the stakeholders of the Company,
particularly the shareholders, by obtaining the suggestions of the related committees of the Board of Directors.

A Risk Management Committee was established pursuant to Article 378 of the Turkish Commercial Code No.
6102 to ensure the effective functioning of the committees within the Board of Directors, for the purposes of
early detection of risks that jeopardize the existence, development and continuity of the company, applying
the necessary measures and remedies in this regard, and managing the related risks. The members of the Early
Detection of Risk Committee were determined by decision of the Board of Directors dated April 2013 after the
distribution of duties in the Board of Directors.

The Committee holds meetings every two (2) months and offers advice and recommendations to the Board
of Directors upon early detection of any kind of strategic, financial, operational, etc. risks that may affect the
Company, assessment of these risks, evaluation of their impact and probability, management and reporting of
these risks in accordance with the Company’s corporate risk-taking profile, implementation of the necessary
measures in relation to the risks identified, consideration of these risks in decision-making mechanisms, and
establishment and integration of effective internal control systems in this regard.

The Company’s risk inventory is one of the most important follow-up tools used in Akiş’s risk management
activities. The risk inventory, created by considering sales, productivity, income generation capacity, profitability,
indebtedness, and all future expectations depending on the corporate risk management policies of the Company,
includes the company’s operational, financial, reputational and strategic risks. Risks with high or very high level risk
scores are monitored at the level of the Board of Directors. Detailed action plans are created for such risks, and a
risk owner is assigned for each of these risks. The risk owner is responsible for managing the related risk within the
framework of the agreed action plan. Thus, the risk management philosophy has become a permanent item on the
agenda of routine business of Akiş executives. Updated in line with sectoral and institutional developments, this
philosophy has become an integral part of the Company’s applications. 

Internal Control Mechanism

The current internal control system, particularly enhancing the efficiency and productivity of Company operations,
ensuring reliability in financial reporting, and compliance with applicable law and legislation, is being audited by
the Audit Group established within our parent company, Akkök Holding A.Ş., in accordance with the annual internal
audit plan. The Internal Audit team comes into contact with the independent auditors when necessary within the 
scope of audit activities, and occasionally performs common process controls with independent auditors.
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SUMMARY OF THE 2014 SUBSIDIARY COMPANY REPORT 
PREPARED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL 
YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 199 OF THE 
TURKISH COMMERCIAL CODE

Pursuant to Article 199 of the Turkish Commercial Code No. 6102, which came into force on July 1, 2012, the Board
of Directors of Akiş is obliged to prepare a report within the first three months of the fiscal year about the relations
of the Company with its controlling shareholder and the subsidiaries of the controlling shareholder, and to include
the conclusion part of this report in the annual report. The necessary explanations on related party transactions
made by Akiş are provided in footnote No. 27 of the financial report. It is stated in the Commitment report
prepared by the Board of Directors of Akiş that, 

“An appropriate counter action was taken in all transactions made in 2014 by Akiş with its controlling shareholders or 
subsidiaries, according to the circumstances known by us at the time the transaction was made or the measure was 
taken or avoided, and any measure that was taken or avoided didn’t cause any damage to the Company, and in this 
context, it is concluded that no damage that would require compensation was encountered”.

OTHER DEVELOPMENTS

a) Information on lawsuits and their results:

Although they would not affect the Company’s financial 
state or activity, the following claims were filed by one of 
the shareholders, Ömer Dinçkök, against the Company 
within 2014. 

1. Ömer Dinçkök, one of the shareholders of the 
Company, filed a lawsuit in the presence of File No. 
2014/545 E. of the Istanbul 18th Commercial Court 
(former Court and File No.: Istanbul 50st Commercial 
Court, 2014/208 E.) for the cancellation of decisions 
numbered 2, 5, 6, 7, 10 and 11, taken at the 2013 
ordinary General Assembly meeting of the Company. 
Our rebuttal petition to the aforesaid lawsuit and our 
evidence list have been submitted to the Court file. The 
litigation process continues. It was decided to carry out 
an expert examination in the hearing held on December 
11, 2014. The date of the next hearing is on April 09, 
2015. When the current state of the evidence and 
material facts are taken into consideration, the case is 
expected to result in favor of the Company.

2. Ömer Dinçkök, one of the shareholders of the 
Company, filed a lawsuit in the presence of File No. 
2014/120 E. of the Istanbul 7th Commercial Court with 
the claim that his right to obtain information was denied 
unfairly at the ordinary General Assembly meeting dated 
March 28, 2014, to become authorized to obtain and 
analyze information on all trade books and records of the 
Company. The date of preliminary investigation hearing 
is on March 25, 2015. The information requested was 
provided both at the General Assembly meeting and 
in the response letters (except for information in the 
nature of confidential information or company secrets 
for the Company or third parties) sent subsequently to 
the relevant shareholder. The rebuttal petition and the 
appendix regarding the lawsuit were presented to the 
Court file. The lawsuit resulted in our Company’s favor, 
being overruled at the hearing dated 12.10.2014.

3. Ömer Dinçkök, one of the shareholders of the 
Company, filed a liability lawsuit in the presence of File 
No. 2014/1266 E. of the Istanbul 1th Commercial Court 
against some of the Members of the Board of Directors of
the Company, with the claim of illegal actions, decisions 
and actions resulting in loss to the Company. The 
litigation process is continuing. A day has not yet been set 
for a hearing. 

There are a number of various debt claims, business 
or administrative proceedings, other than the 
abovementioned lawsuits, filed against the Company. The 
relevant lawsuits will not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial status and activities.

b) Financial Rights Provided for Managing Body 
Members and Senior Executives

Regarding the remuneration of managing body members 
and senior executives, our company provided a gross 
fund amounting to TL 2,681,656 in total. All of the 
benefits offered to the senior executives consist of short-
term remuneration or similar benefits, and they do not 
include long-term benefits. Managing body members or 
senior executives do not receive any allowances, travel, 
accommodation or representation expenses, or real and 
monetary opportunities or similar assurances.

c) Information on Portfolio Restrictions

Information regarding the Company’s portfolio 
restrictions is found on the Financial statements’ 
postscript numbered 31, titled ‘Monitoring Compliance 
for Portfolio Restrictions’. 

d) Related Party Transactions

Information regarding benefits provided for related party 
transactions and balances, and the board of directors and 
senior executives, is found on the Financial Statements’ 
postscript numbered 27, titled ‘Related Party Comments’.
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e) Comments on Administrative Sanctions or Law 
Enforcements Applied for Company or Managing Body 
Members Due To Practices Contrary To Provisions of 
Legislation 

As of the date of the annual report, there are no 
administrative sanctions or law enforcements applied 
to the Company of the Managing Body Members due to 
practices contrary to the provisions of the legislation.

There is one target and one General Assembly decision 
that failed to be fulfilled within the operating year of the 
Company.

f) Information on Charitable Donations and Social 
Welfare

Taking conscious steps on social responsibility, Akiş REIT 
aims to contribute to social development by making 
charitable donations and social welfare for activities such 
as, primarily education, as well as culture-art, and sports.

Our Company made charitable donations and social 
welfare amounting to a total of TL 170,475.40.

g) Events Following the Reporting Period

Uşaklıgil Project Lease Contract

As a result of the design and rental activities that were 
performed for a time on the project developed as part 
of Street Retail, our Company signed a 15-year lease 
contract with Beymen Mağazacılık A.Ş. for the Uşaklıgil 
Project, located on Bağdat Street, on January 7, 2015.

Registered Capital Ceiling Increase and Amendment to 
the Articles of Association

In accordance with the Board of Directors decision dated 
20.01.2015, the Company presented an amendment draft 
for the Capital Markets Board’s approval on 20.01.2015, 
so as to obtain permission to raise the registered capital 
ceiling to TL 500,000,000.00 from TL 200,000,000.00 
and, for that purpose, to amend Article 8, titled ‘Capital 

and Shares’, of the Company’s Articles of Association and 
expand the registered capital ceiling.   

Moreover, our Company presented for the Capital 
Markets Board’s approval the amendment draft 
pertaining to amending Article 5 titled ‘Purpose and 
Scope of Activity of the Company’, Article 9 titled 
‘Privileged Securities’, Article 10 titled ‘Portfolio 
Management and Portfolio Restrictions’, Article 16 
titled ‘Material Decisions’, Article 18 titled ‘Binding 
and Management of the Company’, Article 21 titled 
‘Prohibitions Concerning Executives’, Article 23 titled 
‘Auditor’, Article 25 titled ‘General Assembly Meetings’ 
and Article 28 ‘Appointment of Representative’ of the 
Articles of Association.

The Company’s Comments on the Capital Markets Board 
and Turkish Commercial Code regulations are as follows:

The Company has no accrued shares.

There was no special or public auditing in our Company 
within 2014.

There were no administrative sanctions or punishment 
applied on the Company or the Board Members for any 
reason.

There were no major legislation amendments that 
changed the Company’s activities in 2014.

In 2014, there were no issues that created conflicts 
among the institutions that the Company worked with 
regarding investment consulting and rating.

The Company did not have any unredeemed capital, nor 
was it debt-choked.

The Company does not have any partnership with 
reciprocal shareholding.

Information on the Company’s financial sources is found 
on the Financial statements’ postscript number 7, titled 
‘Financial Borrowing’, and there was no issued or on-
going capital market instrument within the year.

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AS PER ARTICLE 9 OF THE CAPITAL MARKETS BOARD COMMUNIQUE
SERIAL: II- 14.1 ON PRINCIPLES REGARDING FINANCIAL REPORTING IN CAPITAL MARKETS

UPON THE APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL REPORT, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’;
DECISION DATE: 06/03/2015
DECISION NUMBER: 2015/14

We hereby declare that,

The 2014 annual report, which was prepared pursuant to the provisions of the Capital Markets Board’s (CMB)
Communiqué Serial: II-14.1 on “Principles Regarding Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (“Communiqué”), and
in compliance with the format and content specified by the CMB and the relevant legislations;

• Was examined by our side;

• Did not include any explanation contrary to the facts with respect to important matters or any gaps that could
be misleading as of the date when the explanation was made, to the extent of the information we have, as per our
duty and responsibility within the Company;

• To the extent of the information we have, as per our duty and responsibility within the Company, the annual
report, which was prepared in accordance with the relevant Communiqué, solely reflects the truth regarding the
development and performance of the business; and along with those under the scope of consolidation, reflects the
truth regarding the Company’s financial status, together with the significant risks and uncertainties it faces, and
that we are liable for the statement made.

Yours Faithfully,

 Hüseyin Ersin TAKLA Uzay KOZAK Naile Banuhan YÜRÜKOĞLU
 Chairman of the Audit Committee Member of the Audit Committee Deputy General Manager for Finance
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Opinion

4. In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2014 and their financial 
performance and cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with Turkish Accounting Standards.

Other Responsibilities Arising From Regulatory Requirements

5. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 398 of the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) 
No: 6102; auditor’s report on the early risk identification system and committee has been submitted to the 
Company’s Board of Directors on 20 February 2015.

6. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of the TCC; no significant matter has come to our attention 
that causes us to believe that the Company’s bookkeeping activities for the period 
1 January - 31 December 2014 is not in compliance with the code and provisions of the Company’s articles of 
association in relation to financial reporting.

7. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of the TCC; the Board of Directors submitted to us the 
necessary explanations and provided required documents within the context of audit.

Başaran Nas Bağımsız Denetim ve 
Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş.
a member of
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Engin Çubukçu, SMMM
Partner

Istanbul, 20 February 2015

CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. 

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2014 and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the period then 
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. The Group’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Turkish Accounting Standards and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Independent Auditor’s Responsibility

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our 
audit was conducted in accordance with standards on auditing issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey and 
Independent Auditing Standards that part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting 
and Auditing Standards Authority. Those standards require that ethical requirements are complied with and that the 
audit is planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An independent audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on independent auditor’s professional judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to error or fraud. In making those risk assessments, the independent auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An independent audit includes also evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the independent audit evidence we have obtained during our audit is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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  Audited Audited
  31 December  31 December
 Notes 2014  2013

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities  196,098,942 430,054,239

Short-term borrowings 7 113,693,265 352,881,183
Short-term portion of long-term borrowings 7 60,255,469 41,986,230
Trade payables  15,610,231 16,389,321
   - Trade payables to related parties 8, 27 1,884,743 1,287,380
   - Trade payables to third parties 8 13,725,488 15,101,941
Employee benefit related liabilities 17 462,119 430,901
Other payables  641,463 526,380
   - Other payables to third parties 9 641,463 526,380
Deffered income 10 4,757,394 17,131,591
Short-term provisions  662,111 631,559
   - Provisions for employee benefits 16, 17 187,242 272,277
   - Other short-term provisions 16 474,869 359,282
Income tax payable 26 16,890 77,074

Non-current liabilities  327,185,202 98,347,564

Long-term borrowings 7 326,811,659 98,059,135
Long-term provisions  373,543 288,429
   - Provisions for employee termination benefits 17 373,543 288,429

EQUITY  828,675,190 726,389,500

Attributable to equity holders of the parent  828,675,190 726,389,500

Paid-in share capital 18 200,000,000 128,200,841
Adjustment to share capital   121,840,877 143,640,036
Share premium  208,659 202,159
Other comprehensive income /(expense) 
   not to be reclassified to profit or loss  (3,497) -
   - Remeasurement loss arasing from 
      defined benefit plan 18 (3,497) -
Other comprehensive income / (expense) 
   to be reclassified to profit or loss  46,365,999 52,717,328
   - Currency translation reserve  18 147 (16,071)
   - Revaluation and reclassification gain 18  46,365,852 52,733,399
Effects of business combination
   of entites under common control  (4,109,167) (4,109,167)
Other reserves 18 54,696,807 54,696,807
Restricted reserves appropriated from profit 18 20,888,561 20,888,561
Retained earnings  330,152,935 305,113,357
Net profit for the year  58,634,016 25,039,578

Attributable to non-controlling interests  - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  1,351,959,334 1,254,791,303

  Audited Audited
  31 December  31 December
 Notes 2014  2013

ASSETS

Current Assets  89,789,799 88,678,431

Cash and cash equivalents 5 47,141,892 38,996,938
Trade receivables  21,095,379 4,078,989
   - Trade receivables from related parties 8, 27 16,480,816 124,435
   - Trade receivables from third parties 8 4,614,563 3,954,554
Other receivables  1,794,588 2,087,752
   - Other receivables from third parties 9 1,794,588 2,087,752
Inventories 12 6,314,353 27,394,323
Prepaid expenses 10 4,521,989 8,610,884
Assets related to current income tax 26 - 55,274
Other current assets 15 8,921,598 7,454,271

Non - current Assets  1,262,169,535 1,166,112,872

Financial investments 6 58,491,466 64,859,013
Trade receivables  916,368 1,314,101
   - Trade receivables from third parties 8 916,368 1,314,101
Inventories 12 240,726,573 244,632,159
Investment properties 11 931,103,550 806,482,104
Property, plant and equipment 13 3,181,600 3,672,037
Intangible assets 14 48,308 80,930
Prepaid expenses 10 1,659,626 4,000,712
Other non-current assets 15 6,042,044 41,071,816

TOTAL ASSETS  1,351,959,334 1,254,791,303

The consolidated financial statements for the yearbetween 1 January-31 December 2014 have been approved by the 
Board of Directors on 20 February 2015 and signed by General Manager İhsan Gökşin Durusoy and Chief Financial 
Officer Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu on behalf of the Board of Directors. Consolidated financial statements are subject to 
approval by the General Assembly,

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AT 31 DECEMBER 2014 AND 2013
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.)

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AT 31 DECEMBER 2014 AND 2013
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  Audited Audited
  1 January -  1 January -
 Notes 31 December 2014  31 December 2013

Revenue 19 91,584,244 70,957,837
Cost of sales (-) 19 (44,051,449) (29,235,630)

Gross profit  47,532,795 41,722,207

General administrative expenses (-) 20 (11,719,641) (18,155,327)
Marketing expenses  (-) 20 (1,302,257) (1,369,665)
Other operating income 22 3,974,501 5,397,173
Other operating expenses (-) 22 (3,166,055) (4,542,723)
Share of loss of investment accounted 
   for using the equity method  - (5,148,533)

Operating profit  35,319,343 17,903,132

Income from investing activities 23 66,896,252 88,902,339
Expenses from investing activities (-) 23 (1,801,450) (14,143,472)

Operating profit before financial loss  100,414,145 92,661,999

Financial income 24 56,303,606 21,823,515
Financial expenses (-) 24 (97,998,457) (88,439,178)

Profit before tax from continuing operations  58,719,294 26,046,336

Current income tax 26 (85,278) (77,074)
Deferred income tax 26 - (929,684)

Net profit for the year from contuning operations  58,634,016 25,039,578

Net profit for the year  58,634,016 25,039,578

Total income for the period attrituble to:
Non-controlling interest  - -
Equity holders of the parent  58,634,016 25,039,578

Earnings per share 25 0,34 0,17

Other comprehensive income/(expense)
Items not to be reclassified to profit and loss  (3,497) -
Remeasurement loss arising from defined benefit plan 17 (3,497) -
Items to be reclassified to profit or loss  (6,351,329) 7,543,920
Change in revaluation funds of financial assets 6 (6,367,547) 7,530,889
Currency translation differences  16,218 13,031

Other Comprehensive (Loss)/Income  (6,354,826) 7,543,920

Total Comprehensive Income  52,279,190 32,583,498

Total comprehensive income attrituble to:
Non-controlling interest  - -
Equity holders of parent  52,279,190 32,583,498

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 AND 2013
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.)

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGE IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 AND 2013
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.)
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  Audited Audited
  31 December  31 December
 Notes 2014  2013

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  (14,075,022) (187,802,952)

Net profit for the period  58,634,016 25,039,578

Adjustments to reconcile net profit to net cash 
   provided by operating activities  (21,004,738) 2,880,331

Adjustments relatated to depreciation and amortization 13, 14 874,943 2,166,367
Adjustments related to provisions  626,513 266,686
Adjustments related to interest income and expenses 24 28,119,220 15,963,861
Unrealized exchange differences  14,554,932 52,856,573
Adjsutments related to tax income/expenses 26 85,278 1,006,758
Adjustments related to income/expenses to
   dispose of property, plant and equipments  - (1,374,985)
Adjustments for other items that cause cash flow 
   resulting from financing and investing activities  (65,094,802) (68,366,090)
Other adjsutments  (170,822) 361,161

Changes in net working capital  (49,608,233) (215,342,316)
Increases in inventories  (57,614,369) (243,496,921)
(Increases)/decreases in trade receivables  (580,102) 38,749,415
Decreases/(Increases) in other receivables arising
   from operating activities  20,340,864 (83,087)
Decreases in trade payables  (949,888) (985,508)
Decreases in other payables arising from operating activities  (10,804,738) (9,526,215)
Cash flows from operating activities  (11,978,955) (187,422,407)

Tax paid  (2,029,084) (55,274)
Other cash outflows 17 (66,983) (325,271)

B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  15,446,339 108,061,707

Cash inflows from the sale of shares in investment accounted
    for using the equity method  - 112,365,000
Cash proceeds from disposal of 
   property, plant and equipment and intangibles  - 2,448,908
Cash proceeds from purchase of
   property, plant and equipment and intangibles 13, 14 (351,884) (342,597)
Cash proceeds from disposal of investment property  11,496,900 16,044,642
Cash proceeds from purchase of investment property 11 (1,051,959) (40,817,099)
Dividends received 23 5,353,282 18,362,853

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  4,441,111 41,707,974

Cash proceeds from capital increases  50,006,500 -
Cash inflow arising from borrowings  422,825,293 394,576,500
Cash outflow arising from repayments of borrowings  (434,544,583) (324,809,234)
Dividends paid  - (18,000,000)
Interest received  2,010,766 3,213,480
Interest paid  (35,856,865) (13,272,772)

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
   Before Currency Translation Differences (A+B+C)  5,812,428 (38,033,271)

D. Effec ts of Currency Translation Differences
     on Cash and Cash Equivalents  2,332,526 13,031

Net Increase / (Decrease) on Cash and Cash Equivalents  8,144,954 (38,020,240)

E. Cash and Cash Equivalents at The Beginning of The Year 5 38,996,938 77,017,178

Cash and Cash Equivalents At The End of The Year (A+B+C+D+E) 5 47,141,892 38,996,938

NOTE 1 - ORGANISATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırımı Anonim Şirketi (“Akiş” or “the Company”) was established on 
22 November 2005 with the title of “Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırımı A.Ş.” in Istanbul/ Turkey. The Company’s legal title was 
changed to “ Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.” The mentioned changes in the articles of association has been 
registered on 18 May 2012 and published on the Trade Register Gazette on 24 May 2012. Akiş is a subsidiary of Akkök 
Sanayi Yatırım ve Ticaret A.Ş. which is leading industrial group in Turkey.

The Company’s main business activity is to invest in the properties, capital market instruments on real estate projects, 
rights on real estates,to and to engage in other real estate based activities as permitted by the Capital Markets Board 
(“CMB”)’s regulations related with tReal Estate Investment Trusts.

At the Company’s Board of Directors meeting held on 17 August 2012, it was decided to merge with Ak-Al Gayrimenkul 
Geliştirme ve Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş. (“Ak-Al”) according to the relevant articles of Turkish Commercial Code No: 6102 and 
articles 18,19 and 20 Article of Corporate Tax Law. Such merger were to be carried out based on the balance sheets of 
the entities dated 30 June 2012 which were issued according to the relevant arrangements of Tax Procedural Law and 
through transferring to Akiş all assets and liabilities in the balance sheet. Bussiness combination was approved at the 
Extraordinary General Assembly meeting of Akiş on 31 December 2012.

The Company’s shareholder structure is disclosed in Note 18 as of 31December 2014 and 2013.

The Company is registered in İstanbul Trade Registry Office in Turkey, and the registered address is:

Miralay Şefikbey Sok. No:11 Gümüşsuyu, 34437 İstanbul.

Akiş, its subsidiaries and joint ventures are together referred to as “the Group”. 
 
Subsidaries

Akiş’s subsidiaries are operating in Turkey and Bulgaria and the nature of their business is as follows:
 
 The Group’s direct 
 and indirect
Subsidiaries ownership interest (%) Nature of business

Ak Yön Yönetim ve Bakım
   Hizmetleri A.Ş. (‘‘Ak Yön”) 99,99 Management of shopping mall
Aksu Real Estate E.A.D. (“Aksu Real Estate”) 100,00 Real estate investment

Ak Yön 

Ak Yön was established in İstanbul and registered on 12 August 2011. The main operational activity of the Company 
is to procure the correct usage of real estate residences, modern accommodation units, shopping malls, trade and 
business centers; hotels, social facilities, building of cinema, theatre, hospital and nursing home, to take the necessary 
actions for the protection, preservation organization to set up and manage the property maintenance and repair, 
inspection and to provide all kinds of support and management services. Ak Yön operates and manages Akbatı Mall. 

Akiş is the owner of %99.99 of Ak Yön’s capital. 

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 AND 2013
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.)

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Aksu Real Estate

Aksu Textiles E.A.D was established in Bulgaria on 18 December 2000 and its main business activity is the production 
of all kinds of textiles and clothing, importation and exportation. Aksu Textiles E.A.D that all capital is belonging to Ak-
Al has become subsidiary of Akiş with the merger that had been registered on 4 January 2013.

With the decision of the Board of Directors on 16 August 2013, the title of Aksu Textile EAD has been decided to be 
changed as Aksu Real Estate EAD. With the title change, the operational activitiy of the Company also has been change 
as to perform real estate investment activities both locally and abroad.

Joint ventures:

The joint ventures of Akiş are operating in Turkey and the nature of their business is as below:

Joint Venture Nature of Business Entrepreneur Partner

Akfil Holding A.Ş. (“Akfil Holding”) Real Estate  Garanti Koza İnşaat 
  Investments Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.
  (“Garanti Koza İnşaat”)

Garanti Koza Akiş Adi Ortaklığı (“Adi Ortaklık”)  Real Estate  Garanti Koza İnşaat
  Investments 

Akfil Holding A.Ş.

Akfil Holding was established on 20 February 1968. Akfil Holding included in the consolidated financial statements 
of Akiş since its parent Akkoza Gayrimenkul Yatırım A.Ş. (Akkoza) was the joint venture of Akiş since 2008. As of 30 
November 2010, all assets and liabilities of Akkoza as at 31 October 2010 were transferred to Akfil Holding. Hence, 
commencing from this date, Akfil Holding became the joint venture of Akiş. On 11 March 2013, the shares of Akiş in 
Akfil Holding were sold to Garanti Koza İnşaat A.Ş. who is the other enterpreneur partner. 

Garanti Koza Akiş Adi Ortaklığı

Garanti Koza Akiş Adi Ortaklığı established by the agreement which was signed on 3 May 2007 between Akiş, Garanti 
Koza İnşaat and Garanti Koza Gayrimenkul Geliştirme A.Ş. (“GKGG”). The aim of the Project Partnership, is to complete 
and sale of Akkoza Residences Project which has built in Esenyurt, İstanbul. On 11 March 2013, shares of Akiş in Adi 
Ortaklık were sold to Akfil Holding.

Approval of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the financial period of 31 December 2014 have been approved by the Board 
of Directors on 20 February 2015. 

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.)

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.)

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are presented below. These 
accounting policies was applied to all the periods presented unless otherwise indicated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation

a) Preparation of financial statements

Akiş (and its subsidiaries registered in Turkey) maintain their books of accounts and prepare their statutory financial 
statements in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), tax legislation, the Uniform Chart of Accounts 
issued by the Ministry of Finance and principles issued by CMB. The foreign subsidiaries maintain their books of 
account in accordance with the laws and regulations in force in the countries in which they are registered. The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under historical cost conventions in Turkish Lira (“TL”) except 
for financial assets, financial liabilities and investment properties which are carried at fair value. The consolidated 
financial statements are based on the statutory records, which are maintained under historical cost conventions, with 
the required adjustments and reclassifications reflected for the purpose of fair presentation in accordance with TAS.

The consolidated financial statements for the financial period of 31 December 2014 have been approved by the Board 
of Directors on 20 February 2015.

b) Declaration of conformity with TAS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Communiqué Serial II, No:14,1, 
“Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (“the Communiqué”) published in the Official Gazette numbered 
28676 on 13 June 2013. According to Article 5 of the Communiqué, consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with the Turkish Accounting Standards issued by Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards 
Authority (“POA”), TAS contains Turkish Accounting Standards, Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) and its 
addendum and interpretations (“IFRIC”).

Presentation and Functional Currency

The reporting currency of the Group is Turkish Lira (“TL”) and all financial informations are expresses in TL unless 
otherwise indicated. The financial informations expressed in the currencies other TL is full unless otherwise indicated.

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the parent company, Akiş and its subsidiaries on 
the basis set out in sections below. The financial statements of the subsidiaries which are included in the scope 
of consolidation have been prepared as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the required 
adjustments and reclassifications have been made in accordance with CMB Financial Reporting Standards and applying 
uniform accounting policies and presentation.
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Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are the companies over which the Group has control. The control of the Group sets out follows; controls 
an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the control is transferred to the Group by using full consolidation 
method.They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

In case of losing control on subsidiaries,the shares of the Group on subsidiaries are measured with the fair value at 
the day of losing control and the difference between the book value is recorded as profit or loss. Fair value is the 
initial purchase price in order to account subsequently measurement of the shares of subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
financial invetsments. In addition; the comprehensive income, assets and the liabilities related to the subsidiary is 
accounted as if they are disposed. Previously the amounts were accounted as the other comprehensive income might 
be reclassified to the profit/loss.

The balance sheets and the income statements of the subsidiaries are consolidated on line-by-line basis and the 
carrying value of the investment held by the Company and its subsidiaries is eliminated against the related equity. 
Intercompany transactions and balances between the Company and its subsidiaries are eliminated during the 
consolidation. The cost of and the dividends arising from, shares held by the Company in its subsidiaries are eliminated 
from equity and comprehensive income respectively.

Joint Ventures

Joint Ventures are companies in respect of which there are contractual arrangements through which an economic 
activity is undertaken subject to joint control by the Company and one or more other parties. The Company exercises 
such joint control through the power to exercise voting rights relating to shares in the companies as a result of 
ownership interest directly and indirectly held by itself.

Note 1 sets out the joint ventures which are sold in 2013. The joint ventures included in the scope of consolidation 
have been accounted in these concolidated finacial statements by using proportionate consolidation.

Going Concern

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared under the going concern assumption.

2.2  Restatement and Errors in the Accounting Policies and Estimates

The material changes in accounting policies and material errors are corrected retrospectively and the prior period 
consolidated finacial statements are restated if the financial position and performance of the Company and the impact 
of the cash flows transactions to the consolidated financial statements are presented more appropriate and reliable.

The preperation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with TFRS requires to use some significant 
accounting estimates. At the same time, the management must take some important decisions on the Group’s 
accounting policies. The description of higher degree of estimates and assumption in terms of the consolidated 
financial statements are set out in Note 3.

There is no change on accounting policies and estimates as of the presented periods.

2.3 Amendments in International Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has applied new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards published by Turkish 
Accounting Standarts Board (“TASB”) and IFRIC that are effective as at 1 January 2015 and are relevant to the Group’s 
operations.

a) Standards, Amendments and IFRICs applicable to 31 December 2014 year ends:

- Amendment to TAS 32,‘Financial instruments:Presentation’, on offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities, 
effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. This amendment updates the application guidance 
in IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’, to clarify some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and 
financial liabilities on the balance sheet.

- Amendments to TAS 36, ‘Impairment of assets’, effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. 
These amendments address the disclosure of information about the recoverable amount of impaired assets if that 
amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal.

- Amendment to TAS 39 ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’, on novation of derivatives 
and hedge accounting, effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. These narrow-scope 
amendments allow hedge accounting to continue in a situation where a derivative, which has been designated as a 
hedging instrument

- TFRIC 21, ‘Levies’, effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, This interpretation is on TAS 
37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’, TAS 37 sets out criteria for the recognition of a liability, 
one of which is the requirement for the entity to have a present obligation as a result of a past event (known as an 
obligating event), The interpretation clarifies that the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay a levy is the 
activity described in the relevant legislation that triggers the payment of the levy. 

- Amendments to TFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’, TFRS 12 and TAS 27 for investment entities, effective 
from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, These amendments mean that many funds and similar 
entities will be exempt from consolidating most of their subsidiaries, Instead, they will measure them at fair value 
through profit or loss, The amendments give an exception to entities that meet an ‘investment entity’ definition 
and which display particular characteristics, Changes have also been made TFRS 12 to introduce disclosures that an 
investment entity needs to make.

b) New IFRS standards, amendments and IFRICs effective after 1 January 2015:

- Annual improvements 2012; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, These amendments 
include changes from the 2010-12 cycle of the annual improvements project, that affect 7 standards:

•   TFRS 2, ‘Share-based payment’
•  TFRS 3, ‘Business Combinations’
•  TFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’
• TFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’
•  TAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and IAS 38,‘Intangible assets’
•  Consequential amendments to TFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, TAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and   
 contingent assets’, and
•  TAS 39, Financial instruments - Recognition and measurement’

- Annual improvements 2013; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, These amendments 
include changes from the 2011-12-13 cycle of the annual improvements project, that affect 4 standards:

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.)

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.)
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• TFRS 1, ‘First time adoption’
•  TFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’
•  TFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’ and
•  TAS 40, ‘Investment property’,

- Amendment to TFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’ on acquisition of an interest in a joint operation, effective from 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. This amendment adds new guidance on how to account for the 
acquisition of an interest in a joint operation that constitutes a business. The amendments specify the appropriate 
accounting treatment for such acquisitions. 

- TFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’, effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, This standard 
replaces the guidance in TAS 39. It includes requirements on the classification and measurement of financial assets 
and liabilities; it also includes an expected credit losses model that replaces the current incurred loss impairment 
model.

- Amendments to TAS 16 ‘Property,plant and equipment’, and TAS 41, ‘Agriculture’, regarding bearer plants, 
effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. These amendments change the financial 
reporting for bearer plants, such as grape vines, rubber trees and oil palms. It has been decided that bearer plants 
should be accounted for in the same way as property, plant and equipment because their operation is similar to that 
of manufacturing.Consequently, the amendments include them within the scope of TAS 16, instead of TAS 41, The 
produce growing on bearer plants will remain within the scope of TAS 41.

- Amendment to TAS 19 regarding defined benefit plans, effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2014, These narrow scope amendments apply to contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit 
plans. The objective of the amendments is to simplify the accounting for contributions that are independent of the 
number of years of employee service, for example, employee contributions that are calculated according to a fixed 
percentage of salary.

- Annual improvements 2014, effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, These set of 
amendments impacts 4 standards:

- TFRS 5, ‘Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations’ regarding methods of disposal.

- TFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’, (with consequential amendments to IFRS 1) regarding servicing 
contracts.

- TAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’ regarding discount rates.

- TAS 34, ‘Interim financial reporting’ regarding disclosure of information.

The Group will evaluate the impact of these amendments and apply where necessary.

2.4 Comparative information and correction of prior period financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include comparative financial information to enable the 
determination of the financial position and performance. In order to comply with the presentation of consolidated 
financial statements the current period when deemed necessary, comparative information is reclassified, and material 
differences are presented.

The consolidated financial statements which are prepared as of 31 December 2014 are presented with the prior 
period; the financial information dated 31 December 2013, comparatively.

In accordance with the decision taken in the CMB meeting numbered 20/670 held on 7 June 2013 and in compliant 
with the announcement relating to financial statements presentations are published on 7 June 2013 in CBM Bulletin. 
In order to comply with the presentation of consolidated financial statements the current period when deemed 
necessary, comparative information is reclassified.

2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of significant accounting policies used in the preparation of consolidated  financial statements are as 
below;

2.5.1 Segment Reporting

Segment reporting is designed as to supply consistence on reporting to the competent authority on taking decisions 
about the activities of the group. The competent authority is responsible for evaluation of the departments’ 
performance and decision taking related to the resources which are to be allocated according to departments.

2.5.2 Related Parties

For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, shareholders, key management personnel and board 
members, in each case together with their families and companies controlled by or affiliated with them, associates 
and joint ventures within the scope of TAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures are considered and referred to as related 
parties.

2.5.3 Foreign currency transactions

The foreign exchange transactions that take place during the period are translated into TL by using the exchange 
rates on transaction dates of the operation dates. Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are 
converted into TL with the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. The foreign currency exchange gains 
and losses resulting from the transactions of the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2.5.4 Financial Investment

Classification

The financial assets of the Group consist of financial assets available for sale, trade and non-trade receivables and cash 
and cash equivalents; the financial liabilites of the Group consist of trade payables and borrowings.

i) Non-derivative financial assets

The Group, its assets are recognized at the date they are incurred. All other financial assets, the transaction date that 
becomes a party to the conditions of the contract regarding the Group’s financial instruments are recognized. When 
the company transferred the assets with the relevant contract in accordance with the resulting cash flows related 
rights expired or related rights of ownership of all of the risks and rewards associated with the assets in a purchase 
and sale transactions in question is to remove the financial asset register. All kinds created or retained financial assets 
transferred by the Group is recognized as a separate asset or liability.

Non-derivative financial assets are initially recognised in the statemet of financial position with market value included 
directly attrituble transactions costs. The sunsequent measurement of non-derivative financial assets is as below;

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014
(Amounts are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise indicated.)
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is divided into three subgroups: “Financial assets held for trading”, 
“Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” and “Derivative financial assets held for trading”.

Financial assets held for trading are generally acquired for the purpose of selling in the short term in order to acquire 
revenue from fluctuations in the market.

Financial assets held for trading are recognised in the statement of financial position with initial costs plus transaction 
costs after that subsequently measured at fair value. Difference between cost and fair value is recognized in the 
statement of profit/loss.

Available for sale financial assets

Available for sale financial assets are the financial assets other than assets held for trading, financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, held to maturity financial investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at their fair value. Unrecognised gains or losses derived 
from the difference between their fair value and the discounted values calculated per effective interest rate method 
are recorded in “Revaluation and reclassification gain” under shareholders’ equity. In case of sales, the realised gain or 
losses are recognised directly in the statement of operations.When equity investments are disposed of, any resulting 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss as the difference between the sales price and the carrying amount of the 
investment.

Investments held to maturity

Investments held to maturity are the investments, for which there is an intention of holding until maturity and the 
relevant conditions for fulfillment of such intention, including the funding ability, and for which there are fixed or 
determinable payments with fixed maturity; and which are recognized at fair value at initial recognition. Investments 
held to maturity with the initial recognition at fair value including transaction costs are subject to valuation with their 
discounted cost value by using the internal rate of return method less provision for any impairment, if any. 

Interest income from investments held to maturity are recognized in the income statement as an interest income.

There is no financial asset held to maturity of the Group.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash, bank deposits with maturity periods of less than
three-months and other highly liquid short-term investments which are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. The carrying values of these assets are close 
to their fair values. 

ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

Financial liabilities

Borrowings are recognised initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest 
method.

2.5.5 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the statement of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.5.6 Share premium

Share premium represents the difference as a result of its sale of the stocks of the investments which are evaluated 
through equity method with a higher price than their nominal prices or the stocks of its subsidiaries; or the difference 
between the nominal and net realizable values of the stocks of its acquired companies.

2.5.7 Paid-in capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.5.8 Dividends

Dividend income is recognized in the consolidated financial statements by the Group at the date the right to collect 
the dividend is realized. Dividend payables are recognized as a result of profit distribution in the period they are 
declared.

2.5.9 Earnings per share

Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are determined by dividing net 
income by the weighted average number of shares in existence during the year concerned.

In Turkey, companies can raise their share capital by distributing “bonus shares” to shareholders from retained 
earnings. For the purpose of earnings per share computations, such “bonus share” issuances are regarded as issued 
shares for all periods presented. Accordingly, the weighted average number of shares used in earnings per share 
computations in prior periods is adjusted retroactively for the effects of these shares.

2.5.10 Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period represent the events that occur against or in favour of the Company between the 
reporting date and the date when reporting was authorised for the issue. There are two types of events after the 
reporting period:

- those that provide evidence of conditions that existed as at reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting 
date); and

- those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reporting 
date),

If there is evidence of such events as of reporting date or if such events occur after reporting date and if adjustments 
are necessary, the Company’s financial statements are adjusted according to the new situation. The Company discloses 
events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events but material.
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2.5.11 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A provision is recognised in the consolidated financial statements when the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 
In case of the mentioned criterias unformed, the Company discloses the related situation in the notes.

If the inflow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
If the inflow of the economic benefit is more than likely to occur, such asset and income statement effect are 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements at the relevant period that income change effect occurs.

2.5.12 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessee are classified as 
financial leases. The rest of leases other than financial leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as the lessor

The operating rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

The group as the lessee

Finance lease

The assets acquired under finance leases is recognized as property; as for that recognized financial lease payable in 
the consolidated financial statements. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the 
fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments and financial costs of leasing 
are distributed over the lease period with a fixed rate. The property acquired under finance leases is depreciated in 
accordance with the principles applied for property, plant and equipment.

Liabilities under finance leases, decreased by the payment of principal and interest payments are recorded as expense 
in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.5.13 Taxation

Corporate tax

According to Article 5/1(d) (4) of the Corporate Tax Law No: 5220, the income of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“REIT”) 
is exempt from corporate income tax. This exemption is also applicable to advance corporate tax.

Since the Company is exempt from corporate income tax in condormity with Article 5 of the Corporate Tax Law, 
deferred tax is not recognised.

The Company’s subsidiary Ak Yön, has corporate tax obligation.

2.5.14 Employee benefits / provision for employee termination benefits

Provision for the employee termination benefits represent the present value of the estimated total reserve of the 
future probable obligation of the Group arising from retirement of its employees calculated in accordance with Turkish 
Labor Law. In conformity with the laws regulating the work life in Turkey and the Turkish Labor Law, the Company is 
required to pay termination benefits to each employee who has completed at least one year of service and whose 
employment is terminated without due cause, is called up for military service, dies or who retires after completing 25 
years of service (20 years for women) and achieves the retirement age (58 for women and 60 for men).

Since the legislation was changed on 23 May 2002, there are certain transitional provisions relating to length of service 
prior to retirement. The amount payable consists of one month’s salary limited to a maximum of amount of TL 3,438 
as of 31 December 2014 (31 December 2013: TL 3,254).

Provision is related to fair value of defined benefit plan calculated with the method of estimated liability. All actuarial 
profit and losses are accounted under the consolidated comprehensive income statement. TFRS requires actuarial 
valuation methods to be developed to estimate the enterprise’s obligation for such benefits. The liability for this 
unfunded plan recognized in the consolidated financial statements is the full present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, calculated using the projected unit credit method. The present value of 
the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows from the retirement of 
its employees.

The principal actuarial assumption is that the maximum liability will increase in line with inflation. Thus the effective 
discount rate applied represents the expected real interest rate after adjusting for the effects of future inflation. As 
the maximum liability amount is revised semi-annually by the authorities, the maximum amount of TL 3,541 which 
is effective from 1 January 2015 has been taken into consideration when calculating the liability (1 January 2014: TL 
3,438).

The provision has been calculated by estimating the present value of the future probable obligation of the Group 
arising from the retirement of employees. TAS 19 “Employee Benefits” requires actuarial valuation methods to be 
developed to estimate the entity’s obligation under defined benefit plans. Since the effect of the change that is valid in 
annual report terms starting in date of 1 July 2012 or after is immaterial, retroactive implemantation was not applied 
by the Group.

2.5.15 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value, Inventories comprise of construction costs of 
residences (completed and in-progress) and the cost of land used for these residence projects, Land held for future 
development of real estate are also classified as inventory. Cost elements included in inventory are purchase costs, 
conversion costs and other costs necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use. Unit costs of the inventories are 
valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Borrowing costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalized. 
Lands which are currently used for real estate construction are evaluated in inventory. The inventories which are not 
estimated to sold within a year as of the balance sheet date are classified under non-current assets. 

2.5.16 Trade receivables and payables

Trade receivables which arise from providing with a product or service to a buyer by the Group are recognized net of 
unaccrued financing income. Trade receivables of the Group are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently 
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Short term receivables with no stated interest rate 
are measured at original invoice amount unless the effect of imputing interest is significant.
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An impairment provision for trade receivables is established if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 
able to collect all amounts due in accordance with the original agreement terms. The amount of the provision is the 
difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the present value of all 
cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the original effective 
interest rate of the originated receivables.

If the amount of the impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring after the write-down, the release 
of the provision is reversed through other operating income.

Trade payables consist of payables to suppliers for purchases of goods and services. Trade payables and other financial 
liabilites are presented as net of unaccrued financial expenses. Payable amounts in the subsequent period of recorded 
payables from original invoice values of trade payables and other liabilities after unaccrued financial liabilities are 
calculated with discounted based on the original effective interest rate. Short-term liabilities with undetermined 
interest rate are presented with their cost values, in case of the effect of the original effective interest rate is 
immaterial.

2.5.17 Advances

Advances received consist of amounts received from customers who entered into preliminary sales contracts with 
the Group for its real estate projects and are classified as short-term and long-term considering the expected delivery 
date of residences. The advances received for other operational activities are classified as short-term and long-term 
according to nature and duration of advances. Advances are not subject to discount.

2.5.18 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or 
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.5.19 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, if 
any. Any directly attributable costs of setting the asset in working order for its intended use are included in the initial 
measurement.

Depreciation is calculated over of the cost of property, plant and equipment using the straight-line method based on 
expected useful lives.

Estimated useful lives of property, plants and equipment is as follow;

 Expected useful
Tangible assets life(year)

Land improvements 3-25
Plant, machinery and equipment 5-15
Furniture and fixtures 3-10
Leasehold improvements 5 

Subsequent costs incurred for property, plant and equipment for increasing the future benefits from the asset by 
enhancing its capacity are included in the asset’s carrying amount and are amortized for its remaining economic life. 
The costs except from those are recognized as expense.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its 
recoverable amount and the provision for impairment is charged to expense accounts.

Gains and losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by deducting the net book value 
of the property and equipment from its sales and are included in the related income and expense accounts, as 
appropriate.

2.5.20 Intangible assets

Intangible assets include licenses, computer software and other rights. They are recorded at acquisition cost and from 
the date of acquisition over the estimated useful lives of 5 years are amortized using the straight-line method.

Estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period where 
necessary any changes in the estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

2.5.21 Impairment on assets

Financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. The existance of the mentioned objective evidence, the Group determines the 
amount of the related impairment.

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss 
event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group 
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. The highly probable losses resulting from events which will occur in 
the future is not recognized.

Non-financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that the book value of a 
non-financial asset or group of non-financial assets is impaired. If the existance of the mentioned objective evidence, 
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of related non-current asset in order to determine the amount of 
impairment. In case of the assessment of recoverable amount is not possible, the recoverable amount of the cash 
generating unit relating that asset is calculated.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The value in use is 
reduced the present value by using the discount rate before tax which is affected the projected future cash flows, time 
value of the money and risks in particular to relating non-financial asset.

In case of the recoverable amount of a asset (or a cash generating unit) is less than its book value, the book value of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. As a result of that impairment losses are accounted in the statement of 
income.
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2.5.22 Revenue recognition

Rent income from investment properties is recognized on the accrual basis. Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognized when the amount of revenue can be measured 
reliably and when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group. 
The seasonal rent discounts are netted off from rent revenue as incurred.

Revenue is presented net of discounts and sales taxes after elimination of intra-group sales transactions.

Income obtained from the sales of the real estate is accounted in the statement of comprehensive income when all 
significant risks and rewards associated property has been transferred to the buyer.

2.5.23 Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the group 
reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the 
original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest 
income on impaired loan and receivables is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

2.5.24 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

2.5.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders of the Company is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. 

2.5.26 Investment properties

Investment properties comprise of operative investment properties and investment properties under construction.

a) Operative investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both is classified as operative investment 
property. The operative investment properties of the Group comprise of shopping mall, lands and buildings.

An investment property can be accounted as an asset, if and only if, it is probable that economic benefits related to 
real estate would flow to the company and the cost of the investment property would be measured reliably.

Investment properties is measured initially at cost. These cots comprise of the transaction costs and subsequent 
expenditures or services. The borrowing cots related to qualifying assets is also recognized during the constrution 
of the asset, the mentioned capitalization continues until the completion of the construction. The Group does not 
include the daily service expenses related to real estate in the book value of the investment property. Those costs are 
recognises in the profit or loss statement to the extent that they are realised. Daily services costs mainly comprise of 
the labour and consumables however, it may also include the cost of small pieces. These types of expenditures are 
classified as the “maintenance expenses” related with the real estates.

After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market prices, 
adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this information 
is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods, such as discounted cash flow projections. The 
Group considers the conditions resulted with the difference in the determination of the fair value of the investment 
properties in order to make the most reliable estimation.

Gains and losses resulting from changes in fair values of investment property are recognized in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income as incurred. Gains and losses resulting from malfunction or dispose of investment 
property is a difference between cash proceeds from disposal of investment properties and its book value and is 
accounted as fair value gain or loss of investment property as incurred.

b) Investment properties under construction

The purchase transaction costs and contructions costs of investment properties under construction
and the related subsequent expenditures can be capitalized, if, it is enhancing the economic benefits of the 
mentioned property. The capitalization is starts at the beginning date of the incurred expenditures and the mentioned 
capitalization continues until ready to use of the property. Investment properties under construction that is held for 
long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both is classified as investment property and is measured at fair 
value. 

The Group measures the investment property under construction at fair value. Group, investment properties under 
construction for which the fair value cannot be determined reliably, but for which the Group expects that the fair value 
of the property will be reliably determinable when construction is completed, are measured at cost less impairment 
until the fair value becomes reliably determinable or construction is completed.

In order to evaluate whether the fair value of an investment property under construction can be determined reliably, 
management considers the following factors, among others;

-  The stage of completion,
-  Comparability of the project in market,
-  The level of reliability of cash inflows after completion,
-  The development risk specific to the property,
-  Past experiences with similar constructions and
-  Status of construction permits.

Group transfers its investment properties to inventory or fixed assets if and only if a change occures in use of the 
investment property. The aforementioned change in use is to start development for the purpose of sale after the 
development. If the Group decides on disposal of the investment properties without any development, until the 
disposal date, it is continued to be classified as investment property. Likewise, if the Group re-develops an existing 
investment property to be used as an investment property in the future, the classification of the property remained as 
investment properly and can not be reclassified to fixed assets during the course of development.

Transfers to, or from, investment property shall be made when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by:

-   Commencement of owner-occupation, for a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property;
-   commencement of development with a view to sale, for a transfer from investment property to inventories;
-   end of owner-occupation, for a transfer from owner-occupied property to investment property; or
-   commencement of an operating lease to another party, for a transfer from inventories to investment property.

For a transfer from inventories to investment property that will be carried at fair value, any difference between the fair 
value of the property at that date and its previous carrying amount shall be recognised in profit or loss.

The treatment of transfers from inventories to investment property that will be carried at fair value is consistent with 
the treatment of sales of inventories.
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i. Akbatı AVM

The Group develops the Akbatı Project on a land piece of 50,838 m² in total that is classified under investment 
properties as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 and located in Istanbul Province, Esenyurt District, Kapadık 
Neighbourhood, Block 383, and Parcel 3.The Akbatı Project comprises Akbatı Shopping Mall that has a construction 
area of 185,032 m² and leasable area of 65,496 m² as well as two residential blocks with a construction and sellable 
area of 61,738 m2 and 42,821 m² , respectively.

While determining the fair value of Akbatı Shopping Mall as of 31 December 2014, the expert report prepared by 
Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. (“Lotus”) and dated 31 December 2014 with No. 2014/3156 was 
taken into account and the related expert report set the fair value of Akbatı Shopping Mall at TL627,680,000 via 
income capitalisation method.

According to determining the fair value of Akbatı Shopping Mall as of 31 December 2013, the expert report prepared 
by Vektör Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. (“Vektör”) and dated 31 December 2013 with No. 2013_300_31 was taken 
into account and the related expert report set the fair value of Akbatı Shopping Mall at TL603,970,966 via income 
capitalisation method.

 Discount Annual rent  Capitalisation 
 rate increase rate Rate

31 December 2014 %10,25 %3,00 %5,26
31 December 2013 %10,20 %2,50 %7,70

ii. Uşaklıgil Project

The Group has started Uşaklıgil Project at Istanbul City, Kadiköy District, Bostancı Street, Bağdat Avenue No: 481 
located on City Block No 3206, Parcel No 14 and 1,437 m2 area with 3,432 m2 rentable area. This property classified 
previosly under long-term inventories has been reclassified as investment properties in the scope of the Urban Street 
Retailing projects as of 31 December 2014.

While determining the fair value of Uşaklıgil project as of 31 December 2014, the expert report prepared by Lotus and 
dated 31 December 2014 with No. 2014/3168 was taken into account and the related expert report set the fair value 
of Uşaklığil project at TL 107,900,000 via income capitalisation method. The fair value calculated using this method 
adopted as “developed land value” since the construction of the property has not started yet.

  Discount Annual rent 
  rate increase rate
   for first 3 years,
31 December 2014  %10,00  %3 after 3 years
 
Group signed rent agreement with Beymen Mağazacılık A.Ş. for Uşaklıgil project. Rent income will be collected via two 
parts such as “Minimum Rent Amount” and “Rent Amount Depends on Revenue”. Minimum Rent amount determined 
as USD 3,600,000 for first rental period, USD 3,800,000 for second rental period, USD 4,000,000 for third rental period, 
USD 4,200,000 for fourth rental period and %3 increase rate for subsequent periods. Rental periods will begin at the 
same time with operation, the renetal period defined for 15 years. Completion of construction and beginning of rental 
periods estimated to be first half of 2016.

2.6 Control of compliance with the portfolio limitations

As of 31 December 2014, the information is stated in Note “Control of Compliance with the Portfolio Limitations” 
are the condensed information which comprised of Serial: II. No: 14.1 “Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” 
Amendment No: 16 and prepared in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 48.1“Real 
Estate Investment Company” published in the Official Gazette dated 28 May 2013 numbered 28660 and Capital 
Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III. No: 48.1 a “Amendment on Real Estate Investment Company” published in 
the Official Gazette dated 23 January 2014 numbered 28891.

The related information which is stated Note 31 may not be consistent with the information given in consolidated 
financial statements

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

Preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the usage of estimations and assumptions which may 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the balance sheet date, disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities and reported amounts of income and expenses during financial period. Although these estimates rely on 
the best knowledge and belief of the management, due to their nature accounting estimates may differ from actual 
results.

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the siginifacant estimates and assumptions stated in the consolidated financial 
statements are as follow;

a) Fair values of investment properties:

Significant evaluations, estimates and assumptions that are used at the time of determining the fair value of 
immovables that are classified as investment property in the consolidated financial statements are explained below:

  31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Akbatı AVM(1) i 627,680,000 603,970,966
Uşaklıgil project(2) ii 107,900,000 -
Çerkezköy building and lands(1) iii 90,500,000 81,700,000
Üsküdar Kısıklı Lands(1) iv 52,460,000 51,311,138
Yalova building and lands(1) v 37,850,000 53,440,000
Bozüyük building and lands(1) vi 10,060,000 9,625,000
Bulgaria building and lands(1) vii 4,343,550 6,145,000
Other investment properties (1) viii 310,000 290,000

  931,103,550 806,482,104
(1) Operative investment properties
(2) Investment properties under construction 
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iii. Çerkezköy building and lands

The Goup owns land with an area of 377,005 m2 in total that is classified under investment properties as of 
31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, are located in Tekirdağ Provience, Çerkezköy District, Fezvzi Paşa 
Neighbourhood, 29K2D, Blok 956, Parcel 10. The Group is currently earnings rental income from the land and the 
textile production facility.

While determining the fair value of land as of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the expert report prepared by Lotus and 
dated on 31 December 2014 numbered 2014/3169 and 27 December 2013 numbered 2013/4157 were taken into 
consideration and the related expert reports set the total fair value of “factory plant” and “lands” as TL 90,500,000 
and TL 81,700,000, respectively.

iv. Üsküdar Kısıklı lands

The Group sold its shares in Akfil Holding and Adi Ortaklık to Garanti Koza İnşaat on 11 March 2013. The land owned 
by Akfil Holding which are located in Istanbul, Kısıklı Neighborhood, Island 2273, Parcel 2, Island 2774, Parcel 2 and 
Island 804, Parcel 57 are subject to new zoning applications in accordance with Çamlıca Area Plan Revision, and such 
land have TL45,120,377 fair value in accordance with the expert report prepared by Vektör Gayrimenkul Değerleme 
A.Ş on 6 March 2013 numbered 2013_300_02. These land are purchased by the Company from Akiş for TL40,500,000 
(USD22,500,000). Regarding the use of land the Group has not made a decision yet and currently holding for capital 
appreciation.

While determining the fair values of these lands as of 31 December 2014 and the expert report prepared by Lotus and 
dated on 31 December 2014 numbered 2014/3159 was taken into consideration and the related expert report sets the 
total fair value as TL 52,460,000.

While determining the fair values of these lands as of 31 December 2013, the expert report prepared by Vektör 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. on 31 December 2013 numbered 2013_300_35 was taken into consideration and the 
related expert report sets the total fair value as TL 51,311,138.

v. Yalova building and lands

The Goup owns 3 pieces of land with an area of 99,416 m² in total that is classified under investment properties as of 
31 December 2014. Lands are located in Yalova Provience, Çiftliköy District, Denizçalı Village, Topçuçiftliği Outskirts, 
Pafta  1/1, Parcel 1126, 1145 and 151/1. The Goup is currently earnings rental income from the land and the textile 
production facility.

While determining the fair value of land as of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the expert report prepared by Lotus and 
dated on 31 December 2014 numbered 2014/3161 and 2014/2825 and 27 December 2013 numbered 2013/4214 
were taken into consideration and the related expert reports set the total fair value of “factory plant” and “lands” as 
TL 37,850,000 and TL 53,440,000, respectively.

The Group has sold on account, the land with an area of 47,761,50 m2 and building located in Yalova Province 
Çiftlikköy City Denizçalı Village, Topçuçiftliği 151/2 numbered in the parcel, the expert report prepared by Lotus and 
dated on 12 December 2014 numbered 2014/2826 was taken into consideration and the related expert report sets the 
fair value as TL 24,250,000, amounting to TL 27,338,400 (USD 12,000,000) to Ak-Kim Kimya Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.

vi. Bozüyük building and lands

Lands in Yaftı

Via mergerd with Ak-Al, the Group owns 5 pieces of land with a total area of 63,812 m² in total that which are is 
classified under in investment properties as of 31 December 2014 and 2013, are located in Bilecik Provience, Bozüyük 
District, Yeni Neighbourhood ,Yaftı Site , Threader 31L4 , Island 237 and Parcels 21, 22, 25, 30 and 33. The Group is 
currently earnings rental income from the land and textile production facility positioned on it.

While determining the fair value of land as of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the expert report prepared by Lotus 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. and dated on 31 December 2014 numbered 2014/3162 and dated on 27 
December 2013 numbered 2013/3918 were taken into consideration and the related expert reports set the total fair 
value of “factory plant” and “land” as TL 9,950,000 and TL 9,550,000 respectively.

Lands in Kızıltepe

Via merged with Ak-Al, the Goup owns a piece of land with an area of 486 m2 in total that is classified under 
investment properties as of 31 December 2014 and 2013, are located in Bilecik Provience, Bozüyük District, Yeni 
Neighbourhood, Kızıltepe Site, Threader 30KIC, Island 414 and Parcels 148. Regarding the use of land the Group has 
not made a decsisicion yet and at present currently holds in order to increase value for capital appreciation.

While determining the fair value of land as of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the expert reports prepared by Lotus 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. and dated on 31 December 2014 numbered 2014/3163 and dated on 27 
December 2013 numbered 2013/3919 were taken into consideration and the related expert reports set the total fair 
value of land was determined as TL 110,000 and TL 75,000 respectively.

vii. Bulgaria building and lands

The Group owns 20 pieces of land with a area of 110,580 m2 in total that are classified under in investment properties 
as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 are located in Bulgaria , Silistre Provience, Industral Zone, 1, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27 and 
28 Island. Regarding the use of land the Group has not made a decsisicion yet and at present currently holds in order 
to increase value for capital appreciation.

While determining the fair value of these lands as of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the expert report prepared by 
Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. and dated on 31 December 2014 numbered 2014/3170 and dated 
on 23 August 2012 numbered 2012/1635 were taken into consideration and the related expert reports set the total 
fair value of the Bulgaria building and lands as TL 4,343,550 and TL 6,145,000.

viii. Other investment properties

The Group owns a commercial unit with an area of gross 180 m2 that is classified under investment properties 
as of 31 December 2014 and 2013, are located in İstanbul Provience, Esenler District, Atışalanı Neighbourhood, 
246DT2D2A3A3B Pafta , Block 1082, Parcel 14. Regarding the use of land the Group has not made a decsisicion yet and 
at present currently holds in order to increase value for capital appreciation.

While determining the fair value of commercial unit as of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the expert report prepared by 
Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. and dated on 31 December 2014 numbered 2014/3165 and dated 
on 27 December 2013 numbered 2013/4300 were taken into consideration and the related expert reports set the total 
fair value of Esenler commercial unit was determined as TL 310,000 and TL 290,000 respectively.
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b) Long term Value Added Tax (“VAT”) Receivables

VAT receivables which are expected to be settled beyond 1 year period are classified as part of non-current assets 
by the Group (Note 15). Total VAT receivables of the Group as of 31 December 2014 amount to TL 34,901,487 (31 
December 2013: TL 48,520,249) and based on the estimated income and expense that will be subject to VAT, TL 
26,042,044 have been classified as long term as of 31 December 2014 (31 December 2013: TL 41,071,816).

c) Working Capital Ratio

As of 31 December 2014 the Group’s current assets amount to TL 89,789,799 and current labilities amount to TL 
196,098,942. At 31 December 2013, the Group’s short-term liabilities exceeded its current assets by TL 106,309,143. 
The Group does not anticipate problems due to this maturity mismatch.

Short-term loans were used in the financing of Bağdat Street real estate purchases that are planned to be performed 
within the urban transformation projects. Together with the completion of urban transformation procedures and 
clarification of project plans, those short term loans used for financing of project purchases are planned to be 
converted into long-term loans. Considering favourability of the borrowing costs; continuance with short-term loans is 
also an option. As a result, the structure of these loans will be adopted to the cash flows of the planned investments 
so that the investment can perform it own repayment. Projects which will be realised on Bağdat Street are expected to 
generate rent income through street retail activities, and some portion is planned to be disposed by apartment sales.

The Group has changed short-term loans to long-term project finance loans for Bagdat Street projects. They aims to 
obtain rental income based on the Urban Street Retailling and to sales revenue of residences in the Bağdat Street. 
As disclosed in Note 30, the company made 15-year contract with Beymen Mağazacılık A.Ş.for Uşaklıgil Project on 7 
January 2015 as a result of the ongoing design and rental activities related to Urban Street Retailling in the Bağdat 
Street.

The Group expects to gain approximately TL 52 million from Akbatı Shopping Mall and TL19 million is expected to be 
gained from lands and buildings in Çerkezköy, Yalova and Bozüyük in the following year.

The amount of advances received regarding Beyaz Kule project is approximates to TL3,6 million at 
31 December 2014. Those advances are classfied under Group’s short-term liabilities will be closed with deliveries of 
the apartments in 2015 without associating with any cash outflow.

Under the Group’s Akbatı and Akkoza projects there are respectively 7 and 10 residential units that sales commitments 
are not made for yet and in this context will create cash inflows.

The Goup’s inventories and investment properties are approximately TL1,2 billion and in case of any shortage in cash; 
sales, mortgage or any other alternative methods will be evulated by the Group.

NOTE 4 - SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on strategic decisions reports reviewed by the Board of 
Directors.

The Group management has been set operating segments as of “Akbatı Project”,”Beyaz Kule”, “Akkoza Project” and 
“Lands”. “Akbatı Project” has the project activity in Akbatı Shopping Mall and housing Akbatı in Esenyurt. “Akkoza 
Project” activity section consists of Garanti Koza ordinay partnership Project in Esenyurt which is joint management 
partnership of Akiş, 2C phase is considered in the activity segment of Akiş . “Lands” activity section consists of located 
in various parts of the land located in Turkey owned by the Group and acquired properties under urban transformation 
into the Group’s portfolio.

 Akbatı
1 January - 31 December 2014 project Beyaz Kule Lands Undistributed Total

External revenues 65,103,881 12,732,911 13,747,452 - 91,584,244
Cost of sales (-) (32,904,431) (11,147,018) - - (44,051,449)

Gross profit 32,199,450 1,585,893 13,747,452 - 47,532,795

General administrative expenses (-) (972,893) - (548,276) (10,198,472) (11,719,641)
Marketing expenses (-) (1,302,257) - - - (1,302,257)
Other operating income 2,965,068 - - 1,009,433 3,974,501
Other operating expenses (-) (2,963,874) - - (202,181) (3,166,055)

Operating profit/(loss) 29,925,494 1,585,893 13,199,176 (9,391,220) 35,319,343

Income from investment activities 22,657,075 - 38,885,895 5,353,282 66,896,252
Expenses from investment activities (-) - - (1,801,450) - (1,801,450)

Operating profit/(loss)
   before financial income/(expense) 52,582,569 1,585,893 50,283,621 (4,037,938) 100,414,145

Financial income 30,073,971 - 14,471,074 11,758,561 56,303,606
Financial expenses (-) (44,341,183) - (38,804,885) (14,852,389) (97,998,457)

Profit/(loss) before tax 38,315,357 1,585,893 25,949,810 (7,131,766) 58,719,294

Current income tax (85,278)  - - (85,278)

Net profit/(loss) for the year 38,230,079 1,585,893 25,949,810 (7,131,766) 58,634,016

    Müşterek  
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 Akbatı Akkoza  Joint  
1 January - 31 December 2013 project project Lands Venture Undistributed Total

External revenues 55,953,325 2,348,313 12,656,199 - - 70,957,837
Cost of sales (-) (26,700,215) (2,535,415) - - - (29,235,630)

Gross profit 29,253,110 (187,102) 12,656,199 - - 41,722,207

General administrativeexpenses (-) (3,919,349) (1,083,363) (2,187,453) - (10,965,162) (18,155,327)
Marketing expenses (-) (1,369,665) - - - - (1,369,665)
Other operating income 3,405,044 - - 378,306 1,613,823 5,397,173
Other operating expenses (-) (3,926,160) - - (378,306) (238,257) (4,542,723)
Share of loss of investment 
   accounted for using
   the equity method - - - (5,148,533) - (5,148,533)

Operating profit/(loss) 23,442,980 (1,270,465) 10,468,746 (5,148,533) (9,589,596) 17,903,132

Income from Investing Activites 47,883,564 - 25,236,984 15,781,791 - 88,902,339
Expenses from Investing Activities   (183,321) - - (13,960,151) - (14,143,472)

Operating profit/(loss)
   before financial income
   /(expense) 71,143,223 (1,270,465) 35,705,730 (3,326,893) (9,589,596) 92,661,999

Financial income 13,099,294 - - 538,857 8,185,364 21,823,515
Financial expenses (-) (58,318,338) - (8,687,902) (1,116,853) (20,316,085) (88,439,178)

Profit/(loss) before tax 25,924,179 (1,270,465) 27,017,828 (3,904,889) (21,720,317) 26,046,336

Current income tax (77,074) - - - - (77,074)
Deferred income tax - - - - (929,684) (929,684)

Net profit/(loss) for the year 25,847,105 (1,270,465) 27,017,828 (3,904,889) (22,650,001) 25,039,578

 

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013 segment assets and liabilities:

 31 December 2014  31 December 2013 
 Asset Liability Asset Liability

Akbatı Project 655,082,976 197,573,554 674,514,130 284,293,630
Lands 563,001,601 293,174,951 461,606,849 202,375,676
Beyaz Kule 3,845,389 3,674,617 16,300,885 16,552,289
Undistrubuted 130,029,368 28,861,022 102,369,439 25,180,208

Total 1,351,959,334 523,284,144 1,254,791,303 528,401,803

For the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 investment expenditures, depreciation and amortization expenses 
are as follows:

 31 December 2014  31 December 2013 
 Investment Depreciation Investment Depreciation
 expenses expense expense expense

Lands 87,260,781 - 285,403,511 -
Akbatı Project 1,403,843 874,943 388,344 2,166,367
Beyaz Kule 543,858 - - -

Total 89,208,482 874,943 285,791,855 2,166,367

NOTE 5 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Cash on hand 47,342 21,760
Cash at banks   
   - Demand deposit 352,451 252,592
   - Time deposit 46,691,099 38,583,902
Other 51,000 138,684

 47,141,892 38,996,938

Maturities of cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Until 30 days 47,141,892 38,996,938

 47,141,892 38,996,938
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The breakdown of foreign currency denominated cash and cash equivalents in terms of TL is as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

USD 40,890,993 11,118,550
EUR 28,507 1,949,076
GBP - 27

 40,919,500 13,067,653

Average effective interest rates of time deposits are as follows (%):

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013
 % %

USD 2.30 2.90
EUR - 2.90
TL 9.85 8.72

NOTE 6 - FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Regarding SAF Gayrimenkul Geliştirme İnşaat ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“SAF GYO”),% 6,56 percentage of associates and 
associates in Türkiye Sınai Kalkınma Bankası A.Ş. and Türkiye Vakıflar Bankası A.Ş. which is less than 1% and came 
from merger with Ak-Al refers to Group’s long term marketable financial investments. Financial information comes to 
financial investments for the period 31 December 2014 and 2013:

31 December 2014    Fair value
 Share Cost Fair increase
Description ratio% Value Value decrease

Traded on a stock exchange

SAF GYO 6,56 11,907,000 58,142,186 (6,395,639)
Türkiye Sınai Kalkınma Bankası A.Ş. 1< 211,872 294,444 27,694
Türkiye Vakıflar Bankası A.Ş. 1< 691 1,830 398

31 December 2013

SAF GYO 6,56 11,907,000 64,537,825 7,558,484
Türkiye Sınai Kalkınma Bankası A.Ş. 1< 211,872 266,750 (27,298)
Türkiye Vakıflar Bankası A.Ş. 1< 691 1,432 (296)

NOTE 7 - BORROWINGS

 31 December 2014 31 December  2013
Borrowings

Bank borrowings 107,068,196 346,740,684
Financial lease payable 6,625,069 6,140,499

Short-term borrowings 113,693,265 352,881,183

Short-term portion of long-term bank borrowings 60,255,469 41,986,230

Long-term portion of short-term bank borrowings 60,255,469 41,986,230

Bank borrowings 317,024,827 83,972,459
Financial lease payable 9,786,832 14,086,676

Long-term borrowings 326,811,659 98,059,135

Total borrowings 500,760,393 492,926,548
 

a) Bank Barrowings

  31 December 2014   31 December 2013 
 Weighted   Weighted
 average   average  
 effective   effective 
 interest   interest  
 rate p,a, % Original TL rate p,a, % Original TL

Short-term borrowings
USD denominated bank borrowings 3.95% 6,007,584 13,930,987 4.49% 57,036,430 121,732,852
TL bank borrowings 11.60% 15,523,224 15,523,224 10.61% 136,778,910 136,778,910
EUR denominated bank borrowings 4.65% 27,515,860 77,613,985 4.70% 30,045,606 88,228,922

   107,068,196   346,740,684

Short-term portion of long-term borrowings:
USD denominated bank borrowings 3.66% 25,984,505 60,255,469 3.67% 19,672,131 41,986,230

   60,255,469   41,986,230

Long-term borrowings:
USD denominated bank borrowings 5.49% 78,590,775 182,244,150 3.67% 39,344,262 83,972,459
EUR denominated bank borrowings 4.66% 47,782,706 134,780,677 - - -

   317,024,827   83,972,459
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Redemption schedule of bank borrowing as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 follows:

 31 December2014 31 December 2013

Bank Loans:
2015 - 41,986,229
2016 65,380,356 41,986,230
2017 33,332,481 -
2018 30,669,687 -
2019 and after 187,642,303 -

 317,024,827 83,972,459

b) Financial lease payable

The maturities of financial lease payable as of 31 December 2014 are less than 5 years.
 
Gross financial leasing liabilities - minimal rent payments:
 
 31 December 2014 31 December 2013
 
Up to 1 year 7,522,484 7,309,333
1 - 5 year 10,433,894 15,508,202
Unincurred interest (1,544,477) (2,590,360)

Present value of financial lease payables 16,411,901 20,227,175
 

NOTE 8 - TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

 31 December 2014  31 December 2013

Short-term trade receivables

Notes receivables 1,753,213 3,313,463
Trade receivables 9,911,277 7,673,600
Trade receivables from related parties (Note 27) 16,480,816 124,435

 28,145,306 11,111,498

Less: Provisions for doubtful receivables (6,996,650) (6,983,547)
Less: Unearned finance income on credit sales (53,277) (48,962)

 21,095,379 4,078,989 

Movement of the provision for doubtful receivables is as follows:

 2014 2013

Opening Balance, 1 January (6,983,547) (6,822,737)

Current year charge (152,899) (513,788)
Collection of doubtful trade receivables 139,796 352,978

Ending Balance, 31 December (6,996,650) (6,983,547)

Long-term trade receivables

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Notes receivables 1,142,240 1,715,110

Less: Unearned finance income on credit sales (225,872) (401,009)

 916,368 1,314,101

 31 December2014 31 December2013
Short-term trade payables

Payables to suppliers(*) 9,087,688 15,101,941
Notes payable(**) 4,637,800 -
Trade payables to related parties (Not e27) 1,884,743 1,287,380

 15,610,231 16,389,321

(*)  As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, amounting of TL8,875,837 and TL11,768,421, retrospectively, payable to 
suppliers are related with Akbatı Project.
(**)  Notes payable comprises of advance payment of the sellers under urban transformation projects. 

NOTE 9- OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Short-term other receivables

Other receivables from customers 1,348,331 1,489,456
Deposits and guaranties given 280,345 200,493
Other 165,912 397,803
 1,794,588 2,087,752 
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 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Short-term other payables

Taxes and fund payables 352,355 346,623
Social security premium payable 98,296 104,991
Other 190,813 74,766

 641,464 526,380

NOTE 10 - PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFFERED INCOME

 31 December  2014 31 December  2013

Short term prepaid expenses

Prepaid expeses for shopping mall decoration(*) 3,816,650 3,668,112
Advances given to suppliers(**) 455,001 4,693,975
Other 250,338 248,797

 4,521,989 8,610,884

Long term prepaid expenses

Prepaid expeses for shopping mall decoration(*) 1,659,626 4,000,712

 1,659,626 4,000,712

(*)  Decoration expenses that  are incurred for Mall tenants represents the amount to be expensed by deducted from 
rental income.

(**)  Advances given as of 31 December 2013 represent advances given for Group’s ongoing projects and projects that 
are planned to start in long-term under urban transformation projects.

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Short term deferred income

Advances received- Beyaz Kule Project 3,670,724 15,994,244
Advances received- Akbatı Project 939,331 1,078,052
Other advances 147,339 59,295

 4,757,394 17,131,591
 

NOTE 11 - INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

 2014 2013

Opening balance, 1 January 806,482,104 710,016,664
Additions
   - Direct acquisitions 1,051,959 40,817,099
Transfers 91,166,367 -
Change in fair value (Note 23) 49,118,120 71,692,983
Disposal (16,715,000) (16,044,642)

Net book value, 31 December 931,103,550 806,482,104

The movement of the investment properties for the years ending 31 December 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

     Increase/
     decrease
     in fair 
 1 January    value 31 December
 2014 Transfers Addition Disposal (Note 23) 2014

Operative investment
   properties

Akbatı AVM 603,970,966 - 1,051,959 - 22,657,075 627,680,000
Çerkezköy building and lands 81,700,000 - - - 8,800,000 90,500,000
Yalova building and lands 53,440,000 - - (24,250,000) 8,660,000 37,850,000
Üsküdar Kısıklı lands 51,311,138 - - - 1,148,862 52,460,000
Bozüyük building and lands 9,625,000 - - - 435,000 10,060,000
Bulgaria building and lands 6,145,000 - - - (1,801,450) 4,343,550
Other investment properties 290,000 - - - 20,000 310,000

Investment properties
   under construction
Uşaklıgil project (*) - 91,166,367 - - 16,733,633 107,900,000

 806,482,104 91,166,367 1,051,959 (24,250,000) 56,653,120 931,103,550

(*)  The Group has started the Usaklıgil project with land area of 1,437 m2 and rentable area of 3,432 m2 is located 
Istanbul Province, Kadıköy District, Bostancı Neighbourhood, Bağdat Street, 3206 Island and 14 Parcel and that is 
classified previosly under long-term inventories has been transferred to investment properties as of 31 December 
2014. 

     Gerçeğe 
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The group delivered the 61 apartments to the buyers, there are still 12 apartments not delivered to their buyers. 

For the purpose of project development under urban transformation, Bağdat Street Projects, such as Erenköy, Ak apartments 
and Çiftehavuzlar land were included in the portfolio of the Company and were classified as long-term inventories.

The Company has given prior lien mortgages worth of TL 29,500,000 on Çiftehavuzlar land is located in Istanbul Province, 
Kadıköy District, Erenköy Neigbourhood, Çiftehavuzlar Site, 106 Pafta, 1435 Island, 39 Parcel; worth of TL 176,750,000 on 
Erenköy Apertment is located in Istanbul Province, Kadıköy District, Bağdat Street, 106 Pafta, 378 Island, 25 Parcel and worth 
of TL 19,800,000 on Ak Apartment is located in Istanbul Province, Kadıköy District, Bostancı Neigbourhood, 65 Pafta, 315 
Island, 3 Parcel (Note 16).

Borrowing costs amounting to TL 6,310,041 has been capitalized as of 31 December 2014 
(31 December 2013: None).

NOTE 13 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 1 January   31 December
 2014 Addition Disposals 2014

Cost
Land improvements 760,672 - - 760,672
Furniture and fixture 5,599,268 234,718 - 5,833,986
Plant, machinery and equipment 1,456,644 - - 1,456,644
Leasehold improvements 300,416 95,536 - 395,952

 8,117,000 330,254 - 8,447,254
Accumulated Depreciation
Land improvements 727,286 8,369 - 735,655
Furniture and fixture 2,254,623 770,967 - 3,025,590
Plant, machinery and equipment 1,162,638 30,825 - 1,193,463
Leasehold improvements 300,416 10,530 - 310,946

 4,444,963 820,691 - 5,265,654

Net book value 3,672,037  - 3,181,600 

    Increase in  
 1January   fair value 31 December
 2014 Addition Disposal (Note 23) 2014

Operative investment properties

Akbatı AVM 556,149,022 45,747 - 47,776,197 603,970,966
Çerkezköy building and lands 76,195,000 - (335,000) 5,840,000 81,700,000
Yalova building and lands 46,400,000 271,352 - 6,768,648 53,440,000
Üsküdar Kısıklı lands - 40,500,000 - 10,811,138 51,311,138
Bozüyük building and lands 9,370,000 - (222,000) 477,000 9,625,000
Bulgaria building and lands 6,145,000 - - - 6,145,000
Esenyurt lands 15,487,642 - (15,487,642) - -
Other investment properties 270,000 - - 20,000 290,000

 710,016,664 40,817,099 (16,044,642) 71,692,983 806,482,104

As of 31 December 2014, there is insurance coverage on investment properties amounting TL 470,008,645 (31 
December 2013: TL 463,798,079).

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, there is a morgage on Akbatı shopping mall USD 165,000,000 (Note 16). Also there 
is a morgage amounts TL 35,750,0000 on the Uşaklıgil project which is under construction. 

NOTE 12 - INVENTORIES

 31 December 2014  31 December 2013

Uncompleted residences
Bagdat Street Projects 240,726,573 244,632,159
-  Erenköy Apartment 175,240,443 93,824,575
-  Çiftehavuzlar land 41,165,076 39,723,509
-  Ak Apartment 24,321,054 19,088,077
-  Uşaklıgil Apartment (*) - 75,938,571
-  Edip Ürer Apartment (**) - 16,057,427

Completed residences
Beyaz Kule Project 3,317,979 14,145,609
Akkoza Project 2,108,547 2,710,985
Akbatı Project 887,827 10,537,729

 247,040,926 272,026,482

(*)  The Group transfered the Uşaklıgil Apartment from long-term to investment properties according to rent contract 
that has been signed under Urban Street Retailing as of 31 December 2014.

(**)  The Group has bartered the residences numbered 3,4,5,7,8,9,10,11 and 12 in Edip Ürer Apartment off and got in 
exchange the residence number 15 and 5/8 shares of residence number 17 in Erenköy Apartment is located in Istanbul 
15 May 2014. Province, Kadıköy District, Erenköy Neigbourhood and Bağdat Street on 
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1 January   31 December
 2013 Addition Disposals 2013

Cost
Land improvements 760,672 - - 760,672
Furniture and fixture 5,302,332 321,936 (25,000) 5,599,268
Plant, machinery and equipment 29,395,666 - (27,939,022) 1,456,644
Vehicles 341,680 - (341,680) -
Leasehold improvements 300,416 - - 300,416

 36,100,766 321,936 (28,305,702) 8,117,000

Accumulated depreciation
Land improvements 714,886 12,400 - 727,286
Furniture and fixture 1,534,524 729,474 (9,375) 2,254,623
Plant, machinery and equipment 26,738,655 1,319,081 (26,895,098) 1,162,638
Vehicles 341,680 - (341,680) -
Leasehold improvements 257,490 42,926 - 300,416

 29,587,235 2,103,881 (27,246,153) 4,444,963

Net book value 6,513,531  3,672,037

Allocation of depreciation expenses for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

General administrative expenses 563,551 2,044,398
Cost of sales 311,392 50,411
Marketing expenses - 9,072

 874,943 2,103,881

No borrowing cost capitalized on the property, plant and equipment for the years ended 
31 December 2014 and 2013.

As of 31 December 2014, there is insurance coverage on property, plant and equipment amounting TL 729,429 
(31 December 2013: TL 246,875).

NOTE 14 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 1 January   31 December
 2014 Addition Disposals 2014

Cost
Rights 245,150 14,116 - 259,266
Other 1,726,295 7,514 - 1,733,809

 1,971,445 21,630 - 1,993,075

Accumulated amortization
Rights 221,972 17,719 - 239,691
Other 1,668,543 36,533 - 1,705,076

 1,890,515 54,252 - 1,944,767

Net book value 80,930   48,308

 1 January   31 December
 2013 Addition Disposals 2013

Cost
Rights 224,489 20,661 - 245,150
Other 1,788,511 - (62,216) 1,726,295

Accumulated amortization
 2,013,000 20,661 (62,216) 1,971,445
Rights 215,981 5,991 - 221,972
Other 1,659,890 56,495 (47,842) 1,668,543

 1,875,871 62,486 (47,842) 1,890,515

Net book value 137,129   80,930

For the years ended then 31 December 2014 and 2013, all amortization expenses are distributed to general 
administrative expenses,

NOTE 15 - OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Other current assets
VAT receivables 8,859,443 7,448,433
Other 62,155 5,838

 8,921,598 7,454,271

Other non-current assets
VAT receivables 26,042,044 41,071,816

 26,042,044 41,071,816
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NOT 16 - COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Short-term provisions

Provisions for employee benefit 187,242 272,277
Provisions for litigation 91,037 91,037
Other short term provisions 383,832 268,245

 662,111 631,559

Guarantees given

Mortgages (*) 644,418,499 527,159,499
Letters of guarantees 3,635,739 3,497,892

 648,054,238 530,657,391

(*)  Mortgages on the Group’s investment properties and long-term inventories are given for the liabilities of the Group 
to the financial institutions.

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Guarantees received

Collateral bill 25,315,665 22,022,846
Letter of guarantees 17,635,955 18,990,442
Mortgages 4,375,000 4,375,000
Cheques of guarantee 232,309 14,508,107

 47,558,929 59,896,395

In considariton of the current contract periods, the total of the expected minimum operational lease revenue of the 
Group is as follows as of 31 December 2014 and 2013:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Operational lease revenues between 0-1 year 70,977,905 68,565,174
Operational lease revenues between 1-5 years 359,162,329 291,085,706
Operational lease revenues 5 years and above 522,898,471 422,001,062

 953,038,705 781,651,942

The calculation of minimum operational lease revenues that are stated above, TL value in date of balance sheet of 
Akbatı Shopping Mall’s and Uşakgil Project’s rent based on US Dollars, Bozüyük building and lands, Yalova building and 
lands, Cerkezkoy building and lands and lease revenue of other investment properties is taken into consideration.

The 90% of the rent income of Akbatı Shopping Mall is assigned to Akbank during the terms of the loan utilised to 
finance the Shopping Mall.

Group’s uncancellable minimum operational lease payments in the future are as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Operational lease expense between 0-1 year 1,319,269 907,003
Operational lease expense between 1-5 years 5,684,908 3,908,433
Operational lease expense 5 years and above 8,119,760 5,582,393

 15,123,937 10,397,829

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the Group’s collaterals/pledges/mortgages position as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

CPM’s given by the company 
 (Collaterals, Pledges, Mortgages)

A. CPM’ s given for its
       own legal personality 648,054,238 530,657,391
B. CPM’s given on behalf of 
     fully consolidated companies - -
C. CPM’s given for continuation 
      of its economic activities on
      behalf of third parties  - -
D. Total amount of other CPM’s
i) Total amount of CPM’s given on
     behalf of the majority shareholder - -
ii) Total amount of CPM’s given on 
      on behalf of other Group 
      companies which are not in scope of B and C - -
iii) Total amount of CPM’s given
      on behalf of third parties
      which are not in scope of C - -

 648,054,238 530,657,391

The ration od CPM to Group’s equity is 78 % as of 31 December 2014 (31 Aralık 2013: %73).

The original amount of CPM as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 
 Foreign TL Foreign TL
Guarantees given Currency equivalent Currency equivalent

ABD Doları 165,662,500 384,154,770 165,662,500 353,573,473
TL 263,194,293 263,194,293 176,349,793 176,349,793
Avro 250,000 705,175 250,000 734,125

  648,054,238  530,657,391
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 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 
 Foreign TL Foreign TL
Guarantees given Currency equivalent Currency equivalent

TL 18,080,524 18,080,524 32,431,534 32,431,534
ABD Doları 12,653,510 29,342,224 12,833,583 27,390,717
Avro 48,279 136,181 25,249 74,144
Avro 48.279 136.181 25.249 74.144

  47.437.929  59.896.395

NOTE 17 - PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

a) Short-term benefits provided to personnel

 31 December 2014  31December 2013

Provisions for short-term 
   benefits provided to personnel
Unused vacation rights 187,242 272,277

Liabilities with in the short-term
   benefits provided to personnel
Performance premium provision 460,464 430,340
Personnel expenses payable 1,655 561

 462,119 430,901

 649,361 703,178

b) Long-term benefits provided to personnel

Provisions for employee termination benefits

Under Turkish Labor Law, the Company is required to pay employment termination benefits to each entitled 
employee. Also, employees are entitled to be paid their retirement pay provisions who retired by gaining right to 
receive retirement pay provisions according to of the prevailing 506 numbered Social Insurance Law’s Article 60, as 
amended by 6 March 1981 dated, 2422 numbered and 25 August 1999 dated, 4447 numbered laws. Some transition 
provisions related to the pre-retirement service term was excluded from the law since the related law was changed as 
of 23 May 2002.

The amount payable consists of one month’s salary limited to a maximum of TL 3,438.22 for each period of service as 
of 31 December 2014 (31 December 2013: 3,254.44). Maximum severance pay is revised every year, in the calculation 
of provision for employee termination benefits, ceiling price amounting to TL 3,541.37 which is valid since 1 January 
2015 is taken into consideration (31 December 2013: 3,438.22 that is valid since 1 January 2014). The liability is not 
funded, as there is no funding requirement. The provision has been calculated by estimating the present value of 
the future probable obligation of the Group arising from the retirement of employees. TAS 19 “Employee Benefits” 
requires actuarial valuation methods to be developed to estimate the entity’s obligation under defined benefit plans. 
Actuarial assumptions used in the calculation of the total liability are stated below. Since the effect of the change that 
is valid in annual report terms starting in date of 1 July 2012 or after is immaterial, retroactive implemantation was not 
applied by Group. Acturial loss/(gain) is recognized under “remeasurement loss arasing from defined benefit plan” in 
the comprehensive income

Assumptions have been used for the actuarial calculation are as follow:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013
 % %

Discount Rate 3.30 3.81
The rate used for probability of retirement 100.00 100.00

Movements in the provision for employment termination benefits are as follows:

 2014 2013

Opening balance, 1 January 288,429 522,685

Increase during year 113,114 108,110
Interest expense 35,486 14,036
Actuarial loss/(gain) 3,497 (31,131)
Payment during year (66,983) (325,271)

Ending balance, 31 December 373,543 288,429

NOTE 18 - EQUITY, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY

a) Equity

As a consequence of merger of Akiş with Ak-Al in 4 January 2013 (Note 1), it is decided to increase the company’s 
capital from TL 83,000,004 to TL 128,200,841 and to distrubite this increased capital to the shareholders of Ak-Al, who 
are dissolved due to the transferred,in return of their shares with a nominal value of TL 1 as 45,200,837 shares of Akiş.

The registeration made to the Capital Market Board related to the increase of Company’s share capital from 
128,200,841 TL to 200,000,000 TL, paid in cash by TL 50,000,000, and TL 21,799,159 to be financed from internal 
resources free of charge, a total of TL 71,799,159 (rate of 56,0052 %) was approved on the meeting of Turkish Republic 
Capital Market Board dated on 20 June 2014 and  numbered 2014/18. The capital increase by bonus issue amounts 
of TL 21,799,159 was registered on 2 July 2014 by credited to account of the shareholders from Central Security 
Depository.

The priviledge right of issued shares of TL 49,763,228 representing the capital increase paid in cash by TL 50,000,000 
has used on 14 July 2014 and all of the remaining amount of TL 236,772 is sold on 21 July 2014 in accordance with the 
conditions described in registration statement associated with the public offering.
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The shareholders and capital structure of the company are as follow:

 31 December 2014  31 December 2013 
 Unit  Unit 
 % Amount % Amount

Akkök San. Yat.ve Gel. A.Ş. 31.53 63,065,857 31.41 40,264,935
Ali Raif Dinçkök (*) 20.45 40,910,344 19.46 24,948,797
Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi (**) 12.87 25,741,469 13.60 17,440,390
Raif Ali Dinçkök 6.22 12,430,497 6.22 7,968,001
Other, including public shares 28.93 57,851,833 29.31 37,578,718

 100.00 200,000,000 100.00 128,200,841

(*) For the years ended in 31 December 2014 and 2013, A group has 11,653,589 shares amounting to TL11,653,589 (31 
December 2013: 7,470,000 TL and 7,470,000 shares) 

(**) For the years endend in 31 December 2014 and 2013, A group has 7,769,060 shares amounting to TL7,769,060 (31 
December 2013: 4,980,000 TL and 4,980,000 shares)

The share groups represents the issued capital consist of A group: 19,422,649 unit - TL 19,422,649, 
B group: 180,577,351 unit - TL 180,577,351. A group is nominative and B group is bearer share. Transfer of nominative 
shares can not be restrainted. The Group, A have nomination privilege in case of election member of the board of 
directors, 5 members of the board of directors are chosen from A group shareholders with plurality of the vote.

The upper limit of registered capital of the company is TL200,000,000 for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 
2013. As the date of 31 December 2014, issued capital of the company is TL1200,000,000 consisting of 200,000,000 
shares and each one is worth nominally TL 1 (31 December 2013: 128,200,841 TL ve 128,200,841 shares).

The Group has decided increase the registered capital ceiling up from TL 200,000,000 to 
TL 500,000,000 by taken decision of Board of Directors on 20 January 2015 and applied to the Capital Market Board in 
order to take necessary approval.

b) Other comprehensive income /(expense) not to be reclassified to profit or loss

The Company, has recognized actuarial losses amounting of 3,497 TL regarding the calculation of provision for 
employee termination benefit, since 1 January 2013 in accordance with TAS 19 “Employee Benefits”, in other 
comprehensive income or expense.
7.470.000 TL ve 7.470.000 adet pay).

c) Other comprehensive income /(expense) to be reclassified to profit or loss

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Currrency translation reserve 147 (16,071)
Revaluation and reclassification gain 46,365,852 52,733,399

 46,365,999 52,717,328 

Revaluation and reclassification gain

Revaluation and reclassification gain is generated from the valuation of available for sale instruments with their fair 
values, When a financial asset valued at its fair value is disposed, the related portion in the valuation fund is directly 
recognized in that period’s profit and loss, When a financial instrument is revalued and a decrease in value is observed, 
the related portion in the valuation fund is directly recognized in that period’s profit and loss.

The movements of financial asset valuation fund in the term is represented in comprehensiveincpme statement and 
statement of cahenges in equity.

d) Restricted reserves appropriated from profit

Accumulated profits in legal books can be distributed except for the provisions relating to the legal reserve that is 
stated in below.

Legal reserves comprise of first and second legal reserves, appropriated in accordance with the Turkish Commercial 
Code, The first legal reserve is appropriated out of historical statutory profits at the rate of 5% per annum, until the 
total reserve reaches 20% of the historical paid-in share capital, The second legal reserve is appropriated after the first 
legal reserve and dividends, at the rate of 10% per annum of all cash dividend distributions, Group companies are not 
subject to this implementation. 

“Legal reserves” allocated in accordance with the TCC requirements, “Share premium” that is in statue of legal reserve 
and legal reserves allocated for certain purposes apart from profit sharing (gains of sharing sales for tax advantage) 
is demonstrated the amounts in records. Differences arising from inflation adjustment coming out in the assetments 
based on IFRS principials and that is not subject to profit distribution or capital increase are related to accumulated 
profit/loss.

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Legal reserves 20,888,561 20,888,561

d) Other Reserves

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Other reserves 54,696,807 54,696,807

With the changes in CPM’s reporting format, items in shareholders’ equity by name “Other reserves” and “Merger 
reserve” are classified in “Other reserves”.

e) Retained earnings

As of the reporting date, extraordinary reserve of parent company, which is in retained earning amounting to 
330,152,935 TL ( 31 December 2013: 305,113,357 TL), is TL19,018,757  (31 December 2013: 19,018,757 TL), 

Profit distrubition

Regarding the dividend distribution, the entities are to distribute their profits under the scope of CMB Communiqué 
Serial: II-19.1 , their articles of association and their previously publicly declared profit distribution policies.
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Besides that, it is regulated that companies which are obligated to prepare consolidated financial statements under 
CMB policies, if its allowed in their statutory reserves, amount of profit available for distribution, in accordance with 
CMB Communiqué No. II -14.1 announced publicly consolidated financial statements taking into account net profit of 
the period.

It is also permitted to retain this amount in the Company reserves if the first dividend amount is below 5% of the 
paid in/issued capital; however if the Company has increased its paid-in capital without dividend distribution in the 
previous year when the outstanding shares have been identified as “old” and “new”, it is mandatory for companies 
that will make profit distribution from the net distributable profit of the previous year to make this first dividend 
distribution in cash.

In statutory accounts of the company, net profit after deducting prior years losses and other reverses which can be 
subject to profit distribution amounts TL 104,894,602.
 31 Aralık 2014 31 Aralık 201
NOT 19 - SALES AND COST OF SALES

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Revenues
Rent income 68,846,387 61,398,691
Residence sales  22,849,152 9,718,192

 91,695,539 71,116,883

Sales returns (-) (111,295) (159,046)

 91,584,244 70,957,837
Cost of Revenue 

Rent expenses and management fees of shopping mall (22,843,236) (20,046,717)
Cost of residence sales (21,208,213) (9,188,913)

 (44,051,449) (29,235,630)

Gross profit 47,532,795 41,722,207

Residence sales consists of the revenue coming from delivered residences and commercial units within the Akbatı, 
Akkoza and Beyaz m Project as of 31 December 2014 and 2014.

NOTE 20 - GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND MARKETING EXPENSES

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

General administrative expenses

Personnel expenses 4,322,136 4,894,548
Taxes, duties and fees 2,672,130 4,303,476
Consultancy expenses 1,804,659 3,047,661
Office expenses 840,602 1,211,939
Depreciation expenses 671,755 2,106,884
Transportation and travel expenses 458,255 417,439
Exchange quotations expenses - 584,265
Other 950,104 1,589,115

 11,719,641 18,155,327

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Marketing expenses
Advertisement expenses 616,665 485,097
Personnel expenses 494,867 512,879
Consultancy expenses 24,629 194,949
Taxes, duties and fees 1,940 18,090
Depreciation expenses - 9,072
Other 164,156 149,578

 1,302,257 1,369,665

NOTE 21 - EXPENSE BY NATURE

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Rent expenses and management fees of shopping mall 22,843,236 20,046,717
Cost of residence sale 21,208,213 9,188,913
Personnel expense 4,817,003 5,407,427
Taxes, duties and fees 2,674,070 4,321,566
Consultancy expenses 1,829,288 3,242,610
Depreciation expenses 671,755 2,115,956
Office expenses 840,602 1,211,939
Exchange quotations expenses - 584,265
Advertisement expenses 616,665 485,097
Other 1,572,515 2,156,132

 57,073,347 48,760,622

The allocation of personnel expenses as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

General administrative expenses 4,322,136 4,894,548
Marketing expenses 2,935,732 2,715,605
Expensed on cost of sales 494,867 512,879

Total personel expenses 7,752,735 8,123,032

The allocation of depreciation and amortization expenses as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

General administrative expenses 671,755 2,106,884
Expensed on cost of soles 203,188 50,411
Marketing expenses - 9,072

Total depreciation and amortzation expenses 874,943 2,166,367
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NOT 22 - OTHER INCOME / EXPENSES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Other income from operating activities
Foreign exchange gains related to trade receivable and payable 2,669,300 2,386,676
Interest income related to trade receivable and payable 170,822 -
Terminated provisions (Note 8) 139,797 352,978
Other 994,582 2,657,519

 3,974,501 5,397,173

Other expenses from operating activities

Foreign exchange losses related to trade receivable and payable (2,824,717) (3,399,302)
Provision charge (Note 8) (152,900) (513,788)
Unrealized interest expense related to trade receivable and payable - (361,161)
Provision for litigation expenses - (91,037)
Other (188,438) (177,435)

 (3,166,055) (4,542,723)

NOTE 23 - INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

 31 ADecember 2014 31 December 2013

Investment income

Increase in fair value of investment properties (Note 3 ve 11) 58,454,570 71,692,983
Dividend income (Note 6) 5,353,282 -
Gain on sale of investment property (Note 3) 3,088,400 28,000
Profit on sale of joint venture(*) - 15,781,791
Gain on sale of asset - 1,399,565

 66,896,252 88,902,339

Investment expenses
Decrease in fair value of investment properties (Note 3 ve 11) (1,801,450) -
Loss on sale of joint venture(*) - (13,960,151)
Loss on sale of investment property (Note 3) - (163,686)
Loss on sale of tangible fixed assets - (19,635)

 (1,801,450) (14,143,472)

(*) Profit and loss on sale of joint venture are as follow:

 Ordinary partnership  Akfil Holding Total

Joint venture sales amount 18,000,000 94,365,000 112,365,000
Net investment amount of joint ventures  
   on 11 March 2013 (31,960,151) (78,583,209) (110,543,360)

Profit/(loss) on sale of joint venture (13,960,151) 15,781,791 1,821,640

NOTE 24 - FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSE

Financial income 31 December  2014 31 December  2013

Foreign exchange gains 54,292,840 18,610,035
Interest income 2,010,766 3,213,480

 56,303,606 21,823,515

Financial expenses
Foreign exchange losses (67,868,471) (69,261,837)
Interest expenses (30,129,986) (19,177,341)
 
 (97,998,457) (88,439,178) 

NOT 25 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share are determined by dividing net income attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted 
average number of shares, As of 31 December 2014, the Company has 200,000,000
(31 December 2014: 128,200,841) number of shares each valued as TL 1. There is no preferred stock for shareholders 
and other share groups. Companies can increase their capital by distributing shares to their shareholders from 
retained earnings in line with their interest in share capital (“Bonus shore”). In the course of determination of 
earnings/loss per share per share, these are considered as issued shares. Hence weighted average number of shares 
used in determination of earning/loss is calculated considering the issuance of bonus shares retrospective impact.

There is no difference between main and partial earnings in periods.

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Net income from continuing operations 58,634,016 25,039,578
Average number of ordinary 
  shares in the nominal value of TL1 175,000,000 150,000,000

Earnings per share 
   from continuing operations 0,34 0,17

Net income from discontinued operations 58,634,016 25,039,578
Average number of ordinary 
  shares in the nominal value of TL1 175,000,000 150,000,000

The parent partnership ,distributable profit to
partners main and relative earnings per share 0,34 0,17
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NOT 26 -INCOME TAXES (INCLUDED DEFERED TAX ASSESTS AND LIABILITIES)

a) Current tax payable:

The application of Akiş in 2011, for being converted to a real estate company was approved in accordance with the 
decision of Capital Market Board dated 19 April 2012 and numbered 15/345 and the mentioned conversion and the 
changes in the articles of association registered on 18 May 2012 which was then published on the Trade Gazette on 
24 May 2012. Subsequently, the profit of the Company as a real estate investment exempt from corporate income tax 
in accordance with paragraph 4-d of Article 8 of the Corporate Income Tax Law and in accordance with paragraph 6-a 
of Article 94 of the Income Tax Law, the earnings of the real estate investment trusts are subject to withholding taxes. 
According to Corporation Tax Law, Article 15 / (3), 15% withholding tax is applied to those profits which are exempt 
from corporation tax. The Council of Ministers shall be authorized to reduce the tax rate to zero for each income and 
payment which is specified in article 15, to raise up to corporation tax rate and within the same limit, to differentiate 
the gains which are defined in the third paragraph, according to funds or types of partnerships or according to nature 
and composition of assets in their portfolios. According to the Council of Minister’s desicion, No: 2009/14594, the 
witholding tax rate is determined as “0”. 

However, the Turkish tax legislation does not allow for a consolidated tax return of a parent company, its subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and subsidiaries as a whole. Hence, despite the fact that the parent company is exempted from the 
corporation tax as it is converted to a real estate investment, its ubsidiary Akyön is excluded from this exemption, As of 
31 December 2014 and 2013, provisions for taxes as reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
are calculated on a separate-entity basis.

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Tax payables for the current year profit

Calculated coprorate income tax 85,278 77,074
Amount offset from prepaid corporate taxes (68,388) (55,274)

Income tax payables 16,890 21,800

Taxes included in the consolidated income statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 are 
summarised below

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Income tax expense (85,278) (77,074)
Deferred tax expense - (929,684)

Total tax expense (85,278) (1,006,758)

NOTE 27 - BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

a) Balances with related parties at 31 December 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Short-term trade receivables from related parties

A.R.D Holding A.Ş. 31,633 29,537
N.D.Ç Holding A.Ş. 31,371 29,537
Ak-Kim Kimya Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (Ak-kim) 16,417,812 -
Saf Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (“SAF GYO”) - 26,878
Akkök Sanayi Yatırım ve Geliştirme A.Ş. (“Akkök Sanayi”) - 20,871
Aksa Akrilik Sanayii A.Ş. (“Aksa”) - 17,612

 16,480,816 124,435

Short- term other receivables from related parties
Akenerji Elektrik Enerjisi İthalat-İhracat 
   ve Toptan Tic. A.Ş. (“Akenerji”) 843,303 783,357
Dinkal Sigorta Acenteciliği A.Ş. (“Dinkal”) 578,181 284,718
Akgirişim Müteahhitlik Müşavirlik ve
   Çevre Teknolojileri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. (“Akgirişim”) (*) 188,031 105,795
Akhan Bakım Yön. Ser. A.Ş. (“Akhan”) 102,126 59,303
Akkök Sanayi 146,106 29,128
Aktek Bilgi İlet. Tekno. San. A.Ş. (“Aktek”) 26,491 25,079
Diğer 505 -

 1,884,743 1,287,380

(*) Formerly known as Akkon Yapı Taah. İnş. Müş.A.ş. 

b)  As of 31 December 2014 and 2013 services and product purchases from related parties are as follows:

Purchases of goods and services from related parties

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Akenerji 7,993,418 8,364,405
Akgirişim  1,963,428 2,176,940
Akkök Industry 1,215,880 1,194,998
Akhan 872,980 670,838
Aktek 373,669 360,684
Ak-kim 3,167 -
Akmerkez Lokantacılık 1,008 -

 12,423,550 12,767,865 
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c)  As of 31 December 2014 and 2013 services and product sales to related parties are as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Sales of goods and services to related parties
SAF GYO 1,170,390 291,750
Ak-kim 648,835 581,591
Aksa Akrilik 112,678 125,633
A.R.D Holding A.Ş. 97,305 90,159
N.D.Ç Holding A.Ş. 97,305 90,159
Akmerkez Lokantacılık 9,100 38,040
Akkök Sanayi - 78,644
Other 15,805 21,379

 2,151,418 1,317,355

d)  As of 31 December 2014 and 2013 dividend income, interest income and interest expenses with related parties are 
as follows

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Dividend income from related parties

SAF GYO (*) 5,344,662 -

 5,344,662 -

(*)  Dividend income represents the share of the Group from the dividend payment of SAF as per the decision taken at 
the Ordinary General Assembly held on 24 September 2014.

e)  As of 31 December 2014 and 2013  ınvestment properties with related parties are as follows:

 31 December 2014  31 December 2013

Sales of Investment Properties (Note 3)

Ak-kim 27,338,400 335,000
Akkök Industry - 250,000

 27,338,400 585,000

f) As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, remuneration of top management is as follow:

 31 December 2014  31 December 2013

Salaries and premiums 2,681,656 2,853,861

The remuneration of top management consists of short-term salaries, premiums and other short-term benefits and 
free from long-term benefits.

NOTE 28 -  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates and interest rates. The Group’s management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the inability of the Group to match the net funding requirements with sufficient liquidity. The Group 
management tries to avoid liquidity risk from daily operations by trying to keep sufficient levels of cash and to 
have open credit lines with creditors. Management also tries to align the repayment of borrowings utilised for the 
construction and acquisition of investment properties with the rental income from such properties to the extent that is 
possible. For the construction of residential units the Group obtains cash advances from customers by being engaged 
through pre-sales agreements to minimize the funding requirement in such projects. The explanations about Group’s 
current ratio balance are stated detaily in Note 3.

The analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities with respect to their maturities as of 31 December 2014 is as follows:

 Total Contractual    5 year
 Book  cash Up to 3 3 months 1 year to and 
 Value   outflows months to 1 year 5 year  over

Financial liabilities  
   (Non-derivative):
Bank borrowings 484,348,492 581,247,280 83,144,647 86,141,870 141,070,269 270,890,494
Financial lease payables 16,411,901 18,159,286 1,720,013 5,160,039 11,279,234 -
Trade payables 15,610,231 15,610,231 15,610,231 - - -
Other payables 641,463 641,463 641,463 - - -

 517,012,087 615,658,260 101,116,354 91,301,909 152,349,503 270,890,494

The analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities with respect to their maturities as of 31 December 2013 is as follows:

 Total Contractual    5 year
 Book  cash Up to 3 3 months 1 year to and 
 Value   outflows months to 1 year 5 year  over

Financial liabilities 
   (Non-derivative
Bank borrowings 472,699,373 497,297,801 85,485,492 324,584,036 87,228,273 -
Financial lease payables 20,227,175 23,046,038 1,583,088 4,749,265 16,713,685 -
Trade payables 16,389,321 16,389,321 16,389,321 - - -
Other payable 526,380 526,380 526,380 - - -

 509,842,249 537,259,540 103,984,281 329,333,301 103,941,958 -
 31 Aralık 2014 31 Aralık 2013
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Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing assets and liabilities. 
These exposures are managed by offsetting interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities.

In this context, matching of not only maturities of receivables and payables but also contractual re-pricing dates is 
crucial. In order to keep the exposure of financial liabilities to interest rate changes at a minimum, “fixed interest/
floating interest”, “short-term/long-term”, “TL/foreign currency” balance is structured consistent within and with 
assets in the balance sheet.

Financial instruments which have been classified as other financial liabilities in the Group’s balance sheet have been 
exposed to the interest risk as a result of change in prices. At 31 December 2014, if interest rates at contractual 
re-pricing dates of TL denominated financial assets and liabilities with variable interest rates have strengthened/
weakened by 1% with all other variables held constant, income would have been TL 2,455 lower/higher as a result of 
interest expenses (31 December 2013: TL 5,995).

Average effective annual interest rates of balance sheet items as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

31 December 2014 (%) TL EUR USD

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9,85 - 2,30
Trade receivables 9,17 - -

Current liabilities
Bank borrowings 11,60 4,65 3,95
Financial lease payables - - 7,63

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings - 4,66 5,49
Financial lease payables - - 7,63

31 December 2013 (%) TL Euro USD

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8,72 2,90 2,90
Trade receivables 11,00 - -

Current liabilities
Bank borrowings 10,61 4,70 4,49
Financial lease payable - - 7,56

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings - - 3,67
Financial lease payable - - 7,56

The Company’s financial instruments that are sensitive to interest rates are as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Financial instruments with fixed interest rate
Time deposits 46,691,099 38,583,902
Bank borrowings 393,113,082 346,718,692
Financial lease payable 16,411,901 20,227,175

Financial instruments with floating interest rate
Bank borrowings 91,235,410 125,980,681

Group’s financial assets and liabilities in carrying amounts classified in terms of periods remaining to contractual re-
pricing dates as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

   31 December 2014 
 Up to 3 - 12 More than Non-interest 
 3 months months 1 year bearing Total

Cash and cash equivalents 46,691,099 - - 450,793 47,141,892
Trade receivables 432,504 660,414 916,368 20,002,461 22,011,747
Other receivables - - - 1,794,588 1,794,588

Total assets 47,123,603 660,414 916,368 22,247,842 70,948,227

Bank borrowings 84,150,517 83,173,148 317,024,827 - 484,348,492
Financial lease payables 1,703,820 4,921,249 9,786,832 - 16,411,901
Trade payables - - - 15,610,231 15,610,231
Other liabilities - - - 641,463 641,463

Total liabilities 85,854,337 88,094,397 326,811,659 16,251,694 517,012,087

Net re-pricing position (38,730,734) (87,433,983) (325,895,291) 5,996,148 (446,063,860)

   31 December 2013 
 Up to 3 - 12 More than Non-interest 
 3 months months 1 year bearing Total

Cash and cash equivalents 38,583,902 - - 413,036 38,996,938
Trade receivables 1,238,166 1,631,717 1,314,101 1,209,106 5,393,090
Other receivables - - - 2,087,752 2,087,752

Total assets 39,822,068 1,631,717 1,314,101 3,709,894 46,477,780

Bank borrowings 83,759,414 304,967,500 83,972,459 - 472,699,373
Financial lease payables 1,607,102 4,533,397 14,086,676 - 20,227,175
Trade payables - - - 16,389,321 16,389,321
Other liabilities - - - 526,380 526,380

Total liabilities 85,366,516 309,500,897 98,059,135 16,915,701 509,842,249

Net re-pricing position (45,544,448) (307,869,180) (96,745,034) (13,205,807) (463,364,469) 
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Credit Risk Explanations

The Group is subject to credit risk arising from trade receivables related to credit sales and deposits at banks,

The Group keeps majority of its deposits with top 10 retail banks established in Turkey, with which the Group had 
standing relations,

The majority of trade receivable comprise of notes receivable obtained regarding signed contracts for residence 
projects, Group has the commitment of delivering the residences in return of these trade receivables, On the other 
hand, in case of a problem, in collection, the Group would not deliver the residences; hence the risk of collectability is 
minimal.

Credit risk of financial instruments as of 31 December 2014 is as follows:

 Trade and other receivables  Deposit
31 Aralık 2014 Related party Third party in banks

Maximum exposed credit risk
   as of reporting date (A+B+C+D) 16,480,816 7,325,519 47,043,550
Secured portion of the maximum
    credit risk by guarantees, etc,   
A. Net book value of financial assets
    that are either not due or not impaired 16,480,816 6,718,501 47,043,550
   - Secured portion by guarantees, etc   
B. Net book value of the expired 
     but not impaired financial assets - 607,018 -
   - Secured portion by guarantees - - -
C. Net book value of impaired assets 
   - Overdue (Gross book value - 6,996,650 -
       - Impairment (-) - (6,996,650) -
       - Secured portion of the net value
         by guarantees, etc, - - -
   - Not overdue (Gross book value) - - -
       - Impairment (-) - - -
       - Secured portion of the net value  - - -
D. Financial assets with renegotiated conditions - - -

Credit risk of financial instruments as of 31 December 2013 is as follows:

 Trade and other receivables  Deposit
31 Aralık 2014 Related party Third party in banks

Maximum exposed credit risk
   as of reporting date  (A+B+C+D) 124,435 7,356,407 38,836,494
Secured portion of the maximum
   credit risk by guarantees, etc - - -
A. Net book value of financial assets
     that are either not due or not impaired 124,435 6,961,790 38,836,494
   - Secured portion by guarantees, etc - - -
B. Net book value of the expired 
   - but not impaired financial assets - 394,617 -
   - Secured portion by guarantees - - -
C. Net book value of impaired assets
   - Overdue (Gross book value) - 6,983,547 -
       - Impairment (-) - (6,983,547) -
       - Secured portion of the net value
          by guarantees, etc, - - -
     - Not overdue (Gross book value) - - -
       - Impairment (-) - - -
       - Secured portion of the net value
          by guarantees, etc, - - -
D. Financial assets with renegotiated conditions - - -

While determining the above-mentioned amounts, the factors that increase the credibility such as guarantees 
received are not considered. In the financial assets of the Group which are subject to credit risk, no impairment risk 
has been identified. Furthermore, the Group does not have any off balance sheet items which are subject to credit risk 
include past due but not impaired assets.

The aging table of the receivables that are past due but not impaired

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Past due 0-30 days 296,528 73,466
Past due 1-3 month 88,153 152,924
Past due 3-12 month 139,020 159,727
Past due 1-5 years 83,317 8,500

 607,018 394,617

There are advance payments as a commitment for these trade receivable, so the Group does not evaluate past due 
as an impairment. The possibility of collectability of receivable disappears when contracts mutually cancelled. In this 
instance, Group eliminates mutually, advances and trade receivables.
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The table below summaries foreign currency position risk of the Group as of 31 December 2014. The original currency 
amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and the total TL equivalent at 31 December 2014 
are as follows:

    TL
 EURO  USD  GBP Equivalent 

Current assets 10,196 25,051,423 - 58,120,505
Cash and cash equivalent 10,106 17,633,789 - 40,919,500
Trade payables 90 7,415,529 - 17,196,124
Prepaid expenses - 2,105 - 4,881

Total assets 10,196 25,051,423 - 58,120,505

Current liabilities 30,031,104 37,326,389 - 171,264,898
Trade receivables 2,515,244 2,477,312 - 12,839,388
Borrowings 27,515,860 34,849,077 - 158,425,510

Non-current liabilities 47,782,706 82,811,238 - 326,811,659
Borrowings 47,782,706 82,811,238 - 326,811,659

Total liabilities 77,813,810 120,137,627 - 498,076,557

Net (liability)/asset position (77,803,614) (95,086,204) - (439,956,052)

The table below summaries foreign currency position risk of the Group as of 31 December 2013. The original currency 
amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and the total TL equivalent at 31 December 2013 
are as follows:

    TL
 EURO  USD  GBP Equivalent

Current assets 663,741 7,418,874 8 17,783,205
Cash and cash equivalent 663,741 5,209,460 8 13,067,653
Trade receivables - 209,414  446,952
Prepaid Expense - 2,000,000 - 4,268,600

Total assets 663,741 7,418,874 8 17,783,205

Current liabilities 33,526,831 79,859,793 - 268,896,295
Trade payables 3,481,225 274,177 - 10,807,793
Borrowings 30,045,606 79,585,616 - 258,088,502

Non-current liabilities - 45,944,401 - 98,059,135
Borrowings - 45,944,401 - 98,059,135

Total liabilities 33,526,831 125,804,194 - 366,955,430

Net (liability) / asset position (32,863,090) (118,385,320) 8 (349,172,225) 

Foreign exchange risk 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk through operations done using multiple currencies. The main 
principle in the management of this foreign currency risk is maintaining foreign exchange position in a way to be 
affected least by the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, in other words, maintaining foreign exchange position 
close to zero.

For this reason, the proportion of the positions of these currencies among each other or against new Turkish lira to 
shareholders’ equity is aimed to be controlled under certain limits.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk mainly for EUR and USD.

Foreign currency position

Foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet accounts give rise to foreign exchange exposure.

The Company’s assets and liabilities in foreign exchange are not balanced through any off balance sheet instruments 
as of 31 December 2014 and 2013. The Group determines sales of residence price in USD, AVM Akbatı lease contracts 
have been carried out in USD (Note 16), originally USD 39,344,262, TL 91,235,430 as of 31 December 2014 (31 
December 2013: USD 59,026,698, 
TL 125,980,681). The Group determines sales of residence price in USD, Akbatı Shoping Mall rental contracts have 
been carried out in USD other liability pay back USD and so that, gradually balanced by net foreign currency position. 
Furthermore, it is expected to obtain rental income denominated in foreign currency and sell of residences in foreign 
currency with applying credits in foreign exchange for financing of purchasing under Bagdat Street Projects.

Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities held by the Group are as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Assets 58,120,505 17,783,205
Liabilities (498,076,557) (366,955,430)

Net on-balance sheet position (439,956,052) (349,172,225)
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Capital risk management

The Group attempts to manage its capital by minimising the investment risk by portfolio diversification. The Group’s 
objective is to safeguard the Group’s sustainability as a going concern to provide returns for shareholders and benefits 
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital and to keep a gearing 
ratio that is in-line with industry averages. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust 
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Gearing ratios as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Total liabilities 522,910,601 528,113,374
Cash and cash equivalents (47,141,892) (38,996,938)

Net debt 475,768,709 489,116,436
Total shareholders’ equity 828,675,190 726,389,500

Invested capital 1,304,443,899 1,215,505,936

Gearing ratio 36% 40%

NOTE 29 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING 

Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing 
parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if one exists.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market have been determined by the Group 
using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, judgement is necessarily 
required to interpret market data to estimate the fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein may differ 
from the amounts the Group could realise in a current market exchange.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the financial instruments for which it 
is practicable to estimate fair value.

Financial assets

The fair values of cash and due from banks are considered to approximate their respective carrying values due to their 
short-term nature.

Expertise values are used on the determination of the fair values of investment property (Note 11).

The carrying values of trade and other receivables, along with the related allowances for uncollectability are assumed 
to approximate their fair values.

The fair values of balances denominated in foreign currencies, which are translated at period-end official exchange 
rates announced by the Central Bank of Turkey, are considered to approximate their carrying value.

The table below shows the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase/decrease in USD and EUR exchange rates. These 
amounts represent the effect on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of 10% increase/decrease 
in USD and EUR against TL. During this analysis all other variables especially interest rate are assumed to remain 
constant.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

  Profit/Loss  Equity 
 Appreciation  Depreciation  Appreciation  Depreciation 

31 December 2014    
+/- 10% fluctuation in US Dollar rate    (22,049,540) 22,049,540 - -
   USD net asset/liability - - - -
   Secured portion from US Dollar risk - - - -
USD Net Effect (22,049,540) 22,049,540 - -

+/- 10% fluctuation in EUR rate (21,946,065) 21,946,065 - -
      USD net asset/liability - - - -
      Secured portion from US Dollar risk - - - -
USD Net Effect (21,946,065) 21,946,065 - -

  Profit/Loss Equity 
31 December 2013 Appreciation  Depreciation  Appreciation  Depreciation

+/- 10% fluctuation in US Dollar rate    (25,266,979) 25,266,979 - -
USD net asset/liability - - - -
   Secured portion from US Dollar risk - - - -
USD Net Effect (25,266,979) 25,266,979 - -

+/- 10% fluctuation in EUR rate (9,650,246) 9,650,246 - -
   EUR net asset/liability - - - -
   Secured portion from EUR risk - - - -
EUR Net Effect (9,650,246) 9,650,246 - -

+/- 10% fluctuation in GBP rate 3 (3) - -
   EUR net asset/liability -  - -
      Secured portion from EUR risk -  - -
EUR Net Effect 3 (3) - -

The exchange published by Central Bank of Turkey, rates and applied by the Group as at the year ends are followed;:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

USD 2.3189 2.1343
EUR 2.8207 2.9365
GBP 3.5961 3.5114
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NOTE 30 - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Uşaklıgil Project Lease Agreement

The Company, has signed a 15-years rental agreement with Beymen Mağazacılık A.Ş. for Uşaklıgil Project which is 
located in Bağdat Street as a result of its developing design and rental activities under Urban Street Retailing on 7 
January 2015.

The Registered Capital Ceiling Increase and Amendment of Articles of Incorporation

The Company has registered capital ceiling of TL 200,000,000 from TL 500,000,000 to be raised and for this purpose 
the Company’ s Articles of Incorperation of the “Capital and Shares” entitled Article 8 of the modification, the Capital 
Markets Board for permission to increase the registered capital ceiling accordance with the Board of Directors 
decisions on 22 Jaunuary 2015.

Furthermore, the Company has registered to the Capital Market Board, to be allowed to amend the Articles of 
Incorparation; Article 5 “Company Objectives and Principal Business Activity”, Article 9 “Priviledge Stocks”, Article 
10 “Portfolio Management and Portfolio Limitation’, Article 16 “Decision of impression”, Article 18 “The Company’s 
Management and Representation”, Article 21 “ Prohibitions for the management”, Article 23 “Auditors”, Article 25 
“Annual Meetings”, Article 28 “Nomination of Representative”.

NOT 31 -  ADDITIONAL NOTE: CONTROL OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE PORTFOLIO LIMITATIONS

Presented information, in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: II, No: 14.1 “Financial 
Reporting in Capital Markets” Amendment No: 16 comprised condensed information and prepared in accordance 
with Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 48.1“Real Estate Investment Company” published in the 
Official Gazette dated 28 May 2013 numbered 28660 and Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 
48.1a“Amendment on Real Estate Investment Company” published in the Official Gazette dated 23 January 2014 
numbered 28891. The related information may not be consistent with the information given in consolidated financial 
statements.

As of 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, the informations about portfolio restrictions are as follows:

The unconsolidated (individual)  31 December 31 December
   financial statements of main account Related Regulations 2014 2013

A Monetary and capital market
    instruments Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(b) 46,926,607 38,870,829
B Real estates,projects based on real estates 
    rights based on real estates Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(a) 1,173,800,926 1,072,363,586
C Subsidiaries Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(b) 63,270,693 71,514,490
Due from related parties
   (non-trade) Serial III-48.1 Art.23/(f) - -
   Other assets  67,151,567 71,346,455
D Total assets Serial III-48.1 Art.3/(k) 1,351,149,793 1,254,095,360
E Borrowings Serial III-48.1 Art.31 484,348,492 472,699,373
F Other financial liabilities Serial III-48.1 Art.31 - -
G Finance lease liabilities Serial III-48.1 Art.31 16,411,901 20,227,175
H To related parties
    liabilities ( non-commercial) Serial III-48.1 Art.23/(f) - -
I Equity Serial III-48.1 Art.31 828,675,190 726,389,500
  Other liabilities  21,714,210 34,779,312
D Total liabilities Serial III-48.1 Art.3/(k) 1,351,149,793 1,254,095,360

In the case of the market price can not be determined, the fair value of available-for sale financial assets are 
determinded based on the market prices quoted for the same qualified stocks in point of  interest rate, maturity and 
similar other conditions.

Financial liabilities

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, carrying values and fair values of TL and foreign currency denominated borrowings 
fixed and floating rates are as follows:

  Carrying values Fair values 
  31 December 2014  31 December 2013 31 December 2014 31December 2013

Borrowings 500,760,393 492,926,548 553,550,077 500,398,405

Estimation of Fair Value

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the Group’s assets and liabilities measured with fair value are as follows:

  31 December 2014 
Financial assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investment properties - 195,523,550 735,580,000 931,103,550
Financial investments 58,491,466 - - 58,491,466

Total assets 58,491,466 195,523,550 735,580,000 989,595,016

  31 December 2013 
Financial assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investment properties - 603,970,966 202,511,138 806,482,104
Financial investments 64,859,013 - - 64,859,013

Total assets 64,859,013 603,970,966 202,511,138 871,341,117 

Group’s classifications of financial assets and liabilities related to fair value are as follows:

•  First level: The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined with reference to actively traded 
market prices. The details related to usedmethod of the fair value is disclosed in Note 6.

•  Second level: The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are evaluated with reference to inputs that 
used to determine directly or indirectly observable price in market. The details related to used method of the fair 
value is disclosed in Note 3 and 11 by the Group.

•  Third level: The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are evaluated with reference to inputs that used 
to determine fair value but not relying on observable data in the market. The details related to used method of the fair 
value is disclosed in Note 3 and 11 by the Group.
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The unconsolidated (individual)  31 December 31 December 
   other financial information Related Regulations 2014 2013

A1 The portion of money and capital market
      instruments held for payables of properties 
      for the following 3 years Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(b) - -
A2 Time deposit/demand 
       deposit/TL/Foreign currency Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(b) 46,853,908 38,714,742
A3 Foreign capital market instruments Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(d) - -
B1 Foreign properties, projects based on 
      properties  and rights based on properties Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(d) - -
B2 Idle lands Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(c) 52,460,000 51,311,138
C1 Investments in affiliated Serial III-48.1 Art.24/(d) 4,359,753 6,214,161
C2 operating  companies Serial III-48.1 Art.28 419,474 441,316
J Non-cash borrowings Serial III-48.1 Art.31 3,635,739 3,497,892
K Mortgage amount on non-owned land  
      to be developed Total of investments 
      monetary capital  market company Serial III-48.1 Art.22/(e) - -

   Minimum/
  31 December 31 December  maximum
 Related 2014 2014 rate 
Portfolio limitations  regulation  % % %

1 Mortgage amount on non-owned land 
    to be developed (K/D)      Serial:III, No:48.1 Art.22/(e) - - <10
2 Properties, projects based on properties and 
    rights based on properties (B+A1)/D) Serial:III, No:48.1 Art.24/(a),(b) 87 86 >50
3 Money and capital market instruments and
    Affilates (A+C-A1)/D) Serial:III, No:48.1 Art.24/(b) 8 9 <50
4 Foreign properties, projects based on properties
   rights based on properties, affiliates, 
   capital market instruments (A3+B1+C1/D) Serial:III, No:48.1, Md.24/(d) 1< 1< <49
5 Idle lands(B2/D) Serial:III, No:48.1, Md.22/(c) 4 4 <20
6 Investment in affiliated operating
    companies (C2/D) Serial:III, No:48.1 Art.28 1< 1< <10
7 Borrowing limit (E+F+G+H+J)/İ  Serial:III, No:48.1 Art.31 61 68 <500
8 TL and foreign currency time and demand
    deposits  (A2-A1)/D Serial:III, No:48.1, Art..22/(e) 3 3 <10

The details of subsidiaries as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

SAF GYO 58,142,186 64,537,825
Aksu Real Estate 4,359,753 6,214,161
Ak Yön 419,474 441,316
Vakıflar Bankası ve TSKB 349,280 321,188

 63,270,693 71,514,490

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, valuation reports prepared for the enterprise values are not available for Aksu 
Real Estate and Ak Yön which are Group’s subsidiaries. While determining the value of subsidaries in table of portfolio 
restrictions, net assets values in stand alone financial statements prepered based on Group’s financial reporting standarts 
is taken into account by multiplying by the Group’s ownership rate in subsidaries for Aksu Real Estate ve Ak Yön. It is 
assumed that, such values approximate to the fair value of subsidaries. SAF GYO, Türkiye Vakıflar Bankası A.Ş. and Türkiye 
Sınai Kalkınma Bankası A.Ş.’s fair values are computed based on their available stock prices in the stock exchange as of 31 
December 2014 and 2013.
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